INTERSECTION SHEAVES OVER NORMAL SCHEMES

NOBORU NAKAYAMA

ABSTRACT. Intersection sheaves are usually defined for a proper flat surjective morphism of Noetherian schemes of relative dimension d and for d + 1 invertible sheaves on the ambient scheme. In this article, the construction is generalized to the equidimensional proper surjective morphisms over normal separated Noetherian schemes. Applications to the studies on family of effective algebraic cycles and on polarized endomorphisms are also given.

Contents

Introduction	1
Acknowledgement	4
1. Grothendieck K-groups	5
2. Intersection sheaves for flat morphisms	13
3. Intersection sheaves over normal base schemes	26
4. Intersection sheaves for varieties over a field	39
4.1. Numerical properties of intersection sheaves	39
4.2. Morphisms into Chow varieties	42
4.3. Endomorphisms of complex normal projective varieties	46
References	49

INTRODUCTION

Let $\pi: X \to Y$ be a flat proper surjective morphism of Noetherian schemes of relative dimension d. For invertible sheaves $\mathcal{L}_1, \ldots, \mathcal{L}_{d+1}$ of X, we can associate an invertible sheaf $\mathcal{I}_{X/Y}(\mathcal{L}_1, \ldots, \mathcal{L}_{d+1})$ of Y which satisfies suitable conditions similar to those satisfied by the fiber integral of Chern classes:

$$\int_{\pi} c_1(\mathcal{L}_1) \wedge \cdots \wedge c_1(\mathcal{L}_{d+1}).$$

Especially, if $\pi \colon X \to Y$ is a morphism of algebraic k-schemes smooth over a field k, then

$$c_1(\mathcal{I}_{X/Y}(\mathcal{L}_1,\ldots,\mathcal{L}_{d+1})) = \pi_* \left(c_1(\mathcal{L}_1) \cdots c_1(\mathcal{L}_{d+1}) \right)$$

²⁰⁰⁰ Mathematics Subject Classification. Primary 14C17, 14C20; Secondary 14C25, 14C35.

Key words and phrases. intersection sheaf, K-group, Chow variety, endomorphism.

in the Chow group $\operatorname{CH}^1(Y)$, where π_* is the push-forward homomorphism $\operatorname{CH}^{d+1}(X) \to \operatorname{CH}^1(Y)$. In particular, $\mathcal{I}_{X/Y}(\mathcal{L})$ is the norm sheaf of \mathcal{L} in case d = 0, and

$${\mathcal I}_{X/Y}({\mathcal L}_1,\ldots,{\mathcal L}_{d+1})\simeq {\mathcal I}_{H/Y}({\mathcal L}_2|_H,\ldots,{\mathcal L}_{d+1}|_H)$$

if $\mathcal{L}_1 \simeq \mathcal{O}_X(H)$ for an effective relative Cartier divisor H of X with respect to π . The sheaf $\mathcal{I}_{X/Y}(\mathcal{L}_1, \ldots, \mathcal{L}_{d+1})$ is called the *intersection sheaf*, the *intersection bundle*, or the *Deligne pairing* (when d = 1). For the Picard groups Pic(X) and Pic(Y), we have a homomorphism $\operatorname{Sym}^{d+1}\operatorname{Pic}(X) \to \operatorname{Pic}(Y)$ by $\mathcal{I}_{X/Y}$. In [4], Problème 2.1.2, Deligne posed a problem of constructing $\mathcal{I}_{X/Y}$ as a functor $\operatorname{PIC}(X)_{is}^{d+1} \to \operatorname{PIC}(Y)_{is}$ satisfying natural properties on multi-additivity and base change. Here $\operatorname{PIC}(X)_{is}$ denotes the Picard category whose 'objects' are invertible sheaves on X and whose 'morphisms' are isomorphisms of invertible sheaves. The intersection sheaf $\mathcal{I}_{X/Y}$ can be defined a priori as a symmetric difference of det $\mathbf{R} \pi_*(\mathcal{L})$ for invertible sheaves \mathcal{L} (cf. Remark 2.5 below; [5], page 34), but there is a problem of sign related to det. The problem was solved for projective morphisms in [6], [8], [18], and [5] by several methods.

The flatness assumption is important for the functorial properties. In this article, we do not consider the functoriality but the construction of intersection sheaves for non-flat morphisms. More precisely, we shall construct intersection sheaves for proper surjective equi-dimensional morphisms $f: X \to Y$ over normal separated Noetherian schemes Y. The following is obtained in Section 3 (cf. Theorems 3.11 and 3.20; Propositions 2.7, 2.15, and 3.17):

Theorem. Let Y be a normal separated Noetherian integral scheme and $\pi: X \to Y$ a projective equi-dimensional surjective morphism of relative dimension d. Let U be a Zariski-open subset of Y such that $\operatorname{codim}(Y \setminus U) \ge 2$ and $\pi^{-1}(U) \to U$ is flat. Then the intersection sheaf

 $\mathcal{I}_{\pi^{-1}(U)/U}(\mathcal{L}_1|_{\pi^{-1}(U)},\ldots,\mathcal{L}_{d+1}|_{\pi^{-1}(U)})$

defined for invertible sheaves $\mathcal{L}_1, \ldots, \mathcal{L}_{d+1} \in \operatorname{Pic}(X)$, naturally extends to an invertible sheaf $\mathcal{I}_{X/Y}(\mathcal{L}_1, \ldots, \mathcal{L}_{d+1})$ of Y. In particular, $\mathcal{I}_{X/Y}$ induces a natural homomorphism $\operatorname{Sym}^{d+1}\operatorname{Pic}(X) \to \operatorname{Pic}(Y)$. Moreover, it satisfies the following properties:

(1) Suppose that, for any *i*, there exists a surjection $\pi^* \mathcal{G}_i \to \mathcal{L}_i$ for a locally free sheaf \mathcal{G}_i on *Y* of finite rank. Then there is a surjection

$$\Phi\colon \operatorname{Sym}^{e_1}(\mathcal{G}_1)\otimes\cdots\otimes\operatorname{Sym}^{e_{d+1}}(\mathcal{G}_{d+1})\to\mathcal{I}_{X/Y}(\mathcal{L}_1,\ldots,\mathcal{L}_{d+1}),$$

where e_i is the intersection number

 $i(\mathcal{L}_1|_F,\ldots,\mathcal{L}_{i-1}|_F,\mathcal{L}_{i+1}|_F,\ldots,\mathcal{L}_{d+1}|_F)$

for the generic fiber F of π .

(2) Let g: Y' → Y be a dominant morphism of finite type from another normal separated Noetherian scheme Y', f': X' = X ×_Y Y' → Y' the pullback of f, and g': X' → X the pullback of g. Then

$$\mathcal{I}_{X'/Y'}(g'^*\mathcal{L}_1,\ldots,g'^*\mathcal{L}_{d+1})\simeq g^*\mathcal{I}_{X/Y}(\mathcal{L}_1,\ldots,\mathcal{L}_{d+1})$$

By the strong assumption on Y, the sheaf $\mathcal{I}_{X/Y}$ is first defined as a reflexive sheaf of rank one, but after certain discussion, it will be shown to be invertible. By the invertibility, we can prove that, for the equi-dimensional morphism $\pi: X \to Y$, if X is normal and Q-factorial (i.e., every Weil divisor is Q-Cartier), then so is Y (cf. Theorem 3.15).

The surjection Φ above can be regarded as the homomorphism giving the resultant: For sections $v_i \in \mathrm{H}^0(Y, \mathcal{G}_i)$ and its images $s_i \in \mathrm{H}^0(X, \mathcal{L}_i)$, $\Phi(v_1^{e_1} \otimes \cdots \otimes v^{e_{d+1}})$ is the resultant of sections s_1, \ldots, s_{d+1} , up to unit. In particular, $\Phi(v_1^{e_1} \otimes \cdots \otimes v^{e_{d+1}})$ does not vanish at a point $y \in Y$ if and only if $\operatorname{div}(s_1) \cap \cdots \cap \operatorname{div}(s_{d+1}) \cap \pi^{-1}(y) = \emptyset$.

The intersection number $i(\mathcal{L}_1, \mathcal{L}_2, \ldots, \mathcal{L}_d; \mathcal{F})$ for invertible sheaves \mathcal{L}_i and coherent sheaf \mathcal{F} is defined on projective varieties defined over a field, where $d = \dim \operatorname{Supp} \mathcal{F}$. As an analogy of it, we can define the intersection sheaf $\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\mathcal{L}_1, \ldots, \mathcal{L}_{d+1})$ by replacing Xwith a coherent sheaf \mathcal{F} with $\dim(\operatorname{Supp} \mathcal{F})/Y = d$. Moreover, we can define $\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}/Y}$ as a homomorphism $\operatorname{Gr}_F^{d+1} K^{\bullet}(X) \to \operatorname{Pic}(Y)$ for the λ -filtration $\{F^i K^{\bullet}(X)\}$ of the Grothendieck K-group $K^{\bullet}(X) = K_0(X)$. In particular, for a locally free sheaf \mathcal{E} on X of rank r and for a Chern polynomial $P = P(x_1, \ldots, x_r)$ of weighted degree d + 1, we have the intersection sheaf $\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(P(\mathcal{E})) = \mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(P(c_1(\mathcal{E}), \ldots, c_r(\mathcal{E})))$. A similar result to Theorem above also holds for the intersection sheaves $\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\eta)$ for $\eta \in \operatorname{Gr}_F^{d+1} K^{\bullet}(X)$. Especially, we can prove that if \mathcal{E} is a locally free sheaf of finite rank generated by global sections and if P is numerically positive for ample vector bundles (cf. Definition 2.19) in the sense of [9], then $\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(P(\mathcal{E}))$ is also generated by global sections (cf. Proposition 2.21, Corollary 3.18).

Suppose that $f: X \to Y$ is an equi-dimensional surjective morphism of normal projective varieties over a field. If the invertible sheaves $\mathcal{L}_i \in \operatorname{Pic}(X)$ are generated by global sections, then so is the intersection sheaf $\mathcal{I}_{X/Y}(\mathcal{L}_1, \ldots, \mathcal{L}_{d+1})$. There are similar numerical properties (e.g. ampleness) on the intersection sheaves (cf. Theorems 4.4, 4.7): For example, if \mathcal{L}_i are all ample (resp. nef and big), then so is $\mathcal{I}_{X/Y}(\mathcal{L}_1, \ldots, \mathcal{L}_{d+1})$. If $X \subset V \times Y$ for a projective variety V and if \mathcal{L}_i are the pullbacks of very ample invertible sheaves of V by the first projection $X \to V$, then we can show that the intersection sheaf defines the Stein factorization of the morphism $Y \to \operatorname{Chow}(V)$ into the Chow variety of V, which associates a general point $y \in Y$ the algebraic cycle $\operatorname{cyc}(\pi^{-1}(y))$ of V for the fiber $\pi^{-1}(y)$ (cf. Section 4.2). By the property, we have the notion of Chow reduction (cf. Proposition 4.14, Definition 4.15) for a dominant rational map $X \cdots \to Y$ of normal projective varieties , and also the notion of special MRC fibration (cf. Theorem 4.18) for uniruled complex projective varieties generalizing the notion of maximal rationally connected (= MRC) fibration (cf. [3], [16], [10]) defined for smooth varieties. The following results on endomorphisms are proved in Theorem 4.19 and Corollary 4.20:

- (1) If $f: X \to X$ is a finite surjective morphism of a normal complex uniruled projective variety X, then f descends to an endomorphism $h: Y \to Y$ of the base Y of the special MRC fibration $X \cdots \to Y$.
- (2) Here, if f is a polarized endomorphism, i.e., $f^*\mathcal{A} \simeq \mathcal{A}^{\otimes q}$ for some q > 0 and an ample invertible sheaf \mathcal{A} , then the endomorphism h is also polarized.

The motivation of this article is a question by D.-Q. Zhang on a similar result in [25], Proposition 2.2.4 on the endomorphisms of complex normal projective uniruled varieties, where the intersection sheaf is used for proving (2), but the notion of intersection sheaves is defined only for flat morphisms in the paper [25]. The results above solve the question. The results in Section 4.3 are used in a joint paper [19] with D.-Q. Zhang.

It is hopeless to give a similar definition of the intersection sheaves $\mathcal{I}_{X/Y}$ for a proper equi-dimensional surjective non-flat morphism $X \to Y$ over a non-normal base scheme (cf. Remark 3.5). In order to extend the notion of intersection sheaves to the non-normal case, we must add some additional data. For example, [1] treats the intersection sheaves associated to analytic families of cycles parametrized by a reduced complex analytic space, where the definition of the analytic family requires more than the equi-dimensionality.

This article is organized as follows: After preparing basics on K-groups in Section 1, we define and study the intersection sheaves $\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}/Y}$ in Section 2 for Y-flat coherent sheaves \mathcal{F} on X. We use essentially the same argument as in [6], [18], and the description of Chow varieties in [17]. In Section 3, we consider the case where Y is a normal separated Noetherian integral scheme, and prove basic properties including the invertibility and the base change property. We apply these fundamental results obtained in Sections 2 and 3 to projective varieties over a field or the complex number field \mathbb{C} in Section 4. We prove some numerical properties of the intersection sheaves, give a relation to the morphisms into Chow varieties, and finally have some of results on polarized endomorphisms of projective varieties answering the question of D.-Q. Zhang.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

The author expresses his gratitude to Professor De-Qi Zhang for the question on polarized endomorphisms and for continuous discussion during the preparation of this article. The author also thanks Professor Yoshio Fujimoto for his encouragement.

1. GROTHENDIECK K-GROUPS

We recall elementary properties of Grothendieck K-groups (cf. [13], [2]). Let X be a Noetherian scheme. Let $K^{\bullet}(X)$ (resp. $K_{\bullet}(X)$) be the Grothendieck group on the locally free sheaves (resp. coherent sheaves) on X. For a locally free (resp. coherent) sheaf \mathcal{F} , let $\mathrm{cl}^{\bullet}(\mathcal{F}) = \mathrm{cl}_{X}^{\bullet}(\mathcal{F})$ (resp. $\mathrm{cl}_{\bullet}(\mathcal{F}) = \mathrm{cl}_{X^{\bullet}}(\mathcal{F})$) denote the corresponding element in $K^{\bullet}(X)$ (resp. $K_{\bullet}(X)$). Note that $K^{\bullet}(X)$ is the K_{0} group in the K-theory. The tensor products with locally free sheaves give $K^{\bullet}(X)$ a ring structure and give $K_{\bullet}(X)$ a structure of $K^{\bullet}(X)$ -module so that the canonical homomorphism $\phi \colon K^{\bullet}(X) \to K_{\bullet}(X)$, which is called the Cartan homomorphism, is $K^{\bullet}(X)$ -linear. Here, $\mathrm{cl}^{\bullet}(\mathcal{O}_{X})$ is the unit element 1 of the ring structure of $K^{\bullet}(X)$, and $\phi \colon K^{\bullet}(X) \to K_{\bullet}(X)$ is regarded as the multiplication map by $\phi(1) = \mathrm{cl}_{\bullet}(\mathcal{O}_{X}) \in K_{\bullet}(X)$. If X is a regular separated Noetherian scheme, then $\phi \colon K^{\bullet}(X) \to K_{\bullet}(X)$ is isomorphic by the existence of global locally free resolution for coherent sheaves (cf. [13], Exp. II Proposition 2.2.3 and Exp. II Corollaire 2.2.7.1).

The ring $\mathrm{H}^0(X,\mathbb{Z})$ of locally constant \mathbb{Z} -valued functions is a direct summand of $K^{\bullet}(X)$, in which a projection $\varepsilon \colon K^{\bullet}(X) \to \mathrm{H}^0(X,\mathbb{Z})$ (called the augmentation map) is given by $\mathrm{cl}^{\bullet}(\mathcal{E}) \mapsto \mathrm{rank} \, \mathcal{E}$ for locally free sheaves \mathcal{E} . The λ -ring structure of $K^{\bullet}(X)$ is introduced by setting $\lambda^p(\mathrm{cl}^{\bullet}(\mathcal{E})) = \mathrm{cl}^{\bullet}(\wedge^p \mathcal{E})$ for locally free sheaves \mathcal{E} . The augmentation map ε is a λ -homomorphism with respect to the natural λ -ring structure of $\mathrm{H}^0(X,\mathbb{Z})$. The operator γ^p associated with the λ -ring $K^{\bullet}(X)$ is defined by $\gamma^p(x) = \lambda^p(x+p-1)$ for $x \in K^{\bullet}(X)$. The λ -filtration $\{F^p K^{\bullet}(X)\}$ of $K^{\bullet}(X)$ is defined as follows: $F^p K^{\bullet}(X) = K^{\bullet}(X)$ for $p \leq 0, F^1 K^{\bullet}(X) = \mathrm{Ker}(\varepsilon)$, and $F^p K^{\bullet}(X)$ for $p \geq 2$ is generated by

$$\gamma^{k_1}(x_1)\gamma^{k_2}(x_2)\cdots\gamma^{k_l}(x_l)$$

with $x_i \in \operatorname{Ker}(\varepsilon)$ and $\sum k_i \geq p$. Then $K^{\bullet}(X)$ is a filtered ring, i.e., $F^p K^{\bullet}(X) F^q K^{\bullet}(X) \subset F^{p+q} K^{\bullet}(X)$ for $p, q \geq 0$. For $\operatorname{Gr}_F^i K^{\bullet}(X) = F^i K^{\bullet}(X) / F^{i+1} K^{\bullet}(X)$, we have

$$\operatorname{Gr}_F^0(X) \simeq \operatorname{H}^0(X)$$
 and $\operatorname{Gr}_F^1(X) \simeq \operatorname{Pic}(X)$,

by [13], Exp. X Théorème 5.3.2, where Pic(X) denotes the Picard group of X.

On the other hand, $K_{\bullet}(X)$ also has a natural filtration $\{F_{\text{con}}^{p}K_{\bullet}(X)\}$, which is called the *coniview filtration*, is defined as follows (cf. [13] Exp. X Remarque 1.4 and Exp. X Exemple 1.5): $F_{\text{con}}^{p}K_{\bullet}(X)$ is generated by $cl_{\bullet}(\mathcal{F})$ for coherent sheaves \mathcal{F} with codim $\text{Supp } \mathcal{F} \geq p$. We have another natural subgroup $F_{p}K_{\bullet}(X) \subset K_{\bullet}(X)$ for $p \geq 0$, which is generated by $cl_{\bullet}(\mathcal{F})$ for the coherent sheaves \mathcal{F} with dim $\text{Supp } \mathcal{F} \leq p$. Note that, $K_{\bullet}(X) = \bigcup_{p\geq 0} F_{p}K_{\bullet}(X)$ does not hold unless dim X is bounded. If X is of finite type over a field and if X is of pure dimension n, then $F_{\text{con}}^{p}K_{\bullet}(X) = F_{n-p}K_{\bullet}(X)$. The following properties are known (cf. [13], Exp. X Corollaire 1.1.4 and Exp. X Théorème 1.3.2):

- $\operatorname{Gr}_{F_{\operatorname{con}}}^p K_{\bullet}(X) = F_{\operatorname{con}}^p K_{\bullet}(X) / F_{\operatorname{con}}^{p+1} K_{\bullet}(X)$ is generated by $\operatorname{cl}_{\bullet}(\mathcal{O}_Z)$ for the closed integral subschemes Z of codimension p.
- $\operatorname{Gr}_p^F K_{\bullet}(X) = F_p K_{\bullet}(X) / F_{p-1} K_{\bullet}(X)$ is generated by $\operatorname{cl}_{\bullet}(\mathcal{O}_Z)$ for the closed integral subschemes Z of dimension p.
- $F^{p}K^{\bullet}(X)F^{q}_{\operatorname{con}}K_{\bullet}(X) \subset F^{p+q}_{\operatorname{con}}K_{\bullet}(X)$ and $F^{p}K^{\bullet}(X)F_{q}K_{\bullet}(X) \subset F_{q-p}K_{\bullet}(X)$ for any $p, q \geq 0$. In particular, we have $\phi(F^{p}K^{\bullet}(X)) \subset F^{p}_{\operatorname{con}}K_{\bullet}(X)$, and $\phi(F^{p}K^{\bullet}(X)) \subset F_{n-p}K_{\bullet}(X)$ if dim $X \leq n$.

Convention. For the sake of simplicity, we write

$$\begin{split} F^p(X) &= F^p K^{\bullet}(X), \qquad F^p_{\mathrm{con}}(X) = F^p_{\mathrm{con}} K_{\bullet}(X), \qquad F_p(X) = F_p K_{\bullet}(X), \\ G^p(X) &= \mathrm{Gr}_F^p K^{\bullet}(X), \qquad G^p_{\mathrm{con}}(X) = \mathrm{Gr}_{F_{\mathrm{con}}}^p K_{\bullet}(X), \qquad G_p(X) = \mathrm{Gr}_p^F K_{\bullet}(X), \\ G^{\bullet}(X) &= \bigoplus_{p \ge 0} G^p(X), \qquad G^{\bullet}_{\mathrm{con}}(X) = \bigoplus_{p \ge 0} G^p_{\mathrm{con}}(X), \qquad G_{\bullet}(X) = \bigoplus_{p \ge 0} G_p(X) \end{split}$$

Then, $G^{\bullet}(X)$ is a graded ring; $G^{\bullet}_{con}(X)$ and $G_{\bullet}(X)$ have graded $G^{\bullet}(X)$ -module structures by $G^{p}(X) \otimes G^{q}_{con}(X) \to G^{p+q}_{con}(X)$ and $G^{p}(X) \otimes G_{q}(X) \to G_{q-p}(X)$. We denote by $G(\phi): G^{p}(X) \to G^{p}_{con}(X)$ the homomorphism induced from the Cartan homomorphism $\phi: K^{\bullet}(X) \to K_{\bullet}(X)$.

Remark. Suppose that X is an n-dimensional smooth algebraic variety defined over a filed. Then $\phi: K^{\bullet}(X) \to K_{\bullet}(X)$ is isomorphic and $F^{p}_{con}(X) = F_{n-p}(X) \subset K_{\bullet}(X)$. Moreover, $K_{\bullet}(X)$ has a structure of filtered ring by ϕ and by $\{F^{p}_{con}(X)\}$, i.e., $F^{p}_{con}(X)F^{q}_{con}(X) \subset F^{p+q}_{con}(X)$ for any $p, q \geq 0$ (cf. [13], Exp. 0 App. II Théorème 2.11, Corollaire; and Exp. VI Proposition 6.6). Since $\phi(F^{p}(X)) \subset F^{p}_{con}(X), G(\phi): G(X) \to G_{con}(X)$ is a surjective ring homomorphism; however $G(\phi)$ is not necessarily isomorphic.

Let $f: X \to Y$ be a morphism of Noetherian schemes. Then the λ -ring homomorphism $f^*: K^{\bullet}(Y) \to K^{\bullet}(X)$ is defined, which maps $\operatorname{cl}_Y^{\bullet}(\mathcal{E})$ to $\operatorname{cl}_X^{\bullet}(f^*\mathcal{E})$ for a locally free sheaf \mathcal{E} on Y. Here, $f^*F^p(Y) \subset F^p(X)$, and hence $f^*: G^p(Y) \to G^p(X)$ is induced. For a morphism $g: Y \to Z$ to another Noetherian scheme Z, we have $(g \circ f)^* = f^* \circ g^*$.

If f is proper, then the group homomorphism $f_* \colon K_{\bullet}(X) \to K_{\bullet}(Y)$ is defined, which maps $\operatorname{cl}_{X \bullet}(\mathcal{F})$ to $\sum (-1)^i \operatorname{cl}_{Y \bullet}(\mathbb{R}^i f_* \mathcal{F})$ for a coherent sheaf \mathcal{F} . Here, $f_* F_p(X) \subset F_p(Y)$, since dim Supp $\mathbb{R}^i f_* \mathcal{F} \leq \dim \operatorname{Supp} \mathcal{F}$ for any *i* for any coherent sheaf \mathcal{F} on X. In particular, $f \colon G_p(X) \to G_p(Y)$ is induced. For a proper morphism $g \colon Y \to Z$ to another Noetherian scheme Z, we have $(g \circ f)_* = g_* \circ f_*$. We have the following projection formula: If $f \colon X \to Y$ is proper, then

(I-1)
$$f_*(x \cdot f^*y) = f_*x \cdot y$$

for any $x \in K_{\bullet}(X)$ and $y \in K^{\bullet}(Y)$. This follows from the usual projection formula $\mathrm{R}^{i} f_{*}(\mathcal{F} \otimes f^{*}\mathcal{E}) \simeq \mathrm{R}^{i} f_{*}\mathcal{F} \otimes \mathcal{E}$ for coherent sheaves \mathcal{F} on X and locally free sheaves \mathcal{E} on Y. As a result, we infer that $f_* \colon K_{\bullet}(X) \to K_{\bullet}(Y)$ is $K^{\bullet}(Y)$ -linear and $f_* \colon G_{\bullet}(X) \to G_{\bullet}(Y)$ is $G^{\bullet}(Y)$ -linear.

Suppose that f is flat. Then $f^* \colon K_{\bullet}(Y) \to K_{\bullet}(X)$ is induced (cf. [13], Exp. IV 2.12) which is compatible with $f^* \colon K^{\bullet}(Y) \to K^{\bullet}(X)$. Here, $f^*F^p_{\text{con}}(Y) \subset F^p_{\text{con}}(X)$ for any p. If $g \colon Z \to Y$ is a proper morphism, then for the fiber product $W = Z \times_Y X$ and for the natural projections $p_1 \colon W \to Z$ and $p_2 \colon W \to X$, we have the base change formula

(I-2)
$$f^*g_*(z) = p_{2*}p_1^*(z)$$

for $z \in K_{\bullet}(Z)$ (cf. [13], Exp. IV Proposition 3.1.1). If f is proper, flat, and of relative dimension d, then we have $f_*F_{\rm con}^{p+d}(X) \subset F_{\rm con}^p(Y)$ by the formula:

$$\dim \mathcal{O}_{X,x} = \dim \mathcal{O}_{Y,f(x)} + \dim \mathcal{O}_{X,x} \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_{Y,f(x)}} \Bbbk(f(x)),$$

where $\Bbbk(f(x))$ denotes the residue field of $\mathcal{O}_{Y,f(x)}$. For an open immersion $j: U \hookrightarrow X$ and for the closed immersion $i: Z \hookrightarrow X$ from the complement $Z = X \setminus U$, we have the following natural exact sequence (cf. [13], Exp. 0 App. II Proposition 2.10):

(I-3)
$$K_{\bullet}(Z) \xrightarrow{i_*} K_{\bullet}(X) \xrightarrow{j^*} K_{\bullet}(U) \to 0.$$

An algebraic cycle $Z = \sum n_i Z_i$ of X is a finite linear combination of closed integral subschemes Z_i of X with integral coefficients n_i . If the coefficients n_i are all non-negative, then Z is called effective. If dim $Z_i = k$ (resp. codim $Z_i = k$) for all *i*, then Z is called a cycle of dimension k (resp. of codimension k). The group of algebraic cycles of dimension k (resp. codimension k) is denoted by $\mathcal{Z}_k(X)$ (resp. $\mathcal{Z}^k(X)$).

Definition 1.1. For a coherent sheaf \mathcal{F} , we define an effective algebraic cycle by

$$\operatorname{cyc}(\mathcal{F}) := \sum_{W \subset \operatorname{Supp} \mathcal{F}} l_W(\mathcal{F})W,$$

where all the irreducible components W of $\operatorname{Supp} \mathcal{F}$ are taken, and $l_W(\mathcal{F})$ denotes the length of the $\mathcal{O}_{X,\eta}$ -module \mathcal{F}_{η} for the generic point η of W. If dim $\operatorname{Supp} \mathcal{F} \leq k$, then we set

$$\operatorname{cyc}_{k}(\mathcal{F}) := \sum_{\dim W = k, W \subset \operatorname{Supp} \mathcal{F}} l_{W}(\mathcal{F}) W \in \mathcal{Z}_{k}(X).$$

If codim Supp $\mathcal{F} \geq k$, then we set

$$\operatorname{cyc}^{k}(\mathcal{F}) := \sum_{\operatorname{codim} W = k, W \subset \operatorname{Supp} \mathcal{F}} l_{W}(\mathcal{F}) W \in \mathcal{Z}^{k}(X).$$

We write $\operatorname{cyc}(V) = \operatorname{cyc}(\mathcal{O}_V)$ for closed subschemes V.

We have natural homomorphisms $\operatorname{cl}_{\bullet} : \mathcal{Z}^{k}(X) \to F^{k}_{\operatorname{con}}(X)$ and $\operatorname{cl}_{\bullet} : \mathcal{Z}_{k}(X) \to F_{k}(X)$ defined by $\operatorname{cl}_{\bullet}(Z) = \sum n_{i} \operatorname{cl}_{\bullet}(\mathcal{O}_{Z_{i}})$, where $Z = \sum n_{i}Z_{i}$ for closed integral subschemes Z_{i} and $n_{i} \in \mathbb{Z}$. Then, $\operatorname{cl}_{\bullet}(\operatorname{cyc}^{k}(\mathcal{F})) \equiv \operatorname{cl}_{\bullet}(\mathcal{F}) \mod F^{k+1}_{\operatorname{con}}(X)$ and $\operatorname{cl}_{\bullet}(\operatorname{cyc}_{k}(\mathcal{G})) \equiv \operatorname{cl}_{\bullet}(\mathcal{G})$ mod $F_{k-1}(X)$ for coherent sheaves \mathcal{F} and \mathcal{G} with codim $\operatorname{Supp} \mathcal{F} = \dim \operatorname{Supp} \mathcal{G} = k$. Remark. Suppose that X is a smooth quasi-projective variety over a field. The Chow group $\operatorname{CH}_k(X)$ (resp. $\operatorname{CH}^k(X)$) is defined as the quotient group of $\mathcal{Z}_k(X)$ (resp. $\mathcal{Z}^k(X)$) by the rational equivalence relation. Here, $\operatorname{CH}^i(X) \simeq \operatorname{CH}_{n-i}(X)$ for $i \ge 0$, since $\mathcal{Z}^i(X) = \mathcal{Z}_{n-i}(X)$. Then $\operatorname{CH}(X) = \bigoplus_{i=0}^n \operatorname{CH}^i(X)$ has a graded ring structure by the intersection theory, which is called the Chow ring of X. The map $\operatorname{cl}_{\bullet} : \mathcal{Z}^k(X) \to F_{\operatorname{con}}^k(X)$ defined just after Definition 1.1 induces $G(\operatorname{cl}_{\bullet}) : \operatorname{CH}^k(X) \to G_{\operatorname{con}}^k(X)$ and a ring homomorphism $G(\operatorname{cl}_{\bullet}) : \operatorname{CH}(X) \to G_{\operatorname{con}}(X)$.

Definition 1.2 (Chern class). Let X be a Noetherian scheme. For $x \in K^{\bullet}(X)$, the *p*-th Chern class of x for $p \ge 0$ in the K-theory is defined to be

$$\boldsymbol{c}^p(x) := \gamma^p(x - \varepsilon(x)) \mod F^{p+1}(X) \in G^p(X),$$

where ε is the augmentation map. For a locally free sheaf \mathcal{E} , we write $c^p(\mathcal{E}) = c^p(\mathrm{cl}^{\bullet}(\mathcal{E}))$.

Remark (cf. [13] Exp. 0 App. II §5). Suppose that X is an n-dimensional smooth quasiprojective variety over a field. Then we have the map of the *i*-th Chern class $c_i: K^{\bullet}(X) \to CH^i(X)$ for $0 \le i \le n$. The Chern class $c_i(x)$ and the Chern class $c^i(x)$ in the K-theory for $x \in K^{\bullet}(X)$ is related by

$$G(cl_{\bullet})(c_i(x)) = G(\boldsymbol{\phi})(\boldsymbol{c}^i(x)).$$

Definition 1.3. Let X be a Noetherian scheme. For an invertible sheaf \mathcal{L} , we set

$$\boldsymbol{\delta}(\mathcal{L}) = \boldsymbol{\delta}_X(\mathcal{L}) := 1 - \mathrm{cl}_X^{\bullet}(\mathcal{L}^{-1}) \in F^1(X).$$

Furthermore, for invertible sheaves $\mathcal{L}_1, \ldots, \mathcal{L}_l$ on X, we set

$$\boldsymbol{\delta}(\mathcal{L}_1,\ldots,\mathcal{L}_l) = \boldsymbol{\delta}_X^{(l)}(\mathcal{L}_1,\ldots,\mathcal{L}_l) := \boldsymbol{\delta}(\mathcal{L}_1) \, \boldsymbol{\delta}(\mathcal{L}_2) \cdots \boldsymbol{\delta}(\mathcal{L}_l) \in F^l(X).$$

Remark 1.4.

- (1) $\delta(\mathcal{L} \otimes \mathcal{L}') = \delta(\mathcal{L}) + \delta(\mathcal{L}') \delta(\mathcal{L}, \mathcal{L}')$ for two invertible sheaves \mathcal{L} and \mathcal{L}' .
- (2) $\delta(\mathcal{L}) \mod F^2(X) = c^1(\mathcal{L}) \in G^1(X)$ for an invertible sheaf \mathcal{L} . In fact,

$$\begin{split} \boldsymbol{\delta}(\mathcal{L}) &- \gamma^{1}(\mathrm{cl}^{\bullet}(\mathcal{L}) - 1) = 1 - \mathrm{cl}^{\bullet}(\mathcal{L}^{-1}) - (\mathrm{cl}^{\bullet}(\mathcal{L}) - 1) = (\mathrm{cl}^{\bullet}(\mathcal{L}) - 1)(\mathrm{cl}^{\bullet}(\mathcal{L}^{-1}) - 1) \\ &= \gamma^{1}(\mathrm{cl}^{\bullet}(\mathcal{L}) - 1)\gamma^{1}(\mathrm{cl}^{\bullet}(\mathcal{L}^{-1}) - 1) \in F^{2}(X). \end{split}$$

In particular,

$$\boldsymbol{\delta}(\mathcal{L}_1,\ldots,\mathcal{L}_l) \mod F^{l+1}(X) = \boldsymbol{c}^1(\mathcal{L}_1)\cdots \boldsymbol{c}^1(\mathcal{L}_l) = \boldsymbol{c}^l(\mathcal{L}_1 \oplus \cdots \oplus \mathcal{L}_l).$$

(3) We have the following explicit expression:

$$\delta(\mathcal{L}_1, \dots, \mathcal{L}_l) = \sum_{k=0}^l (-1)^k \sum_{1 \le i_1 < \dots < i_k \le l} \operatorname{cl}^{\bullet} \left(\bigotimes_{j=1}^k \mathcal{L}_{i_j}^{-1} \right)$$
$$= 1 - \sum_{i=1}^l \operatorname{cl}^{\bullet}(\mathcal{L}_i^{-1}) + \dots + (-1)^l \operatorname{cl}^{\bullet}(\mathcal{L}_1^{-1} \otimes \dots \otimes \mathcal{L}_l^{-1}).$$

Remark. The determinant map det: $K^{\bullet}(X) \to \operatorname{Pic}(X)$ is defined by $\operatorname{det}(\operatorname{cl}^{\bullet}(\mathcal{E})) = \operatorname{det} \mathcal{E}$ for locally free sheaves \mathcal{E} . We note that

$$\det(xy) \simeq \det(x)^{\otimes \varepsilon(y)} \otimes \det(y)^{\otimes \varepsilon(x)}$$

for $x, y \in K^{\bullet}(X)$. Since det is trivial on $F^2(X)$ by [13], Exp. X Lemma 5.3.4, a homomorphism $G^1(X) \to \operatorname{Pic}(X)$ is induced by det. Its inverse is given by the first Chern class c^1 : $\operatorname{Pic}(X) \to G^1(X)$.

Definition 1.5. Let \mathcal{F} be a coherent sheaf and \mathcal{E} a coherent locally free sheaf on a Noetherian scheme X. Let σ be a section of \mathcal{E} and let $\sigma^{\vee} \colon \mathcal{E}^{\vee} = \mathcal{H}om(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{O}_X) \to \mathcal{O}_X$ denote the dual of $\sigma \colon \mathcal{O}_X \to \mathcal{E}$.

- (1) The zero subscheme $V(\sigma)$ of the section σ is a closed subscheme defined by $\operatorname{Coker}(\sigma^{\vee}) = \mathcal{O}_{V(\sigma)}.$
- (2) σ is called \mathcal{F} -regular, if, for any point $P \in V(\sigma)$ and for a local trivialization $\mathcal{E}_P \simeq \mathcal{O}_P^{\oplus r}$, the germ $\sigma_P \in \mathcal{E}_P$ corresponds to an \mathcal{F}_P -regular sequence. In other words, the natural Koszul complex

$$[\dots \to \bigwedge^p(\mathcal{E}^{\vee}) \to \bigwedge^{p-1}(\mathcal{E}^{\vee}) \to \dots \to \mathcal{E}^{\vee} \xrightarrow{\sigma^{\vee}} \mathcal{O}_X \to 0]$$

defined by σ^{\vee} induces an exact sequence

(I-4)
$$\cdots \to \mathcal{F} \otimes \bigwedge^{p}(\mathcal{E}^{\vee}) \to \mathcal{F} \otimes \bigwedge^{p-1}(\mathcal{E}^{\vee}) \to \cdots \to \mathcal{F} \otimes \mathcal{E}^{\vee} \to \mathcal{F} \to \mathcal{F} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{V(\sigma)} \to 0.$$

(3) Suppose that $\mathcal{E} = \mathcal{L}_1 \oplus \cdots \oplus \mathcal{L}_l$ for invertible sheaves $\mathcal{L}_1, \ldots, \mathcal{L}_l$ and σ is given by sections σ_i of \mathcal{L}_i . Then, we define $V(\sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_l) := V(\sigma)$. Similarly, $(\sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_l)$ is called \mathcal{F} -regular if so is σ .

Lemma 1.6 (cf. [11], Théorème 2). Let \mathcal{E} be a locally free sheaf of rank r on X.

(1) For the formal power series $\lambda_t(x) := \sum_{p>0} \lambda^p(x) t^p \in K^{\bullet}(X) \llbracket t \rrbracket$ for $x \in K^{\bullet}(X)$,

$$\lambda_{-1}(\mathcal{E}) := \lambda_{-1}(\mathrm{cl}^{\bullet}(\mathcal{E})) = \lambda_t(\mathrm{cl}^{\bullet}(\mathcal{E}))|_{t=-1}$$

is well-defined as an element of $K^{\bullet}(X)$, and is equal to $(-1)^r \gamma^r (\operatorname{cl}^{\bullet}(\mathcal{E}) - r)$. In particular, $\mathbf{c}^r(\mathcal{E}) = \lambda_{-1}(\mathcal{E}^{\vee}) \mod F^{r+1}(X)$.

(2) Let \mathcal{F} be a coherent sheaf and σ an \mathcal{F} -regular section of \mathcal{E} . Then,

(I-5)
$$\lambda_{-1}(\mathcal{E}^{\vee}) \operatorname{cl}_{\bullet}(\mathcal{F}) = \operatorname{cl}_{\bullet}(\mathcal{F} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{V(\sigma)})$$

In particular,

$$\boldsymbol{c}^{r}(\mathcal{E})\operatorname{cl}_{\bullet}(\mathcal{F}) \equiv \begin{cases} \operatorname{cl}_{\bullet}(\mathcal{F} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{V(\sigma)}) \mod F_{\operatorname{con}}^{k+r+1}(X), & \text{if } \operatorname{codim} \mathcal{F} \ge k, \\ \operatorname{cl}_{\bullet}(\mathcal{F} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{V(\sigma)}) \mod F_{k-r-1}(X), & \text{if } \operatorname{dim} \mathcal{F} \le k. \end{cases}$$

Proof. (1): For $x \in K^{\bullet}(X)$, formally, we have

$$\lambda_{-1}(x) = \lambda_t(x)|_{t=-1} = \sum_{p \ge 0} (-1)^p \lambda^p(x).$$

The formal power series $\gamma_t(x) := \sum_{p \ge 0} \gamma^p(x) t^p$ is related to $\lambda_t(x)$ by $\lambda_t(x) = \gamma_{t/(1+t)}(x)$. By the property: $\lambda^p(\mathrm{cl}^{\bullet}(\mathcal{E})) = \gamma^p(\mathrm{cl}^{\bullet}(\mathcal{E}) - r) = 0$ for p > r, and by the calculation

$$\lambda_t(x) = \lambda_t(x-r)\lambda_t(r) = \gamma_{t/(1+t)}(x-r)(1+t)^r = \sum_{p\ge 0} \gamma^p(x-r)t^p(1+t)^{r-p},$$

we have $\lambda_{-1}(\mathcal{E}) = (-1)^r \gamma^r (\mathrm{cl}^{\bullet}(\mathcal{E}) - r)$. The other formula follows from the equality $\mathbf{c}^r(\mathcal{E}) = (-1)^r \mathbf{c}^r(\mathcal{E}^{\vee})$.

(2) is derived from the exact sequence (I-4).

Remark. If $\mathcal{E} = \mathcal{L}_1 \oplus \cdots \oplus \mathcal{L}_r$ for invertible sheaves \mathcal{L}_i on X, then, by Remark 1.4,

$$(-1)^r \gamma^r (\mathrm{cl}^{\bullet}(\mathcal{E}^{\vee}) - r) = \lambda_{-1}(\mathcal{E}^{\vee}) = \boldsymbol{\delta}(\mathcal{L}_1, \dots, \mathcal{L}_r)$$

Definition 1.7 (Intersection number). Assume that X is a scheme proper over Speck for a field k. For the the structure morphism $p_X \colon X \to \text{Spec } \Bbbk$, the composite

$$K_{\bullet}(X) \xrightarrow{p_{X*}} K_{\bullet}(\operatorname{Spec} \Bbbk) \simeq \operatorname{H}^{0}(\operatorname{Spec} \Bbbk, \mathbb{Z}) = \mathbb{Z}$$

maps $cl_{\bullet}(\mathcal{F})$ to the Euler characteristic $\chi(X, \mathcal{F})$ for a coherent sheaf \mathcal{F} . In particular, it induces the homomorphism deg: $G_0(X) = F_0(X) \to \mathbb{Z}$, which maps $cl_{\bullet}(\mathcal{F})$ for a skyscraper sheaf \mathcal{F} to dim $H^0(X, \mathcal{F})$. The intersection number $i(\eta; \xi) \in \mathbb{Z}$ for $\eta \in G^l(X)$ and $\xi \in G_l(X)$ is defined to be the image of the natural homomorphism

$$G^{l}(X) \otimes G_{l}(X) \to G_{0}(X) \xrightarrow{\operatorname{deg}} \mathbb{Z}.$$

If $\eta = c^1(\mathcal{L}_1) \cdots c^1(\mathcal{L}_l)$ for invertible sheaves $\mathcal{L}_1, \ldots, \mathcal{L}_l$, then we write $i(\mathcal{L}_1, \ldots, \mathcal{L}_l; \xi)$ for $i(\eta; \xi)$. For a coherent sheaf \mathcal{F} with dim Supp $\mathcal{F} = l$ and a closed subscheme V of dimension l, we write

$$i(\eta; \mathcal{F}) = i(\eta; \mathrm{cl}_{\bullet}(\mathcal{F}))$$
 and $i(\eta; V) = i(\eta; \mathrm{cl}_{\bullet}(\mathcal{O}_V)).$

Remark. For $\mathcal{L}_1, \ldots, \mathcal{L}_l \in \operatorname{Pic}(X)$ and $\xi \in G_l(X)$, we have

$$i(\mathcal{L}_1,\ldots,\mathcal{L}_l;\xi) = \deg\left(\boldsymbol{\delta}_X(\mathcal{L}_1,\ldots,\mathcal{L}_l)\xi\right).$$

For a coherent sheaf \mathcal{F} with dim Supp $\mathcal{F} = l$, $i(\mathcal{L}_1, \ldots, \mathcal{L}_l; \mathcal{F})$ is just the coefficient of $x_1x_2\cdots x_l$ of the Snapper polynomial $P_{\mathcal{F}}(x_1, \ldots, x_l) \in \mathbb{Q}[x_1, \ldots, x_l]$ defined by

$$P_{\mathcal{F}}(m_1,\ldots,m_l) = \chi(X,\mathcal{L}_1^{\otimes m_1} \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathcal{L}_l^{\otimes m_l} \otimes \mathcal{F})$$

for $m_1, \ldots, m_l \in \mathbb{Z}$.

Lemma 1.8. Let X be a reduced Noetherian scheme and $I = \{X_i\}$ the set of irreducible components of X. Let $\operatorname{rk}_i \colon K_{\bullet}(X) \to \mathbb{Z}$ be the homomorphism defined by

$$\operatorname{rk}_{i}(\operatorname{cl}_{\bullet}(\mathcal{F})) = l_{X_{i}}(\mathcal{F}) = \operatorname{length}_{\mathcal{O}_{X,\eta_{i}}}(\mathcal{F}_{\eta_{i}})$$

for coherent sheaves \mathcal{F} and for the generic point η_i of X_i . Then $\sum \operatorname{rk}_i \colon K_{\bullet}(X) \to \bigoplus_I \mathbb{Z}$ induces an isomorphism $G^0_{\operatorname{con}}(X) \simeq \bigoplus_I \mathbb{Z}$.

Proof. If \mathcal{F} is a coherent sheaf with codim Supp $\mathcal{F} > 0$, then $\operatorname{rk}_i(\mathcal{F}) = 0$ for any i; Thus $\sum \operatorname{rk}_i$ induces $G^0_{\operatorname{con}}(X) \to \bigoplus_I \mathbb{Z}$. For the surjective homomorphism $\mathcal{Z}^0(X) \to G^0_{\operatorname{con}}(X)$, the composite $\mathcal{Z}^0(X) \to \bigoplus_I \mathbb{Z}$ is just an isomorphism. Thus, $G^0_{\operatorname{con}}(X) \simeq \bigoplus_I \mathbb{Z}$.

Definition 1.9. Let X be a Noetherian scheme with a morphism $X \to Y$ to an integral scheme Y. For a coherent sheaf \mathcal{F} of X, we denote by $\mathcal{F}_{tor/Y}$ the unique maximal coherent subsheaf \mathcal{F}' such that $\operatorname{Supp} \mathcal{F}'$ does not dominate Y. We denote by $\mathcal{F}_{t.f./Y}$ the quotient sheaf $\mathcal{F}/\mathcal{F}_{tor/Y}$. In case X = Y, then we write $\mathcal{F}_{tor} = \mathcal{F}_{tor/Y}$ and $\mathcal{F}_{t.f.} = \mathcal{F}_{t.f./Y}$. The sheaf \mathcal{F}_{tor} is called the torsion part of \mathcal{F} . If $\mathcal{F}_{tor} = 0$, then \mathcal{F} is called torsion free.

Lemma 1.10. Suppose that X is a normal separated Noetherian scheme. Then there is an isomorphism $\widehat{\det}: G^1_{\operatorname{con}}(X) \xrightarrow{\simeq} \operatorname{Ref}^1(X)$ into the group $\operatorname{Ref}^1(X)$ of reflexive sheaves of rank one on X with the natural commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{ccc} G^{1}(X) & \stackrel{\text{det}}{\longrightarrow} & \operatorname{Pic}(X) \\ G(\phi) & & & \downarrow \\ G^{1}_{\operatorname{con}}(X) & \stackrel{\widehat{\operatorname{det}}}{\longrightarrow} & \operatorname{Ref}^{1}(X). \end{array}$$

Remark. The group structure of $\operatorname{Ref}^1(X)$ is given by the double-dual $(\lor\lor)$ of the tensor product, where $\mathcal{F}^{\lor} = \mathcal{H}om_{\mathcal{O}_X}(\mathcal{F}, \mathcal{O}_X)$ and $\mathcal{F}^{\lor\lor} = (\mathcal{F}^{\lor})^{\lor}$ for an \mathcal{O}_X -module \mathcal{F} . Note that $\operatorname{Ref}^1(X)$ is isomorphic to the Weil divisor class group $\operatorname{CL}(X)$ by $D \mapsto \mathcal{O}_X(D)$ for Weil divisors D. Here $\mathcal{O}_X(D)$ is a subsheaf of the sheaf of germs of rational functions on X defined by

$$\varphi \in \mathrm{H}^{0}(U, \mathcal{O}_{X}(D)) \Leftrightarrow \mathrm{div}(\varphi) + D|_{U} \geq 0$$

for any open subset U, where $\operatorname{div}(\varphi)$ stands for the associated principal divisor.

Proof. We may assume that X is integral. For a coherent sheaf \mathcal{F} , we can associate a reflexive sheaf $\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{F})$ of rank one as follows:

• If \mathcal{F} is a torsion sheaf, i.e., $\operatorname{rk}(\mathcal{F}) = l_X(\mathcal{F}) = 0$, then $\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{F}) := \mathcal{O}_X(\operatorname{Div}(\mathcal{F}))$ for the Weil divisor

$$\operatorname{Div}(\mathcal{F}) = \operatorname{cyc}^{1}(\mathcal{F}) = \sum_{\text{prime divisors } \Gamma \subset \operatorname{Supp} \mathcal{F}} l_{\Gamma}(\mathcal{F})\Gamma.$$

• If \mathcal{F} is torsion free, then

$$\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{F}) := \left(igwedge^{\operatorname{rk}(\mathcal{F})}\mathcal{F}
ight)^{eeee}$$

• For a general coherent sheaf \mathcal{F} , we define

$$\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{F}) = \left(\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{F}_{ ext{t.f.}})\otimes\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{F}_{ ext{tor}})
ight)^{ee ee}$$
 .

We shall show $\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{F}) \simeq (\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{G}) \otimes \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{H}))^{\vee \vee}$ for any exact sequence $0 \to \mathcal{G} \to \mathcal{F} \to \mathcal{H} \to 0$ of coherent sheaves: Let \mathcal{K} be the kernel of $\mathcal{F}_{t.f.} \to \mathcal{H}_{t.f.}$ and \mathcal{C} the cokernel of $\mathcal{F}_{tor} \to \mathcal{H}_{tor}$; then we have an exact sequence

$$0 \to \mathcal{G}_{t.f.} \to \mathcal{K} \to \mathcal{C} \to 0.$$

Thus, it is enough to show $\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{F}) \simeq (\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{G}) \otimes \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{H}))^{\vee\vee}$ in the case where \mathcal{H} is a torsion sheaf and \mathcal{F} is torsion free. For the generic point η of a prime divisor Γ , $\mathcal{G}_{\eta} \to \mathcal{F}_{\eta}$ is written as a homomorphism $h: \mathcal{O}_{X,\eta}^{\oplus r} \to \mathcal{O}_{X,\eta}^{\oplus r}$ for $r = \operatorname{rk} \mathcal{F} = \operatorname{rk} \mathcal{G}$. Thus, $l_{\Gamma}(\mathcal{H})$ is just the length of $\mathcal{O}_{X,\eta}/\det(h)\mathcal{O}_{X,\eta}$ for the determinant $\det(h)$. Hence, $\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{F}) \simeq (\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{G}) \otimes \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{H}))^{\vee\vee}$.

Therefore, \mathcal{D} gives rise to a homomorphism $K_{\bullet}(X) \to \operatorname{Ref}^{1}(X)$, which we write $\widehat{\det}$. Note that $\widehat{\det}$ is zero on $F_{\operatorname{con}}^{2}(X)$. The homomorphism $\operatorname{cl}_{\bullet} \colon \mathcal{Z}^{1}(X) \to G_{\operatorname{con}}^{1}(X)$ is surjective, and the composite $\mathcal{Z}^{1}(X) \to \operatorname{Ref}^{1}(X)$ is the canonical surjection which maps a Weil divisor D to $\mathcal{O}_{X}(D)$. In order to prove the induced homomorphism $\widehat{\det} \colon G_{n-1}(X) \to \operatorname{Ref}^{1}(X)$ to be isomorphic, it suffices to show that $\operatorname{cl}_{\bullet}(Z) = 0 \in G_{\operatorname{con}}^{1}(X)$ for a divisor Z with $\mathcal{O}_{X}(Z) \simeq \mathcal{O}_{X}$. Let $Z = Z_{1} - Z_{2}$ be the decomposition into effective divisors Z_{1}, Z_{2} containing no common prime components. From the equality $\operatorname{cl}_{\bullet}(\mathcal{O}_{Z_{i}}) = \operatorname{cl}_{\bullet}(\mathcal{O}_{X}(-Z_{i}))$ for i = 1, 2, we have

$$\mathrm{cl}_{\bullet}(Z) = \mathrm{cl}_{\bullet}(\mathcal{O}_{Z_1}) - \mathrm{cl}_{\bullet}(\mathcal{O}_{Z_2}) = \phi(\mathrm{cl}_{\bullet}(\mathcal{O}_X(-Z_2)) - \mathrm{cl}_{\bullet}(\mathcal{O}_X(-Z_1))) = 0$$

Finally, we compare with the other isomorphism det: $G^1(X) \to \operatorname{Pic}(X)$. For $x = \operatorname{cl}^{\bullet}(\mathcal{E}) - r \in G^1(X)$ for a locally free sheaf \mathcal{E} of rank r, we have det $(x) = \operatorname{det}(\mathcal{E})$. On the other hand, $\widehat{\operatorname{det}}(\phi(x)) = \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{E}) \simeq \operatorname{det}(\mathcal{E})$. Thus, $\widehat{\operatorname{det}}$ is compatible with det. \Box

2. Intersection sheaves for flat morphisms

Let $\pi: X \to Y$ be a locally projective morphism of Noetherian schemes and let \mathcal{F} be a coherent sheaf on X which is flat over Y. We assume that Y is connected. Thus, the relative dimension

$$d := \dim(\operatorname{Supp} \mathcal{F})/Y = \dim \operatorname{Supp}(\mathcal{F} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\pi^{-1}(y)})$$

for $y \in Y$ is constant.

Assumption 2.1. For $\pi: X \to Y$, we assume that π is a projective morphism and the following (A) or (B) is satisfied:

- (A) π is flat.
- (B) Y admits an ample invertible sheaf (cf. [12], Définition 4.5.3).

In this section, we shall define the intersection sheaf $\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\eta)$ for $\eta \in G^{d+1}(X)$ under Assumption 2.1. Also we shall study the basic properties of the intersection sheaves.

Note that $\pi_* \mathcal{F}$ is locally free if $\mathbb{R}^p \pi_* \mathcal{F} = 0$ for any p > 0. Using a π -ample invertible sheaf \mathcal{A} , we can show:

Lemma 2.2. For a locally free sheaf \mathcal{E} of finite rank on X, under Assumption 2.1, there is an exact sequence

$$0 \to \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{E}_0 \to \cdots \to \mathcal{E}_d \to 0$$

such that \mathcal{E}_i are locally free sheaves of finite rank and $\mathbb{R}^p \pi_*(\mathcal{F} \otimes \mathcal{E}_i) = 0$ for any p > 0and any $0 \leq i \leq d$.

Proof. There exists a positive integer k such that $\mathbb{R}^p \pi_*(\mathcal{F} \otimes \mathcal{A}^{\otimes k}) = 0$ for any p > 0 and the natural homomorphism

$$\pi^*\pi_*(\mathcal{E}^{\vee}\otimes\mathcal{A}^{\otimes k})\to\mathcal{E}^{\vee}\otimes\mathcal{A}^{\otimes k}$$

is surjective. We shall construct \mathcal{E}_0 as follows:

In the case where π is flat, we choose the integer k so that it satisfies also the condition: $R^p \pi_*(\mathcal{E}^{\vee} \otimes \mathcal{A}^{\otimes k}) = 0$ for any p > 0. Then $\pi_*(\mathcal{E}^{\vee} \otimes \mathcal{A}^{\otimes k})$ is locally free. We set

$$\mathcal{E}_0 := \pi^* \left(\pi_* (\mathcal{E}^{\vee} \otimes \mathcal{A}^{\otimes k})^{\vee} \right) \otimes \mathcal{A}^{\otimes k}$$

Then, \mathcal{E} is regarded as a subbundle of \mathcal{E}_0 by the dual of the surjection above, and $\mathbb{R}^p \pi_*(\mathcal{F} \otimes \mathcal{E}_0) = 0$ for any p > 0.

In the case where Y admits an ample invertible sheaf \mathcal{H} , we have a surjection

$$\mathcal{O}_Y^{\oplus N} o \pi_*(\mathcal{E}^{\vee} \otimes \mathcal{A}^{\otimes k}) \otimes \mathcal{H}^{\otimes l}$$

for some positive integers l, N. We set

$$\mathcal{E}_0 := \pi^* (\mathcal{H}^{\otimes l})^{\oplus N} \otimes \mathcal{A}^{\otimes k}$$

Then, \mathcal{E} is a subbundle of \mathcal{E}_0 and $\mathbb{R}^p \pi_*(\mathcal{F} \otimes \mathcal{E}_0) = 0$ for any p > 0.

Considering the same procedure to the quotient bundle $\mathcal{E}_0/\mathcal{E}$, and repeating, we have a long exact sequence

$$0 \to \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{E}_0 \to \cdots \to \mathcal{E}_{d-1}$$

of locally free sheaves such that $\mathbb{R}^p \pi_*(\mathcal{F} \otimes \mathcal{E}_i) = 0$ for any $p > 0, 0 \le i \le d - 1$. We set \mathcal{E}_d to be the cokernel of $\mathcal{E}_{d-2} \to \mathcal{E}_{d-1}$. Then, \mathcal{E}_d is locally free and

$$\mathrm{R}^p \, \pi_*(\mathcal{F} \otimes \mathcal{E}_d) \simeq \mathrm{R}^{p+d} \, \pi_*(\mathcal{F} \otimes \mathcal{E}) = 0$$

for any p > 0. Thus, we have an expected exact sequence.

Therefore, we have a well-defined homomorphism $\pi^{\mathcal{F}}_* \colon K^{\bullet}(X) \to K^{\bullet}(Y)$ by

$$\pi^{\mathcal{F}}_{*}(\mathrm{cl}^{\bullet}(\mathcal{E})) := \sum (-1)^{i} \mathrm{cl}^{\bullet}(\pi_{*}(\mathcal{F} \otimes \mathcal{E}_{i}))$$

under Assumption 2.1. Here, for any $x \in K^{\bullet}(X)$, we have

$$\boldsymbol{\phi}(\pi_*^{\mathcal{F}}(x)) = \pi_*(x \operatorname{cl}_{\bullet}(\mathcal{F}))$$

for $\pi_* \colon K_{\bullet}(X) \to K_{\bullet}(Y)$ and the Cartan homomorphism $\phi \colon K^{\bullet}(Y) \to K_{\bullet}(Y)$.

Remark. Lemma 2.2 shows that $\mathbf{R} \pi_* \mathcal{F}$ is a perfect complex even if π is only a locally projective morphism or if Y does not admit ample invertible sheaves. Thus, $\pi^{\mathcal{F}}_*$ is defined as a homomorphism from $K^{\bullet}(X)$ to the K-group $K^{\bullet}(Y)_{\text{perf}}$ of the category of $\mathsf{D}(Y)_{\text{perf}}$ of perfect complexes on Y (cf. [13], Exp. IV, Section 2).

Lemma 2.3. Let $h: Y' \to Y$ be a morphism from another Noetherian scheme $Y', X' = X \times_Y Y'$, and let $q_1: X' \to X$ and $q_2: X' \to Y'$ be natural projections. Then $\mathcal{F}' = q_1^* \mathcal{F}$ is flat over Y', and the equality

$$q_{2*}^{\mathcal{F}'}(q_1^*x \cdot q_2^*y') = h^*(\pi_*^{\mathcal{F}}(x)) \cdot y'$$

holds in $K^{\bullet}(Y')_{\text{perf}}$ for $x \in K^{\bullet}(X)$ and $y' \in K^{\bullet}(Y')$. If π is flat or if Y and Y' admit ample invertible sheaves, then the same equality holds in $K^{\bullet}(Y')$.

Proof. We may assume that y' = 1 by the projection formula

$$\mathbf{R} q_{2*}(\mathcal{F}' \otimes \mathcal{E}' \otimes q_2^* \mathcal{G}') \simeq \mathbf{R} q_{2*}(\mathcal{F}' \otimes \mathcal{E}') \otimes \mathcal{G}'$$

for locally free sheaves \mathcal{E}' on X' and \mathcal{G}' on Y'. Since \mathcal{F} is flat over Y, $\mathcal{F}' = q_1^* \mathcal{F}$ is also flat over Y' and is quasi-isomorphic to $\mathbf{L} q_1^* \mathcal{F}$. There is a natural base change morphism

$$\Theta \colon \operatorname{\mathbf{L}} h^* \operatorname{\mathbf{R}} \pi_*(\mathcal{F} \otimes \mathcal{E}) \to \operatorname{\mathbf{R}} q_{2*}(\operatorname{\mathbf{L}} q_1^*(\mathcal{F} \otimes \mathcal{E})) \simeq_{\operatorname{qis}} \operatorname{\mathbf{R}} q_{2*}(\mathcal{F}' \otimes q_1^* \mathcal{E})$$

for a locally free sheaf \mathcal{E} on X. It is enough to prove that Θ is a quasi-isomorphism. If $\mathbb{R}^i \pi_*(\mathcal{F} \otimes \mathcal{E}) = 0$ for any i > 0, then Θ is a quasi-isomorphism by the upper semicontinuity theorem applied to the coherent sheaf $\mathcal{F} \otimes \mathcal{E}$ flat over Y. Hence, by Lemma 2.2, if π is flat or Y and Y' admit ample invertible sheaves, then Θ is a quasi-isomorphism for any locally free sheaf \mathcal{E} . There exist open coverings $\{Y_\alpha\}$ of Y and $\{Y'_\alpha\}$ of Y' such that $Y'_\alpha \subset h^{-1}(Y_\alpha)$ and that Y and Y' admits ample invertible sheaves. Thus, Θ restricted to the derived category of Y'_α is a quasi-isomorphism for any α . Hence, Θ itself is also a quasi-isomorphism.

Definition 2.4. Let $\mathcal{L}_1, \ldots, \mathcal{L}_k$ be invertible sheaves of X, where $k \ge d + 1$. Under Assumption 2.1, we define

$$i_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\mathcal{L}_1, \dots, \mathcal{L}_k) := \varepsilon \left(\pi_*^{\mathcal{F}} \boldsymbol{\delta}_X^{(k)}(\mathcal{L}_1, \dots, \mathcal{L}_k) \right) \in \mathrm{H}^0(Y, \mathbb{Z}) = \mathbb{Z} \quad \text{for} \quad k \ge d,$$
$$\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\mathcal{L}_1, \dots, \mathcal{L}_k) := \det \left(\pi_*^{\mathcal{F}} \boldsymbol{\delta}_X^{(k)}(\mathcal{L}_1, \dots, \mathcal{L}_k) \right) \in \mathrm{Pic}(Y) \quad \text{for} \quad k \ge d+1,$$

where $\varepsilon \colon K^{\bullet}(Y) \to \mathrm{H}^{0}(Y,\mathbb{Z}) = \mathbb{Z}$ is the augmentation map and det: $K^{\bullet}(Y) \to \mathrm{Pic}(Y)$ is the determinant map. We call $i_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\underline{\mathcal{L}})$ the relative intersection number and $\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\underline{\mathcal{L}})$ the intersection sheaf for $\underline{\mathcal{L}} = (\mathcal{L}_{1}, \ldots, \mathcal{L}_{k})$. If $\mathcal{F} = \mathcal{O}_{X}$, then we write $i_{X/Y} = i_{\mathcal{F}/Y}$ and $\mathcal{I}_{X/Y} = \mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}/Y}$.

Remark 2.5. By Remark 1.4, we can write

$$\mathcal{I}_{X/Y}(\mathcal{L}_1,\ldots,\mathcal{L}_{d+1}) = \bigotimes_{I \subset \{1,\ldots,d+1\}} \left(\det(\mathbf{R}\,\pi_*\mathcal{L}_I^{-1}) \right)^{(-1)^{\sharp I}},$$

where $\mathcal{L}_I = \mathcal{L}_{i_1} \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathcal{L}_{i_k}$ for $I = \{i_1, \ldots, i_k\}$ with $\sharp I = k > 0$, and $\mathcal{L}_I = \mathcal{O}_X$ for the empty set $I = \emptyset$. A similar but different formula is written in [5], page 34 (cf. [6], Section IV.1).

Remark. There is also the augmentation map $\varepsilon \colon K^{\bullet}(Y)_{\text{perf}} \to \mathrm{H}^{0}(Y,\mathbb{Z})$ and the determinant map det: $K^{\bullet}(Y)_{\text{perf}} \to \mathrm{Pic}(Y)$, which are lifts of the same maps from $K^{\bullet}(Y)$, respectively. In fact, ε is defined by ranks of locally free sheaves, and the existence of det is proved by Knudsen–Mumford [15]. Therefore, even if π is only a locally projective morphism and even if Y has no ample invertible sheaves, one can define the relative intersection number $i_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\underline{\mathcal{L}})$ and the intersection sheaf $\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\underline{\mathcal{L}})$ by using ε and det from $K^{\bullet}(Y)_{\text{perf}}$.

Lemma 2.6. $\varepsilon(\pi_*^{\mathcal{F}}(x)) = 0$ for any $x \in F^{d+1}(X)$. In particular, $i_{\mathcal{F}/Y}$ gives rise to a homomorphism $G^d(X) \to G^0(Y) \simeq \mathbb{Z}$. Furthermore, $i_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(x) = i(x|_{\mathsf{F}}; \mathcal{F} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{F}})$ for any fiber F of π and for any $x \in G^d(X)$.

Proof. By Lemma 2.3, $\varepsilon(\pi_*^{\mathcal{F}}(x)) = i(x|_{\mathsf{F}}; \mathcal{F} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{F}})$ for any $x \in F^d(X)$. So, we may assume Y to be Speck for a field k. Then $\varepsilon(\pi_*^{\mathcal{F}}(x)) = i(x; \mathcal{F}) = 0$ for $x \in F^{d+1}(X)$, since $x \operatorname{cl}_{\bullet}(\mathcal{F}) \in F^{d+1}(X)F_d(X) \subset F_{-1}(X) = 0$.

Proposition 2.7. Let $\mathcal{L}_1, \ldots, \mathcal{L}_k$ be invertible sheaves on X with surjective homomorphisms $\pi^* \mathcal{G}_i \to \mathcal{L}_i$ for locally free sheaves \mathcal{G}_i of finite rank on Y. If $k \ge d+2$, then $\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\mathcal{L}_1, \ldots, \mathcal{L}_k) \simeq \mathcal{O}_X$. If k = d+1, then there is a surjection

$$\Phi\colon \operatorname{Sym}^{e_1}(\mathcal{G}_1)\otimes\cdots\otimes\operatorname{Sym}^{e_{d+1}}(\mathcal{G}_{d+1})\to\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\mathcal{L}_1,\ldots,\mathcal{L}_{d+1}),$$

where $e_i = i_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\mathcal{L}_1, \ldots, \mathcal{L}_{i-1}, \mathcal{L}_{i+1}, \ldots, \mathcal{L}_{d+1})$ for $1 \leq i \leq d+1$.

Proof. Let $q^{(i)} \colon \mathbb{P}_Y^{(i)} \coloneqq \mathbb{P}_Y(\mathcal{G}_i^{\vee}) \to Y$ be the projective space bundle associated to \mathcal{G}_i^{\vee} , $\mathbb{P}_X^{(i)} \coloneqq X \times_Y \mathbb{P}_Y^{(i)}$, and let $p_1^{(i)} \colon \mathbb{P}_X^{(i)} \to X$ and $p_2^{(i)} \colon \mathbb{P}_X^{(i)} \to \mathbb{P}_Y^{(i)}$ be natural projections. For the tautological line bundle $\mathcal{O}(1)$ of $\mathbb{P}_Y^{(i)}$ with respect to \mathcal{G}_i^{\vee} , we have a natural homomorphism

$$p_1^{(i)*}\mathcal{L}_i^{\vee} \to p_1^{(i)*}\pi^*\mathcal{G}_i^{\vee} = p_2^{(i)*}q^{(i)*}\mathcal{G}_i^{\vee} \to p_2^{(i)*}\mathcal{O}(1),$$

and thus a global section $\sigma^{(i)}$ of $p_1^{(i)*} \mathcal{L}_i \otimes p_2^{(i)*} \mathcal{O}(1)$ which defines an effective Cartier divisor $B^{(i)} = \operatorname{div}(\sigma^{(i)})$ on $\mathbb{P}_X^{(i)}$. Then $B^{(i)} \to X$ is a projective space bundle isomorphic to $\mathbb{P}_X(\mathcal{K}_i^{\vee})$ for the kernel \mathcal{K}_i of $\pi^* \mathcal{G}_i \to \mathcal{L}_i$. Let $q \colon \mathbb{P}_Y \to Y$ be the fiber product $\mathbb{P}_Y = \mathbb{P}_Y^{(1)} \times \cdots \times \mathbb{P}_Y^{(k)}$ of the projective space bundles, $\mathbb{P}_X := X \times_Y \mathbb{P}_Y \simeq \mathbb{P}_X^{(1)} \times_X \cdots \times_X \mathbb{P}_X^{(k)}$, and let $p_1 \colon \mathbb{P}_X \to X$, $p_2 \colon \mathbb{P}_X \to \mathbb{P}_Y$, and $\pi^{(i)} \colon \mathbb{P}_X \to \mathbb{P}_X^{(i)}$ for $1 \le i \le k$ be natural projections. Then

$$V := \bigcap_{i=1}^{k} \pi^{(i)^{-1}}(B^{(i)}) \simeq B^{(1)} \times_{X} \cdots \times_{X} B^{(k)}.$$

The sections $\sigma^{(i)}$ give rise to a global section σ of the locally free sheaf

$$\mathcal{E} = \bigoplus_{i=1}^{k} p_1^* \mathcal{L}_i \otimes p_2^* \mathcal{O}(1)^{(i)},$$

where $\mathcal{O}(1)^{(i)}$ is the pullback of $\mathcal{O}(1)$ by $\mathbb{P}_Y \to \mathbb{P}_Y^{(i)}$. Furthermore, V coincides with the zero subscheme $V(\sigma)$ of σ (cf. Definition 1.5). Since V is smooth over X, we infer that σ is a regular section of \mathcal{E} . Moreover, σ is $p_1^* \mathcal{F}$ -regular, since $V \to X$ is flat. Hence, by Lemma 1.6, we have

$$\mathrm{cl}^{\bullet}(\mathcal{O}_{V}) = \lambda_{-1}(\mathcal{E}^{\vee}) = \boldsymbol{\delta}_{\mathbb{P}_{X}}^{(k)} \left(p_{1}^{*}\mathcal{L}_{1} \otimes p_{2}^{*}\mathcal{O}(1)^{(1)}, \dots, p_{1}^{*}\mathcal{L}_{k} \otimes p_{2}^{*}\mathcal{O}(1)^{(k)} \right).$$

Note that

$$p_{2*}^{p_1^*\mathcal{F}}(p_1^*x \cdot p_2^*y') = p_{2*}^{p_1^*\mathcal{F}}(p_1^*x) \cdot y' = q^*\pi_*^{\mathcal{F}}(x) \cdot y'$$

for $x \in K^{\bullet}(X)$ and $y' \in K^{\bullet}(\mathbb{P}_Y)$ by Lemma 2.3. Thus

$$p_{2}^{p_{1}^{*}\mathcal{F}}(\mathrm{cl}^{\bullet}(\mathcal{O}_{V})) - q^{*}\pi_{*}^{\mathcal{F}}\boldsymbol{\delta}(\mathcal{L}_{1},\ldots,\mathcal{L}_{k})$$

$$\equiv \sum_{i=1}^{k} q^{*}\pi_{*}^{\mathcal{F}}\boldsymbol{\delta}_{X}^{(k-1)}(\mathcal{L}_{1},\ldots,\mathcal{L}_{i-1},\mathcal{L}_{i+1},\ldots,\mathcal{L}_{k}) \cdot \boldsymbol{\delta}(\mathcal{O}(1)^{(i)}) \mod F^{2}(\mathbb{P}_{Y})$$

$$\equiv \sum_{i=1}^{k} i_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\mathcal{L}_{1},\ldots,\mathcal{L}_{i-1},\mathcal{L}_{i+1},\ldots,\mathcal{L}_{k}) \boldsymbol{\delta}(\mathcal{O}(1)^{(i)}) \mod F^{2}(\mathbb{P}_{Y}).$$

Since det: $K^{\bullet}(\mathbb{P}_Y) \to \operatorname{Pic}(\mathbb{P}_Y)$ is trivial on $F^2(\mathbb{P}_Y)$, we have an isomorphism

(II-1)
$$\det p_{2*}^{p_1^*\mathcal{F}}(\mathrm{cl}^{\bullet}(\mathcal{O}_V)) \simeq q^* \mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\mathcal{L}_1, \dots, \mathcal{L}_k) \otimes \bigotimes_{i=1}^k (\mathcal{O}(1)^{(i)})^{\otimes e_i}$$

for $e_i = i_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\mathcal{L}_1, \dots, \mathcal{L}_{i-1}, \mathcal{L}_{i+1}, \dots, \mathcal{L}_k)$. Note that

$$\dim(\operatorname{Supp} p_1^*\mathcal{F} \cap V)/Y = \dim(\operatorname{Supp} p_1^*\mathcal{F} \cap V)/\operatorname{Supp} \mathcal{F} + d = \dim \mathbb{P}_Y/Y - k + d.$$

If k > d, then $p_2(\operatorname{Supp} p_1^* \mathcal{F} \cap V) \neq \mathbb{P}_Y$ and moreover, $p_2(\operatorname{Supp} p_1^* \mathcal{F} \cap V)$ does not contain any fiber of $q: \mathbb{P}_Y \to Y$. Therefore, by the same arguments as in [17], Chapter 5, §§3–4 (cf. [7], [15]), we have an effective Cartier divisor

$$D = D_{\mathcal{F},\underline{\mathcal{L}}} = \operatorname{Div}(p_{2*}(p_1^*\mathcal{F} \otimes \mathcal{O}_V \otimes \mathcal{A}))$$

on \mathbb{P}_Y for an invertible sheaf \mathcal{A} of \mathbb{P}_X such that

$$\mathbf{R}^{i} p_{2*}(p_{1}^{*} \mathcal{F} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{V} \otimes \mathcal{A}) = 0$$

for any i > 0. Here, D does not depend on the choice of \mathcal{A} , D is a relative Cartier divisor with respect to $q: \mathbb{P}_Y \to Y$, i.e., D is flat over Y, and $\operatorname{Supp} D \subset p_2(\operatorname{Supp} p_1^* \mathcal{F} \cap V)$. By construction, we have an isomorphism

$$\det p_{2*}^{p_1^*\mathcal{F}}(\mathrm{cl}^{\bullet}(\mathcal{O}_V)) \simeq \det(\mathbf{R}\,p_{2*}(p_1^*\mathcal{F}\otimes\mathcal{O}_V)) \simeq \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}_Y}(D).$$

Hence, if k > d + 1, then D = 0 and $i_{\mathcal{F}}(\mathcal{L}_1, \ldots, \mathcal{L}_{i-1}, \mathcal{L}_{i+1}, \ldots, \mathcal{L}_k) = 0$ for any i; thus $\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\mathcal{L}_1, \ldots, \mathcal{L}_k) \simeq \mathcal{O}_Y$ by (II-1). Assume that k = d + 1. Then (II-1) implies that

$$q^* \mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\mathcal{L}_1,\ldots,\mathcal{L}_{d+1}) \otimes \bigotimes_{i=1}^{d+1} \left(\mathcal{O}(1)^{(i)} \right)^{\otimes e}$$

has a non-zero global section defining the divisor D. The section induces a section of

$$\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\mathcal{L}_1,\ldots,\mathcal{L}_{d+1})\otimes \bigotimes_{i=1}^{d+1} \operatorname{Sym}^{e_i}(\mathcal{G}_i^{\vee}),$$

and, equivalently, a homomorphism

$$\Phi\colon \bigotimes_{i=1}^{d+1} \operatorname{Sym}^{e_i}(\mathcal{G}_i) \to \mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\mathcal{L}_1, \dots, \mathcal{L}_{d+1}).$$

It remains only to show that Φ is surjective. The composition of

$$\bigotimes_{i=1}^{k} \mathcal{O}(-1)^{(i)} \to q^* \bigotimes_{i=1}^{d+1} \operatorname{Sym}^{e_i}(\mathcal{G}_i)$$

and $q^*\Phi$ is an injection between invertible sheaves whose cokernel defines D. In particular, $q^*\Phi$ is surjective outside D. Since D does not contain any fiber of q, we conclude that Φ is surjective.

Remark 2.8. Let $D = D_{\mathcal{F},\underline{\mathcal{L}}}$ be the effective Cartier divisor of $\mathbb{P}_Y = \mathbb{P}(\mathcal{G}_1^{\vee}) \times_Y \cdots \times_Y \mathbb{P}(\mathcal{G}_{d+1}^{\vee})$ in the proof of Proposition 2.7. In view of the proof, we infer that, for a point $y \in Y$, the effective divisor $D|_{q^{-1}(y)}$ is characterized by the following two conditions:

(1) For $1 \leq i \leq d$, let $\mathcal{O}(1)^{(i)}$ be the pullback of the tautological invertible sheaf of $\mathbb{P}_Y(\mathcal{G}_i^{\vee})$ with respect to \mathcal{G}_i^{\vee} . Then

$$\mathcal{O}_{q^{-1}(y)}(D|_{q^{-1}(y)}) \simeq \bigotimes_{i=1}^{d+1} (\mathcal{O}_Y(1)^{(i)})^{\otimes e_i}.$$

(2) Let v_i be a non-zero element of $\mathcal{G}_i \otimes \Bbbk(y)$ for $1 \leq i \leq d+1$. For $v = (v_1, \ldots, v_{d+1})$, let [v] be a point of $q^{-1}(y)$ corresponding to the surjections $v_i^{\vee} \colon \mathcal{G}_i^{\vee} \otimes \Bbbk(y) \to \Bbbk(y)$. Let v_i^X be the global section of $\mathcal{L}_i \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\pi^{-1}(y)}$ defined by $\pi^* \mathcal{G}_i \to \mathcal{L}_i$, and $v^X := (v_1^X, \ldots, v_{d+1}^X)$ as a global section of $(\mathcal{L}_1 \oplus \cdots \oplus \mathcal{L}_{d+1}) \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\pi^{-1}(y)}$. Then $[v] \notin \operatorname{Supp} D$ if and only if $V(v^X) \cap \operatorname{Supp} \mathcal{F} = \emptyset$ for the zero subscheme $V(v^X) \subset \pi^{-1}(y)$.

Remark. Assume that $Y = \operatorname{Spec} A$ for a ring $A, X = \mathbb{P}^d_A, \mathcal{F} = \mathcal{O}_X$, and $\mathcal{L}_i = \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^N}(m_i)$ for some $m_i > 0$. Then, for $\mathcal{G}_i = \operatorname{H}^0(X, \mathcal{L}_i) \simeq \operatorname{Sym}^{m_i}(A^{\oplus (d+1)})$, the homomorphism Φ in Proposition 2.7 defines the *resultants*: An element $v_i \in \mathcal{G}_i$ is regarded as a homogeneous polynomial of degree m_i with coefficients in A. Then

$$\Phi(v_1^{e_1} \otimes \cdots \otimes v_{d+1}^{e_{d+1}})$$

is the *resultant* of v_1, \ldots, v_{d+1} up to unit (cf. [5], Section 6.1).

Lemma 2.9 (cf. [6], Section III).

- (1) $\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\mathcal{L}_{\tau(1)},\ldots,\mathcal{L}_{\tau(d+1)}) \simeq \mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\mathcal{L}_1,\ldots,\mathcal{L}_{d+1})$ for any $\tau \in \operatorname{Aut}(\{1,\ldots,d+1\}) \simeq \mathfrak{S}_{d+1}$.
- (2) For another invertible sheaf \mathcal{L}'_1 , one has an isomorphism

 $\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\mathcal{L}_1 \otimes \mathcal{L}'_1, \mathcal{L}_2, \dots, \mathcal{L}_{d+1}) \simeq \mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\mathcal{L}_1, \mathcal{L}_2, \dots, \mathcal{L}_{d+1}) \otimes \mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\mathcal{L}'_1, \mathcal{L}_2, \dots, \mathcal{L}_{d+1}).$

(3) If σ_1 is an \mathcal{F} -regular section of \mathcal{L}_1 and if $\mathcal{F} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{B_1}$ is flat over Y for $B_1 = V(\sigma_1)$, then

 $\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\mathcal{L}_1,\ldots,\mathcal{L}_{d+1})\simeq \mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}\otimes\mathcal{O}_{B_1}/Y}(\mathcal{L}_2|_{B_1},\ldots,\mathcal{L}_{d+1}|_{B_1}).$

(4) If d = 0, then $\mathcal{I}_{X/Y}(\mathcal{L})$ is the norm sheaf of an invertible sheaf \mathcal{L} on X, i.e.,

$$\mathcal{I}_{X/Y}(\mathcal{L}) \simeq \det(\pi_*\mathcal{O}_X) \otimes \det(\pi_*\mathcal{L}^{-1})^{-1} \simeq \det(\pi_*\mathcal{L}) \otimes \det(\pi_*\mathcal{O}_X)^{-1}$$

Proof. (1) follows from Definition 1.3, and (2) from Remark 1.4 and Proposition 2.7. (3): The section σ_1 induces an exact sequence

$$0 \to \mathcal{F} \otimes \mathcal{L}_1^{-1} \to \mathcal{F} \to \mathcal{F} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{B_1} \to 0.$$

Thus, we have equalities

$$\boldsymbol{\delta}(\mathcal{L}_1) \operatorname{cl}_{\bullet}(\mathcal{F}) = \operatorname{cl}(\mathcal{F} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{B_1}),$$
$$\boldsymbol{\delta}_X(\mathcal{L}_1, \dots, \mathcal{L}_{d+1}) \operatorname{cl}_{\bullet}(\mathcal{F}) = i_* \left(\boldsymbol{\delta}_{B_1}(\mathcal{L}_2|_{B_1}, \dots, \mathcal{L}_{d+1}|_{B_1}) \operatorname{cl}_{\bullet}(\mathcal{F} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{B_1}) \right)$$

in $K_{\bullet}(X)$ for the closed immersion $i: B_1 \subset X$. Hence, the expected isomorphism is derived.

(4) follows from Remark 1.4, (2).

We recall the following well-known result on Segre classes (cf. [6], Section V):

Lemma 2.10. Suppose that $X = \mathbb{P}_Y(\mathcal{E})$ for a locally free sheaf \mathcal{E} of rank r on Y. Then for the tautological line bundle $\mathcal{O}(1)$ with respect to \mathcal{E} , one has

$$\pi_*(\boldsymbol{\delta}(\mathcal{O}(1))^l) = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } 0 \le l < r; \\ \boldsymbol{\delta}(\det \mathcal{E}), & \text{if } l = r. \end{cases}$$

Furthermore, the following equality holds for any $i \ge 0$:

$$\sum_{k=0}^{r} \gamma^{r-k} (\mathrm{cl}^{\bullet}(\mathcal{E}^{\vee}) - r) \pi_*(\boldsymbol{\delta}(\mathcal{O}(1))^{i+k}) = 0.$$

In particular, for $i \geq 0$,

$$\mathbf{s}^{i}(\mathcal{E}) = \pi_{*}(\boldsymbol{\delta}(\mathcal{O}(1))^{r+i-1}) \mod F^{i+1}(X) \in G^{i}(X)$$

can be regarded as the *i*-th Segre class of \mathcal{E} .

Proof. The first assertion follows from

$$\mathbf{R}^{p} \pi_{*} \mathcal{O}(-l) = \begin{cases} 0, & \text{for } l < r \text{ or } p < r - 1; \\ \det \mathcal{E}^{\vee}, & \text{for } l = r \text{ and } p = r - 1, \end{cases}$$

since

$$\boldsymbol{\delta}(\mathcal{O}(1))^{l} = \sum_{i=0}^{l} (-1)^{i} \binom{l}{i} \operatorname{cl}^{\bullet}(\mathcal{O}(-i)).$$

Let \mathcal{G} be the cokernel of the natural injection $\mathcal{O}(-1) \to \pi^* \mathcal{E}^{\vee}$. Then

$$\gamma_t \left(\mathrm{cl}^{\bullet}(\mathcal{G}) - (r-1) \right) = \gamma_t \left(\mathrm{cl}^{\bullet}(\pi^* \mathcal{E}^{\vee}) - r \right) \gamma_t \left(\mathrm{cl}^{\bullet}(\mathcal{O}(-1)) - 1 \right)^{-1}.$$

The left hand side equals the polynomial

$$\lambda_{t/(1-t)}(cl^{\bullet}(\mathcal{G}) - (r-1)) = \sum_{p=0}^{r-1} \lambda^{p}(\mathcal{G})t^{p}(1-t)^{r-1-p}$$

of degree r-1. The right hand side equals

$$\left(\sum_{i=0}^r \gamma^i (\pi^* \operatorname{cl}^{\bullet}(\mathcal{E}^{\vee}) - r)) t^i\right) \left(\sum_{j\geq 0} \delta(\mathcal{O}(1))^j t^j\right),$$

so the coefficient of t^{r+i} for $i \ge 0$ equals

$$\sum_{k=0}^{r} \gamma^{r-k} (\pi^* \operatorname{cl}^{\bullet}(\mathcal{E}^{\vee}) - r) \, \boldsymbol{\delta}(\mathcal{O}(1))^{i+k}.$$

By taking π_* , we have the second expected equality. Comparing with the Chern classes $\boldsymbol{c}^p(\mathcal{E}^{\vee}) = \gamma^p(\mathrm{cl}^{\bullet}(\mathcal{E}^{\vee}) - r) \mod F^{p+1}(Y)$, we have

$$\sum_{k=0}^{m} \boldsymbol{c}^{m-k}(\mathcal{E}^{\vee}) \, \boldsymbol{s}^{k}(\mathcal{E}) = \sum_{k=0}^{m} \gamma^{m-k} (\operatorname{cl}^{\bullet}(\mathcal{E}^{\vee}) - r) \pi_{*}(\boldsymbol{\delta}(\mathcal{O}(1))^{r+k-1}) \mod F^{m+1}(Y)$$
$$= \sum_{k=0}^{r} \gamma^{r-k} (\operatorname{cl}^{\bullet}(\mathcal{E}^{\vee}) - r) \pi_{*}(\boldsymbol{\delta}(\mathcal{O}(1))^{m-1+k}) \mod F^{m+1}(Y)$$
$$= 0$$

for m > 0. Thus, $\boldsymbol{s}^{i}(\mathcal{E})$ is the *i*-th Segre class.

The following is proved essentially by an argument in [6], Section V.

Proposition 2.11. If $x \in F^{d+2}(X)$, then $\pi_*^{\mathcal{F}}(x) \in F^2(Y)$. In particular, $\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(x) := \det \pi_*^{\mathcal{F}}(x)$ gives rise to a homomorphism $G^{d+1}(X) \to G^1(Y) \simeq \operatorname{Pic}(Y)$.

Proof. By definition, $F^k(X)$ is generated by elements of the form $\xi = \gamma^{i_1}(x_1) \cdots \gamma^{i_l}(x_l)$ for positive integers i_j with $i_1 + \cdots + i_l = k$, where $x_i = \operatorname{cl}(\mathcal{E}_i) - r_i$ for a locally free sheaf \mathcal{E}_i of rank r_i . Thus, $\xi \mod F^{k+1}(X)$ is written as the product $\mathbf{c}^{i_1}(\mathcal{E}_1) \cdots \mathbf{c}^{i_l}(\mathcal{E}_l)$ of Chern classes. Chern classes are expressed by Segre classes. Thus, $G^k(X)$ is generated by the products $\mathbf{s}^{j_1}(\mathcal{E}_1) \cdots \mathbf{s}^{j_l}(\mathcal{E}_l)$ of Segre classes. Let r_i be the rank of the locally free sheaf \mathcal{E}_i . For the product $p: P = \mathbb{P}_X(\mathcal{E}_1) \times_X \cdots \times_X \mathbb{P}_X(\mathcal{E}_l) \to X$ of projective space bundles over X, and for the pullback $\mathcal{O}(1)^{(i)}$ of the tautological line bundle $\mathcal{O}(1)$ on $\mathbb{P}_X(\mathcal{E}_i)$ by $P \to \mathbb{P}_X(\mathcal{E}_i)$, we have

$$s^{j_1}(\mathcal{E}_1) \cdots s^{j_l}(\mathcal{E}_l) = p_* \left(\delta(\mathcal{O}(1)^{(1)})^{r_1 + j_1 - 1} \, \delta(\mathcal{O}(1)^{(2)})^{r_2 + j_2 - 1} \cdots \delta(\mathcal{O}(1)^{(l)})^{r_l + j_l - 1} \right) \mod F^{j_1 + \dots + j_l + 1}(X)$$

for $j_1, \ldots, j_l \ge 0$ by Lemma 2.10. If $\sum j_i > d+1$, then $\sum (r_i + j_i - 1) > \dim P/Y + 1$, and hence,

$$\mathcal{I}_{p^*\mathcal{F}/Y}\left(\boldsymbol{\delta}(\mathcal{O}(1)^{(1)})^{r_1+j_1-1}\cdots\boldsymbol{\delta}(\mathcal{O}(1)^{(l)})^{r_l+j_l-1}\right) = \mathcal{O}_Y$$

by Proposition 2.7. Therefore, $\pi_*^{\mathcal{F}}(F^{d+2}(X)) \subset F^2(Y)$.

Lemma 2.12. Let $h: Y' \to Y$ be a morphism from a Noetherian scheme $Y', X' = X \times_Y Y'$, and $\mathcal{F}' = q_1^* \mathcal{F}$ for the natural projection $q_1: X' \to X$. Assume that Y' admits an ample invertible sheaf when π is not flat. Then one has an isomorphism

$$h^* \mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\eta) \simeq \mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}'/Y'}(q_1^*\eta)$$

20

for any $\eta \in G^{d+1}(X)$.

Proof. Proposition 2.11 above and the base change formula

$$q_{2*}^{\mathcal{F}'}(q_1^*x) = h^*(\pi_*^{\mathcal{F}}(x))$$

for $x \in K^{\bullet}(X)$ shown in Lemma 2.3 imply the equality

$$q_{2*}^{\mathcal{F}'}(q_1^*\eta) = h^*(\pi_*^{\mathcal{F}}(\eta))$$

in $G^1(Y') = \operatorname{Pic}(Y')$. Thus, the required isomorphism is obtained.

The following Lemma 2.13 and Corollary 2.14 are similar to the projection formulas shown in [6], Proposition IV.2.2 (b), and [18], Propositions 5.2.1 and 5.2.2.

Lemma 2.13. Let $\psi: Y \to S$ be a projective surjective flat morphism to a connected Noetherian scheme S with the relative dimension $e = \dim Y/S$, and \mathcal{G} a locally free sheaf on Y of finite rank. Suppose that \mathcal{F} is flat over S and that S admits an ample invertible sheaf when π is not flat. Then, there exist isomorphisms

$$\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}\otimes\pi^*\mathcal{G}/S}(\eta\pi^*\theta) \simeq \mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{G}/S}(\mathbf{c}^1(\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\eta))\theta) \quad and \quad \mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}\otimes\pi^*\mathcal{G}/S}(\eta'\pi^*\theta') \simeq \mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{G}/S}(\theta')^{\otimes i_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\eta')}$$

for $\eta \in G^{d+1}(X), \ \eta' \in G^d(X), \ \theta \in G^e(Y), \ and \ \theta' \in G^{e+1}(Y).$

Proof. The assertion follows from the projection formula

$$\pi_*^{\mathcal{F} \otimes \pi^* \mathcal{G}}(x \pi^* y) = \psi_*^{\mathcal{G}}(\pi_*^{\mathcal{F}}(x) y)$$

for any $x \in K^{\bullet}(X)$ and $y \in K^{\bullet}(Y)$. This is derived from the quasi-isomorphism

$$\mathbf{R}(\psi \circ \pi)_* \left(\mathcal{F} \otimes \pi^* \mathcal{G} \otimes (\mathcal{E} \otimes \pi^* \mathcal{V}) \right) \simeq_{\mathrm{qis}} \mathbf{R} \, \psi_* \left(\left(\mathcal{G} \otimes \mathcal{V} \right) \otimes^{\mathrm{L}} \mathbf{R} \, \pi_* (\mathcal{F} \otimes \mathcal{E}) \right)$$

for any locally free sheaves \mathcal{E} on X and \mathcal{V} on Y of finite rank.

Corollary 2.14. For $\theta \in G^d(X)$ and an invertible sheaf \mathcal{M} on Y, one has an isomorphism

$$\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\theta \, \boldsymbol{c}^1(\pi^*\mathcal{M})) \simeq \mathcal{M}^{\otimes i_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\theta)}.$$

Proof. Apply the second isomorphism in Lemma 2.13 to $\theta \in G^d(X)$ and $c^1(\mathcal{M}) \in G^1(Y)$ in the case where ψ is the identity map of Y.

Proposition 2.15. Let \mathcal{E} be a locally free sheaf on X of rank d+1 admitting a surjection $\pi^*\mathcal{G} \to \mathcal{E}$ for a locally free sheaf \mathcal{G} on Y of finite rank. Then $i_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\mathbf{c}^d(\mathcal{E})) \ge 0$ and there is a natural surjection

$$\Phi\colon \operatorname{Sym}^{i_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\boldsymbol{c}^{d}(\mathcal{E}))}(\mathcal{G}) \to \mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\boldsymbol{c}^{d+1}(\mathcal{E})).$$

Proof. We shall prove by essentially the same argument as in Proposition 2.7. Let $q: \mathbb{P} := \mathbb{P}_Y(\mathcal{G}^{\vee}) \to Y$ be the projective space bundle and $\mathcal{O}(1)$ the tautological invertible sheaf associated with \mathcal{G}^{\vee} . Let \mathbb{P}_X be the fiber product $X \times_Y \mathbb{P}$, and let $p_1: \mathbb{P}_X \to X$ and $p_2: \mathbb{P}_X \to \mathbb{P}$ be the natural projections. Pulling back the natural injection $\mathcal{O}(-1) \to q^*\mathcal{G}$ to \mathbb{P}_X , we can consider the composite

$$p_2^*\mathcal{O}(-1) \to p_2^*q^*\mathcal{G} = p_1^*\pi^*\mathcal{G} \to p_1^*\mathcal{E}$$

and hence a section σ of $p_1^* \mathcal{E} \otimes p_2^* \mathcal{O}(1)$. The zero subscheme $V = V(\sigma)$ is isomorphic to $\mathbb{P}_X(\mathcal{K}^{\vee})$ for the kernel \mathcal{K} of $\pi^* \mathcal{G} \to \mathcal{E}$. Since $V \to X$ is smooth, the section σ is regular and furthermore $p_1^* \mathcal{F}$ -regular. Thus,

$$\operatorname{cl}^{\bullet}(\mathcal{O}_{V}) = \lambda_{-1} \left(p_{1}^{*} \mathcal{E}^{\vee} \otimes p_{2}^{*} \mathcal{O}(-1) \right) = (-1)^{d+1} \gamma^{d+1} \left(\operatorname{cl}^{\bullet}(p_{1}^{*} \mathcal{E}^{\vee} \otimes p_{2}^{*} \mathcal{O}(-1)) - (d+1) \right)$$

and $\operatorname{cl}_{\bullet}(\mathcal{F} \otimes \mathcal{O}_V) = \operatorname{cl}_{\bullet}(\mathcal{F}) \operatorname{cl}^{\bullet}(\mathcal{O}_V)$ by Lemma 1.6.

Claim 2.16.

$$\det p_{2*}^{p_1^*\mathcal{F}}(\mathrm{cl}^{\bullet}(\mathcal{O}_V)) \simeq q^* \mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\boldsymbol{c}^{d+1}(\mathcal{E})) \otimes \mathcal{O}(1)^{\otimes i_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\boldsymbol{c}^d(\mathcal{E}))}$$

Proof. We set $l = cl^{\bullet}(\mathcal{O}(-1)) \in K^{\bullet}(\mathbb{P}), y = \delta(\mathcal{O}(1)) = 1 - l$, and $x = cl^{\bullet}(\mathcal{E}^{\vee}) \in K^{\bullet}(X)$. Then

$$\begin{split} \lambda_{-1}(p_1^*x \cdot p_2^*l) &= \sum_{k \ge 0} (-1)^k p_1^*(\lambda^k(x)) \cdot (p_2^*l)^k = \sum_{k \ge 0} p_1^*(\lambda^k(x)) \cdot p_2^*(y-1)^k \\ &= \sum_{0 \le j \le k \le d+1} (-1)^{k-j} \binom{k}{j} p_1^*(\lambda^k(x)) \cdot p_2^*y^j \\ &= \sum_{j=0}^{d+1} p_1^* \left(\sum_{k=j}^{d+1} (-1)^{k-j} \binom{k}{j} \lambda^k(x) \right) \cdot p_2^*y^j. \end{split}$$

By Lemma 2.3, we have

$$p_{2*}^{p_1^*\mathcal{F}}(\mathrm{cl}^{\bullet}(\mathcal{O}_V)) = \sum_{j=0}^{d+1} q^* \pi_*^{\mathcal{F}} \left(\sum_{k=j}^{d+1} (-1)^{k-j} \binom{k}{j} \lambda^k(x) \right) \cdot y^j$$

$$\equiv q^* \pi_*^{\mathcal{F}}(\lambda_{-1}(x)) + q^* \pi_*^{\mathcal{F}} \left(\sum_{k=1}^{d+1} (-1)^{k-1} k \lambda^k(x) \right) \cdot y \mod F^2(\mathbb{P}).$$

Hence, Claim 2.16 follows from the equality:

(II-2)
$$\varepsilon \left(\pi_*^{\mathcal{F}} \left(\sum_{k=1}^{d+1} (-1)^{k-1} k \lambda^k (\mathrm{cl}^{\bullet}(\mathcal{E}^{\vee})) \right) \right) = \varepsilon (\pi_*^{\mathcal{F}} \mathbf{c}^d(\mathcal{E})).$$

We shall show (II–2) as follows: Comparing the coefficients of t^d on the both side of the equality

$$\gamma_t(x - (d+1)) = \sum_{k=0}^{d+1} \lambda^k(x) t^k (1-t)^{d+1-k},$$

we have

$$\begin{split} \gamma^d(x - (d+1)) &= \sum_{k=0}^d (-1)^{d-k} (d+1-k) \lambda^k(x) \\ &= (-1)^d (d+1) \sum_{k=0}^{d+1} (-1)^k \lambda^k(x) - (-1)^d \sum_{k=1}^{d+1} (-1)^k k \lambda^k(x) \\ &= (-1)^d (d+1) \lambda_{-1}(x) + (-1)^d \left(\sum_{k=1}^{d+1} (-1)^{k-1} k \lambda^k(x) \right). \end{split}$$

Here $\varepsilon(\pi_*^{\mathcal{F}}\lambda_{-1}(x)) = \varepsilon(\pi_*^{\mathcal{F}} c^{d+1}(\mathcal{E}^{\vee})) = 0$ by Lemmas 1.6 and 2.6. Thus, we have the equality (II–2) by

$$\varepsilon(\pi_*^{\mathcal{F}} \boldsymbol{c}^d(\mathcal{E})) = (-1)^d \varepsilon(\pi_*^{\mathcal{F}} \boldsymbol{c}^d(\mathcal{E}^{\vee}))$$
$$= (-1)^d \varepsilon(\pi_*^{\mathcal{F}} \gamma^d(x - (d+1))) = \varepsilon \left(\pi_*^{\mathcal{F}} \left(\sum_{k=1}^{d+1} (-1)^{k-1} k \lambda^k(x)\right)\right). \qquad \Box$$

Proof of Proposition 2.15 continued. We infer that $p_2(\operatorname{Supp} p_1^* \mathcal{F} \cap V)$ does not contain any fiber of $q: \mathbb{P} \to Y$ by dim $(\operatorname{Supp} p_1^* \mathcal{F} \cap V)/Y = N - 1 = \dim \mathbb{P}/Y - 1$. Thus, by arguments in [17], Chapter 5, §§3–4, we have an effective relative Cartier divisor $D = D_{\mathcal{F},\mathcal{E}}$ on \mathbb{P} with respect to q such that $D \subset p_2(\operatorname{Supp} p_1^* \mathcal{F} \cap V)$ and

$$\det p_{2*}^{p_1^*\mathcal{F}}(\mathrm{cl}^{\bullet}(\mathcal{O}_V)) = \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(D).$$

By Claim 2.16, we have a global section of

$$q^* \mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\boldsymbol{c}^{d+1}(\mathcal{E})) \otimes \mathcal{O}(1)^{\otimes i_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\boldsymbol{c}^d(\mathcal{E}))}$$

Restricting it to a fiber of q, we infer that $i_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\mathbf{c}^d(\mathcal{E})) \geq 0$. The global section gives a surjection

$$\Phi\colon \operatorname{Sym}^{i_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\boldsymbol{c}^{d}(\mathcal{E}))}\mathcal{G} \to \mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\boldsymbol{c}^{d+1}(\mathcal{E})).$$

by the same argument as in the proof of Proposition 2.7.

Remark 2.17 (cf. Remark 2.8). Let $D = D_{\mathcal{F},\mathcal{E}}$ be the effective relative Cartier divisor of $\mathbb{P} = \mathbb{P}_Y(\mathcal{G}^{\vee})$ in the proof of Proposition 2.15. From the proof, we infer that, for a point $y \in Y$, the effective divisor $D|_{q^{-1}(y)}$ of the fiber $q^{-1}(y)$ of $q \colon \mathbb{P} \to Y$ is characterized by the following two conditions:

(1) For the tautological invertible sheaf $\mathcal{O}(1)$ of the projective space $q^{-1}(y)$, one has

$$\mathcal{O}_{q^{-1}(y)}(D|_{q^{-1}(y)}) \simeq \mathcal{O}(1)^{\otimes i_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(c^d(\mathcal{E}))}.$$

(2) Let v be a non-zero element of $\mathcal{G} \otimes \Bbbk(y)$. Let [v] be a point of $q^{-1}(y)$ corresponding to the surjection $v^{\vee} \colon \mathcal{G}^{\vee} \otimes \Bbbk(y) \to \Bbbk(y)$. Let v^X be the global section of $\mathcal{E} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\pi^{-1}(y)}$ defined by $\pi^*\mathcal{G} \to \mathcal{E}$. Then $[v] \notin \operatorname{Supp} D$ if and only if $V(v^X) \cap \operatorname{Supp} \mathcal{F} = \emptyset$ for the zero subscheme $V(v^X) \subset \pi^{-1}(y)$.

Lemma 2.18. If $\mathcal{E} = \mathcal{L}_1 \oplus \cdots \oplus \mathcal{L}_{d+1}$ for invertible sheaves \mathcal{L}_i and if $\mathcal{G} = \mathcal{G}_1 \oplus \cdots \oplus \mathcal{G}_{d+1}$ for locally free sheaves \mathcal{G}_i of finite rank with surjections $\pi^*\mathcal{G}_i \to \mathcal{L}_i$, then the natural surjection

$$\operatorname{Sym}^{e}(\mathcal{G}) \to \operatorname{Sym}^{e_1}(\mathcal{G}_1) \otimes \cdots \otimes \operatorname{Sym}^{e_l}(\mathcal{G}_l)$$

to a component is compatible with the surjections Φ in Propositions 2.7 and 2.15, where

$$e_i = i_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\mathcal{L}_1, \dots, \mathcal{L}_{i-1}, \mathcal{L}_{i+1}, \dots, \mathcal{L}_{d+1})$$
 and $e = i_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\mathbf{c}^d(\mathcal{E})) = \sum_{i=1}^{d+1} e_i$

Proof. Let \mathcal{V} be the locally free sheaf $\bigoplus_{i=1}^{d+1} \mathcal{O}(1)^{(i)}$ on $\mathbb{P}_Y = \mathbb{P}_Y(\mathcal{G}_1^{\vee}) \times_Y \cdots \times_Y \mathbb{P}_Y(\mathcal{G}_{d+1}^{\vee})$, where $\mathcal{O}(1)^{(i)}$ is the pullback of the tautological invertible sheaf by $\mathbb{P}_Y \to \mathbb{P}_Y(\mathcal{G}_i^{\vee})$. Then there is a birational morphism $\mu \colon \mathbb{P}(\mathcal{V}) \to \mathbb{P}_Y(\mathcal{G}^{\vee})$ for the projective space bundle $\varpi \colon \mathbb{P}(\mathcal{V}) \to \mathbb{P}_Y$ such that the tautological invertible sheaf of $\mathbb{P}(\mathcal{V})$ associated to \mathcal{V} is just the pullback of the tautological invertible sheaf of $\mathbb{P}(\mathcal{G}^{\vee})$ by μ . Let $\Gamma_i \subset \mathbb{P}(\mathcal{V})$ be the projective subbundle associated with the quotient locally free sheaf $\mathcal{V}/\mathcal{O}(1)^{(i)}$ for $1 \leq i \leq d+1$. Then Γ_i is a Cartier divisor such that

$$\mathcal{O}(\Gamma_i) \otimes \varpi^* \mathcal{O}(1)^{(i)} \simeq \mu^* \mathcal{O}(1) \text{ and } \mu(\Gamma_i) = \mathbb{P}_Y(\mathcal{G}^{\vee}/\mathcal{G}_i^{\vee}) \subset \mathbb{P}_Y(\mathcal{G}^{\vee}).$$

For a point $y \in Y$, let $v = (v_1, \ldots, v_{d+1})$ be a non-zero element of $\mathcal{G} \otimes \Bbbk(y)$, where $v_i \in \mathcal{G}_i \otimes \Bbbk(y)$. Then $[v] \in \mathbb{P}_Y(\mathcal{G}^{\vee}) \times_Y y$ is not contained in $\mu(\Gamma_i)$ if and only if $v_i \neq 0$. Let $D_0 = D_{\mathcal{F},\underline{\mathcal{L}}}$ be the effective relative Cartier divisor on \mathbb{P}_Y defining Φ in the proof of Proposition 2.7. Let $D_1 = D_{\mathcal{F},\mathcal{E}}$ be the effective relative Cartier divisor on $\mathbb{P}_Y(\mathcal{G}^{\vee})$ defining Φ in the proof of Proposition 2.15. Then,

$$\varpi^* D_0 + \sum_{i=1}^{d+1} e_i \Gamma_i \sim \mu^* D_1$$

and $\mu_*(\varpi^*D_0) = D_1$ over $\mathbb{P}_Y(\mathcal{G}^{\vee}) \setminus \bigcup_{i=1}^{d+1} \mu(\Gamma_i)$, by Remarks 2.8 and 2.17. Hence,

$$\varpi^* D_0 + \sum_{i=1}^{d+1} e_i \Gamma_i = \mu^* D_1$$

since the invertible sheaves $\mathcal{O}(1)^{(i)}$ are linearly independent in $\operatorname{Pic}(\mathbb{P}_Y)$. The push-forward on Y of the natural injection

$$\varpi^*\left(\bigotimes_{i=1}^{d+1}(\mathcal{O}(1)^{(i)})^{\otimes e_i}\right) \hookrightarrow \mu^*\mathcal{O}(1)^{\otimes e_i}$$

is just the injection

$$\bigotimes_{i=1}^{d+1} \operatorname{Sym}^{e_i}(\mathcal{G}_i^{\vee}) \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Sym}^{e}(\mathcal{G}^{\vee}).$$

Hence, two Φ are related by

$$\Phi\colon \operatorname{Sym}^{e}(\mathcal{G}) \to \bigotimes_{i=1}^{d+1} \operatorname{Sym}^{e_{i}}(\mathcal{G}_{i}) \xrightarrow{\Phi} \mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\mathcal{L}_{1}, \dots, \mathcal{L}_{d+1}).$$

Definition 2.19 ([9]). Let $P = P(x_1, x_2, ..., x_r) \in \mathbb{Z}[x_1, ..., x_r]$ be a weighted homogeneous polynomial with the weight of x_i being *i*. If

$$i(P(\boldsymbol{c}^{1}(\mathcal{E}),\ldots,\boldsymbol{c}^{r}(\mathcal{E}));X) = \int_{X} P(\boldsymbol{c}^{1}(\mathcal{E}),\ldots,\boldsymbol{c}^{r}(\mathcal{E})) > 0$$

for any projective variety X defined over a field and for any ample vector bundle \mathcal{E} of rank r on X, then P is called *numerically positive* for ample vector bundles.

Fact 2.20. If $P \in \mathbb{Z}[x_1, \ldots, x_r]$ is a weighted homogeneous polynomial of weight x_i being i, then P is expressed uniquely as $\sum_{\lambda} a_{\lambda} P_{\lambda}$ for the Schur polynomial P_{λ} associated with the 'partition' λ and $a_{\lambda} \in \mathbb{Z}$. Fulton–Lazarsfeld [9] showed that P is numerically positive for ample vector bundles if and only if $P \neq 0$ and $a_{\lambda} \geq 0$.

Proposition 2.21. Let $P \in \mathbb{Z}[x_1, \ldots, x_r]$ be a numerically positive polynomial of degree d + 1 for ample vector bundles. Let \mathcal{E} be a locally free sheaf on X of rank r generated by global sections, and \mathcal{F} a coherent sheaf on X flat over Y. Then $\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(P(\mathcal{E})) := \mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(P(\mathcal{C}^1(\mathcal{E}), \ldots, \mathcal{C}^r(\mathcal{E})))$ is generated by global sections.

Proof. We may assume that P is a Schur polynomial P_{λ} . By [14] and [9], there is a smooth projective morphism $q: W \to X$ and a locally free sheaf \mathcal{H} on W of rank N such that \mathcal{H} is generated by global sections and

$$q_* \boldsymbol{c}^N(\mathcal{H}) = P(\boldsymbol{c}^1(\mathcal{E}), \dots, \boldsymbol{c}^r(\mathcal{E})) \in G^{d+1}(X).$$

Thus, $\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(P(\mathcal{E})) \simeq \mathcal{I}_{q^*\mathcal{F}/Y}(\mathbf{c}^N(\mathcal{H}))$, which is globally generated by Proposition 2.15. \Box

3. Intersection sheaves over normal base schemes

We shall define the intersection sheaves for non-flat equi-dimensional locally projective morphisms defined only over normal separated Noetherian schemes. Let us fix a normal separated Noetherian scheme Y. For the sake of simplicity, we assume that Y is integral. Let $\pi: X \to Y$ be a proper surjective morphism from a Noetherian scheme X. We fix a non-negative integer d.

Definition 3.1. Let $\mathcal{V}_{\pi}^{(d)}(X)$ be the set of closed integral subschemes Z of X such that dim $(Z \cap \pi^{-1}(y)) \leq d$ for any point $y \in Y$ with dim $\mathcal{O}_{Y,y} \leq 1$. We define $K_{\pi}^{(d)}(X)$ to be the subgroup of $K_{\bullet}(X)$ generated by the images of $K_{\bullet}(Z) \to K_{\bullet}(X)$ for all the closed integral subschemes $Z \in \mathcal{V}_{\pi}^{(d)}(X)$. We also define $\operatorname{Coh}_{\pi}^{(d)}(X)$ to be the set of coherent sheaves \mathcal{F} on X such that any irreducible component of Supp \mathcal{F} belongs to $\mathcal{V}_{\pi}^{(d)}(X)$.

Note that, for a closed integral subscheme Z, if $\pi(Z) = Y$ and if $\dim(Z \cap \pi^{-1}(*)) \leq d$ for the generic point * of Y, then $Z \in \mathcal{V}_{\pi}^{(d)}(X)$.

Lemma 3.2. If $\xi \in K_{\pi}^{(d)}(X)$, then

$$\pi_*(F^{d+1}(X)\xi) \subset F^1_{\operatorname{con}}(Y) \quad and \quad \pi_*(F^{d+2}(X)\xi) \subset F^2_{\operatorname{con}}(Y)$$

for the push-forward homomorphism $\pi_* \colon K_{\bullet}(X) \to K_{\bullet}(Y)$.

Proof. Replacing X with a closed subscheme in $\mathcal{V}^{(d)}_{\pi}(X)$, we may assume that X is integral. Since $F^{d+i}(X)\xi \subset F^{d+i}_{\mathrm{con}}(X)$, it suffices to show $\pi_*F^{d+i}_{\mathrm{con}}(X) \subset F^i_{\mathrm{con}}(Y)$ for i = 1, 2. This is derived from the assertion for i = 1, 2 that $\operatorname{codim} \pi(Z) \geq i$ for any integral closed subscheme Z of X with $\operatorname{codim} Z \geq d + i$. Let x be the generic point of Z. Then $\dim \mathcal{O}_{X,x} \geq d + i$. For y = f(x), if $\dim \mathcal{O}_{Y,y} \leq 1$, then $\dim \mathcal{O}_{Y,y} \geq i$ by

$$\dim \mathcal{O}_{X,x} \leq \dim \mathcal{O}_{Y,y} + \dim \mathcal{O}_{X,x} \otimes \Bbbk(y) \leq \dim \mathcal{O}_{Y,y} + d$$

Thus, the assertion is verified for i = 1, 2.

Definition 3.3. Let ξ be an element of $K_{\pi}^{(d)}(X)$. By Lemma 3.2, one can define

$$i_{\xi/Y}(\theta) := \operatorname{rk}_Y(\pi_*(\theta\xi)) \in \mathbb{Z}$$
 and $\mathcal{I}_{\xi/Y}(\eta) := \widehat{\det}(\pi_*(\eta\xi)) \in \operatorname{Ref}^1(Y)$

for $\theta \in G^d(X)$ and $\eta \in G^{d+1}(X)$. The $i_{\xi/Y}(\theta)$ is called the relative intersection number and $\mathcal{I}_{\xi/Y}(\eta)$ is called the intersection sheaf.

Convention.

(1) If $\theta = \delta_X(\mathcal{L}_1, \dots, \mathcal{L}_d) \mod F^{d+1}(X)$ and $\eta = \delta_X(\mathcal{L}_1, \dots, \mathcal{L}_{d+1}) \mod F^{d+1}(X)$ for invertible sheaves $\mathcal{L}_1, \dots, \mathcal{L}_{d+1}$ on X, then we write

$$i_{\xi/Y}(\theta) = i_{\xi/Y}(\mathcal{L}_1, \dots, \mathcal{L}_d), \quad \mathcal{I}_{\xi/Y}(\eta) = \mathcal{I}_{\xi/Y}(\mathcal{L}_1, \dots, \mathcal{L}_{d+1}).$$

- (2) If $\xi = cl_{\bullet}(\mathcal{F})$ for a coherent sheaf \mathcal{F} belonging to $Coh_{\pi}^{(d)}(X)$, then $\xi \in K_{\pi}^{(d)}(X)$, and we write $i_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\cdot) = i_{\xi/Y}(\cdot)$ and $\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\cdot) = \mathcal{I}_{\xi/Y}(\cdot)$.
- (3) If $\xi = \mathrm{cl}_{\bullet}(V)$ for a closed subscheme V whose irreducible components all belong to $\mathcal{V}_{\pi}^{(d)}(X)$, then $i_{\xi/Y}$ and $\mathcal{I}_{\xi/Y}$ are written by $i_{V/Y}$ and $\mathcal{I}_{V/Y}$, respectively. Similarly, if $\xi = \mathrm{cl}_{\bullet}(Z)$ for an algebraic cycle Z whose irreducible components all belong to $\mathcal{V}_{\pi}^{(d)}(X)$, then $i_{\xi/Y}$ and $\mathcal{I}_{\xi/Y}$ are written by $i_{Z/Y}$ and $\mathcal{I}_{Z/Y}$, respectively.

Remark. For a closed immersion $\iota: X \hookrightarrow X'$ into another proper Y-scheme X', and for $\theta' \in G^d(X'), \eta' \in G^{d+1}(X')$, we have

$$i_{\xi/Y}(\theta'|_X) = i_{\iota_*(\xi)/Y}(\theta')$$
 and $\mathcal{I}_{\xi/Y}(\eta'|_X) = \mathcal{I}_{\iota_*(\xi)/Y}(\eta').$

Thus, the definitions of $i_{\mathcal{F}/Y}$, $i_{V/Y}$, $i_{Z/Y}$, $\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}/Y}$, $\mathcal{I}_{B/Y}$, and $\mathcal{I}_{Z/Y}$ above cause no confusion.

Example 3.4. Assume that $\mathcal{O}_X \in \operatorname{Coh}_{\pi}^{(d)}(X)$ and d = 0; in other words, $\pi \colon X \to Y$ is generically finite. Then $\mathcal{I}_{X/Y}(\mathcal{L})$ for an invertible sheaf \mathcal{L} on X is nothing but the reflexive sheaf

$$\left(\widehat{\det} \pi_* \mathcal{L} \otimes \widehat{\det} (\pi_* \mathcal{O}_X)^{\vee}\right)^{\vee \vee} \simeq \left(\widehat{\det} (\pi_* \mathcal{O}_X) \otimes \widehat{\det} (\pi_* \mathcal{L}^{-1})^{\vee}\right)^{\vee \vee}.$$

If X is normal and $\mathcal{L} = \mathcal{O}_X(D)$ for a Cartier divisor D, then $\mathcal{I}_{X/Y}(\mathcal{L}) \simeq \mathcal{O}_Y(\pi_*D)$. In fact, we have an isomorphism

$$\left(\widehat{\det}(\pi_*\mathcal{O}_X)\otimes\widehat{\det}(\pi_*\mathcal{O}_X(-\Delta))^{\vee}\right)^{\vee\vee}\simeq\mathcal{O}_Y(\pi_*\Delta)$$

for an effective Weil divisor Δ of X, and applying it to effective Weil divisors D_1 , D_2 with $D = D_1 - D_2$, we have the isomorphism above (cf. Remark 1.4).

Remark 3.5. In this Section 3, we assume that the base scheme Y to be normal. If Y is only a separated integral scheme, then the intersection sheaves $\mathcal{I}_{X/Y}(\mathcal{L}_1, \ldots, \mathcal{L}_{d+1})$ are not naturally defined for an equi-dimensional morphism $\pi: X \to Y$ of relative dimension d and invertible sheaves \mathcal{L}_i on X. For example, we consider the following situation: Let Y be a nodal rational cubic plane curve defined over \mathbb{C} and $\pi: X \to Y$ the normalization. Let $P \in X$ be a point not lying over the node of Y. One can consider the push-forward $\pi_*(P)$ as a divisor of Y. So, the intersection sheaf $\mathcal{I}_{X/Y}(\mathcal{O}(1))$ for the invertible sheaf $\mathcal{O}(1)$ on $X \simeq \mathbb{P}^1$ is expected to be the invertible sheaf $\mathcal{O}_Y(\pi_*P)$. However, if $P' \in X$ is not lying over the node, then $\pi_*(P)$ is linearly equivalent to $\pi_*(P')$ only when P = P'. Hence, we have no natural definition of $\mathcal{I}_{X/Y}(\mathcal{O}(1))$.

Lemma 3.6. Let \mathcal{F} be a coherent sheaf belonging to $\operatorname{Coh}_{\pi}^{(d)}(X)$. Then

$$\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\eta) \simeq \mathcal{I}_{(\mathcal{F}_{\mathrm{t.f.}/Y})/Y}(\eta)$$

for any $\eta \in G^{d+1}(X)$ (cf. Definition 1.9).

Proof. Since $cl_{\bullet}(\mathcal{F}) = cl_{\bullet}(\mathcal{F}_{tor/Y}) + cl_{\bullet}(\mathcal{F}_{t.f./Y})$, it is enough to show that

$$\pi_*(\eta \operatorname{cl}_{\bullet}(\mathcal{F}_{\operatorname{tor}/Y})) \in F^2_{\operatorname{con}}(Y)$$

for any $\eta \in G^{d+1}(X)$. This follows from an argument in the proof of Lemma 3.2. In fact, $\mathcal{F}_{\operatorname{tor}/Y}$ is defined on $\pi^{-1}W = X \times_Y W$ for a proper closed subscheme $W \subset Y$ and

$$\pi_*(F^{d+1}(X)\operatorname{cl}_{\bullet}(\mathcal{F}_{\operatorname{tor}/Y})) \subset \operatorname{Image}(F^1_{\operatorname{con}}(W) \to F^2_{\operatorname{con}}(Y)).$$

Remark 3.7. In order to study the intersection sheaf $\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\eta)$ for $\mathcal{F} \in \operatorname{Coh}_{\pi}^{(d)}(X)$, we may assume that $\mathcal{F}_{\operatorname{tor}/Y} = 0$ by Lemma 3.6. Thus, we may remove the irreducible components of X which do not dominate Y, i.e., we may replace \mathcal{O}_X with $(\mathcal{O}_X)_{\operatorname{t.f.}/Y}$. Hence, we may assume that there is an open subset $U \subset Y$ with $\operatorname{codim}(Y \setminus U) \geq 2$ such that π and \mathcal{F} are flat over U. In particular, we have

$$i_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\theta) = i_{\mathcal{F}_{\mathrm{t.f.}/Y}|_{\pi^{-1}(U)}/U}\left(\theta|_{\pi^{-1}(U)}\right) = i(\theta; \mathcal{F}_{\mathrm{t.f.}/Y} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\pi^{-1}(y)}),$$
$$\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\eta) \simeq j_* \mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}_{\mathrm{t.f.}/Y}|_{\pi^{-1}(U)}/U}\left(\eta|_{\pi^{-1}(U)}\right)$$

for $y \in U$, $\theta \in G^d(X)$, $\eta \in G^{d+1}(X)$, and for the open immersion $j: U \subset Y$.

Remark 3.8. If π is projective, \mathcal{F} is flat over Y, and Assumption 2.1 is satisfied, then $\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\eta)$ defined in Definition 3.3 coincides with the intersection sheaf $\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\eta)$ treated in Section 2. In fact, this is derived from that

$$\phi(\pi^{\mathcal{F}}_*(x)) = \pi_*(x \operatorname{cl}_{\bullet}(\mathcal{F})) \text{ and } \widehat{\det} \phi(y) = \det(y)$$

for any $x \in K^{\bullet}(X)$ and $y \in K^{\bullet}(Y)$. Even if we assume only that π is locally projective and \mathcal{F} is flat over Y, we can define $\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(x)$ for $x \in F^{d+1}(X)$ by

$$\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}/Y} = \det \circ \pi_*^{\mathcal{F}} \colon K^{\bullet}(X) \to K^{\bullet}(Y)_{\text{perf}} \to \operatorname{Pic}(Y).$$

Then $\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(x)$ is also isomorphic to the intersection sheaf $\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(cl^{\bullet}(x))$ defined in Definition 3.3 by similar formulas

$$\boldsymbol{\phi}_{\mathrm{perf}}(\pi^{\mathcal{F}}_{*}(x)) = \pi_{*}(x \operatorname{cl}_{\bullet}(\mathcal{F})) \quad \mathrm{and} \quad \widehat{\det}(\boldsymbol{\phi}_{\mathrm{perf}}(y)) = \det(y)$$

for the Cartan homomorphism $\phi_{\text{perf}} \colon K^{\bullet}(Y)_{\text{perf}} \to K_{\bullet}(Y)$ and $y \in K^{\bullet}(Y)_{\text{perf}}$. The latter formula follows from Lemma 1.10 and an argument in [15], Chapter II (cf. [17], Chapter 5, §3).

Lemma 3.9. Let $\tau: Y' \to Y$ be a dominant morphism from another normal separated Noetherian integral scheme Y' such that $\operatorname{codim} \tau^{-1}(B) \ge 2$ for any closed set $B \subset Y$ of $\operatorname{codim} B \ge 2$. Let X' be the fiber product $X \times_Y Y'$, and let $p_1: X' \to X$ and $p_2: X' \to Y'$ be the natural projections. For a coherent sheaf \mathcal{F} of X belonging to $\operatorname{Coh}_{\pi}^{(d)}(X)$ and for $\eta \in G^{d+1}(X)$, one has an isomorphism

$$\mathcal{I}_{p_1^*\mathcal{F}/Y'}(p_1^*\eta) \simeq \left(\tau^* \mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\eta)\right)^{\vee \vee}.$$

Proof. We may replace Y with a Zariski open subset U such that $\operatorname{codim}(Y \setminus U) \geq 2$, since the isomorphism of the reflexive sheaves follows from that on $\tau^{-1}(U)$. Thus, we may assume that Y is regular and τ is flat. Applying the flat base change formula $(I-2): \tau^*\pi_*(x) = p_{2*}p_1^*(x)$ for $x = \eta \operatorname{cl}_{\bullet}(\mathcal{F})$, we have the expected isomorphism, since $p_1^*\operatorname{cl}_{\bullet}(\mathcal{F}) = \operatorname{cl}_{\bullet}(p_1^*\mathcal{F})$.

The following corresponds to Corollary 2.14:

Lemma 3.10. For $\xi \in K_{\pi}^{(d)}(X)$, $\theta \in G^{d}(X)$ and an invertible sheaf \mathcal{M} on Y, one has an isomorphism

$$\mathcal{I}_{\xi/Y}(\theta \, \boldsymbol{c}^1(\pi^*\mathcal{M})) \simeq \mathcal{M}^{\otimes i_{\xi/Y}(\theta)}.$$

Proof. We set $x = \theta \xi$ and $y = c^1(\mathcal{M})$. Then the assertion is derived from $\pi_*(x) \mod F^1_{\mathrm{con}}(Y) = i_{\xi/Y}(\theta)$ and from the projection formula (I-1): $\pi_*(x\pi^*y) = \pi_*(x)y$. \Box

We shall show that the intersection sheaf $\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\eta)$ is invertible under certain conditions. The following is one of such results:

Theorem 3.11. Let $\pi: X \to Y$ be a proper surjective morphism onto a normal separated Noetherian scheme Y. Let \mathcal{F} be a coherent sheaf on X such that $\dim(\operatorname{Supp} \mathcal{F} \cap \pi^{-1}(y)) \leq d$ for any $y \in Y$.

- (1) If $\mathcal{L}_1, \ldots, \mathcal{L}_{d+1}$ are invertible sheaves of X such that $\pi^* \pi_* \mathcal{L}_i \to \mathcal{L}_i$ is surjective for any *i*, then $\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\mathcal{L}_1, \ldots, \mathcal{L}_{d+1})$ is an invertible sheaf.
- (2) If π is locally projective, then $\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\eta)$ is invertible for any $\eta \in G^{d+1}(X)$.

The proof is given after Lemmas 3.12 and 3.14.

Lemma 3.12. Let \mathcal{F} be a coherent sheaf on X belonging to $\operatorname{Coh}_{\pi}^{(d)}(X)$ and let \mathcal{E} be a locally free sheaf on X of rank d + 1. Let σ be an \mathcal{F} -regular section of \mathcal{E} . Then, $\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\mathbf{c}^{d+1}(\mathcal{E})) \simeq \mathcal{O}_Y(D)$ for the codimension one part D of the effective algebraic cycle $\pi_* \operatorname{cyc}(\mathcal{F} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{V(\sigma)})$. Moreover,

$$\mathrm{cl}_{\bullet}(D) \equiv \mathrm{cl}_{\bullet}(\pi_*(\mathcal{F} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{V(\sigma)})) \equiv \pi_* \, \mathrm{cl}_{\bullet}(\mathcal{F} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{V(\sigma)}) \mod F^2_{\mathrm{con}}(Y).$$

Proof. By Lemma 1.6, we have

$$c^{d+1}(\mathcal{E}) \operatorname{cl}_{\bullet}(\mathcal{F}) \equiv \operatorname{cl}_{\bullet}(\mathcal{F} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{V(\sigma)}) \mod F^{d+2}_{\operatorname{con}}(X).$$

Since $\operatorname{cl}_{\bullet}(\operatorname{cyc}(\mathcal{F} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{V(\sigma)})) = \operatorname{cl}_{\bullet}(\mathcal{F} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{V(\sigma)})$ and since $\operatorname{cyc}(\mathcal{F} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{V(\sigma)})$ does not dominate Y, we have

$$\operatorname{cl}_{\bullet}(D) \equiv \pi_* \operatorname{cl}_{\bullet}(\mathcal{F} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{V(\sigma)}) \mod F_{\operatorname{con}}^2(Y),$$

equivalently, $\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\mathbf{c}^{d+1}(\mathcal{E})) \simeq \mathcal{O}_Y(D)$. Since codim Supp $\mathrm{R}^i \pi_*(\mathcal{F} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{V(\sigma)}) \ge 2$ for i > 0, we have

$$cl_{\bullet}(\pi_*(\mathcal{F} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{V(\sigma)})) \equiv \pi_* cl_{\bullet}(\mathcal{F} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{V(\sigma)}) \mod F^2_{con}(Y).$$

Remark 3.13. In the situation of Lemma 3.12, if $\pi^{-1}(y) \cap \operatorname{Supp}(\mathcal{F} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{V(\sigma)}) = \emptyset$ for a point $y \in Y$, then $\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\mathbf{c}^{d+1}(\mathcal{E}))$ is invertible at y, since $y \notin \operatorname{Supp} D$.

Lemma 3.14. Let V be a Noetherian scheme over a Noetherian local ring A and \mathcal{L} an invertible sheaf of V generated by finitely many global sections $\sigma_0, \ldots, \sigma_N$. Suppose that the residue field $\mathbb{k}(A) = A/\mathfrak{m}_A$ is an infinite field. For coherent sheaves $\mathcal{F}_1, \ldots, \mathcal{F}_k$ of V, there exists a global section σ of \mathcal{L} such that $\sigma \in \sum_{i=0}^N A\sigma_i \subset H^0(V, \mathcal{L})$ and σ is \mathcal{F}_i -regular for any $1 \leq i \leq k$.

Proof. For $1 \leq i \leq k$, let J_i be the set of point $\eta \in V$ with depth($\mathcal{F}_{i,\eta}$) = 0; in other words, J_i is the set of associated primes of \mathcal{F}_i . Let $W(\eta)$ be the closure of $\{\eta\}$ for $\eta \in J_i$. Then, a global section σ of \mathcal{L} is \mathcal{F}_i -regular if and only if $\sigma|_{W(\eta)} \neq 0$ as a section of $\mathcal{L}|_{W(\eta)}$ for any $\eta \in J_i$. Let $\{W_1, \ldots, W_l\}$ be the set $\{W(\eta) \mid \eta \in \bigcup J_i\}$.

By the finite global sections $\sigma_0, \ldots, \sigma_N$, we have a morphism $\psi: V \to \mathbb{P}^N_A$ such that $\psi^* \mathcal{O}(1) \simeq \mathcal{L}$. It is enough to find an element $\sigma \in R^N_A := \mathrm{H}^0(\mathbb{P}^N_A, \mathcal{O}(1))$ such that $\{\sigma = 0\}$ does not contain $\psi(W_j)$ for any $1 \leq j \leq l$.

We may replace A by the residue field $\mathbb{k}(A)$. In fact, if we find a global section $\bar{\sigma} \in R^N(\mathbb{k}(A)) = \mathrm{H}^0(\mathbb{P}^N_{\mathbb{k}(A)}, \mathcal{O}(1)) \simeq R^N(A) \otimes_A \mathbb{k}(A)$ which does not vanish along $\psi(W_j)$ for any j, then a lift $\sigma \in R^N(A)$ of $\bar{\sigma}$ also does not vanish along $\psi(W_j)$. Thus, we assume A to be a field \mathbb{k} .

Let $L_j \subset R^N(\Bbbk)$ be the vector subspace consisting of elements vanishing along $\psi(W_j)$. Then L_j is a proper subspace. Since \Bbbk is infinite, we can find an expected element σ in $R^N(\Bbbk) \setminus \bigcup L_j$.

We shall prove Theorem 3.11.

Proof of Theorem 3.11. (1): By a flat base change (cf. Lemma 3.9), we may assume that $Y = \operatorname{Spec} A$ for a local ring A. If the residue field $\Bbbk(A)$ is finite, then we replace A with the localization $B = A[x]_{\mathfrak{m}}$ of the polynomial ring A[x] at the maximal ideal $\mathfrak{m} = \mathfrak{m}_A[x] + xA[x]$. Then $\operatorname{Spec} B \to \operatorname{Spec} A$ is flat and the residue field $\Bbbk(B) = \Bbbk(A)(x)$ is infinite. Thus, we may assume that $\Bbbk(A)$ is infinite.

Now, \mathcal{L}_i are all generated by global sections. Applying Lemma 3.14 successively, for the closed point $y \in Y$, we can find global sections $\sigma_i \in \mathrm{H}^0(X, \mathcal{L}_i)$ such that

 $(\sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_{d+1})$ is \mathcal{F} -regular and $\operatorname{Supp}(V \cap \pi^{-1}(y)) = \emptyset$ for $V = V(\sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_{d+1})$. Therefore, $\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\mathcal{L}_1, \ldots, \mathcal{L}_{d+1})$ is invertible at y by Lemma 3.12 and Remark 3.13.

(2): An element of $G^{d+1}(X)$ is expressed as a homogeneous polynomial of Chern classes of degree d+1 for suitable locally free sheaves of finite rank. Since the Chern classes are represented by Segre classes, it suffices to consider the case where $\eta = \mathbf{s}^{l_1}(\mathcal{E}_1) \cdots \mathbf{s}^{l_k}(\mathcal{E}_k)$ for the Segre classes $\mathbf{s}^l(\mathcal{E}_j)$ of locally free sheaves \mathcal{E}_j . Let $p \colon \mathbb{P} \to X$ be the fiber product of all $\mathbb{P}(\mathcal{E}_j^{\vee})$ over X, and let \mathcal{L}_j the pullback of the tautological invertible sheaf $\mathcal{O}(1)$ with respect to \mathcal{E}_j for any j. Then

$$\eta = p_*(\boldsymbol{c}^1(\mathcal{L}_1)^{N_1+l_1}\cdots \boldsymbol{c}^1(\mathcal{L}_k)^{N_k+l_k})$$

for $N_j = \operatorname{rank} \mathcal{E}_j - 1$ by Lemma 2.10. Therefore,

$$\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\eta) = \mathcal{I}_{p^*\mathcal{F}/Y}(\boldsymbol{c}^1(\mathcal{L}_1)^{N_1+l_1}\cdots \boldsymbol{c}^1(\mathcal{L}_k)^{N_k+l_k}).$$

Thus, we are reduced to the case where $\eta = c^1(\mathcal{M}_1) \cdots c^1(\mathcal{M}_{d+1})$ for $\mathcal{M}_1, \ldots, \mathcal{M}_{d+1} \in \operatorname{Pic}(X)$.

As in the proof of (1), we can localize Y. Hence, we may assume that X admits a relatively very ample invertible sheaf with respect to π . Thus, by the linearity of $\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}/Y}$, we may assume that \mathcal{M}_i are all relatively very ample. Then the assertion follows from (1).

As an application of Theorem 3.11, we have:

Theorem 3.15. Let $\pi: X \to Y$ be an equi-dimensional locally projective surjective morphism between normal separated Noetherian integral schemes. If X is Q-factorial, then so is Y.

Proof. Let E be a prime divisor of Y. We shall show that some positive multiple of E is Cartier. Thus, we may assume π to be projective by localizing Y. Let \mathcal{A} be a π -ample invertible sheaf on X and set $\theta = \mathbf{c}^1(\mathcal{A})^d \in G^d(X)$ for $d = \dim X/Y$. Then $i_{X/Y}(\theta) > 0$. Since π is equi-dimensional, there exists uniquely an effective Weil divisor D on X such that $\pi^*E = D$ on $\pi^{-1}(U)$ for an open subset $U \subset Y$ with $\operatorname{codim}(Y \setminus U) \geq 2$. By assumption, kD is Cartier for some k > 0. Thus, $\mathcal{I}_{X/Y}(\theta \, \mathbf{c}^1(\mathcal{O}_X(kD)))$ is an invertible sheaf by Theorem 3.11. On the other hand,

$$\mathcal{I}_{X/Y}(\theta \, \boldsymbol{c}^1(\mathcal{O}_X(kD)))|_U \simeq \mathcal{O}_Y(i_{X/Y}(\theta)kE)|_U,$$

by Lemma 3.10. Hence, $i_{X/Y}(\theta)kE$ is Cartier.

The following is a result analogous to Lemma 2.13.

Lemma 3.16. Let $\psi: Y \to S$ be a proper surjective morphism to a normal separated Noetherian integral scheme S of relative dimension $e = \dim Y/S$, and \mathcal{G} a torsion free coherent sheaf on Y. Assume that

- π , ψ , and $\psi \circ \pi$ are locally projective morphisms, and
- dim(Supp $\mathcal{F} \cap \pi^{-1}(y)$) $\leq d$ and dim(Supp $\mathcal{F} \cap \pi^{-1}\psi^{-1}(s)$) $\leq d + e$ for any $y \in Y$ and $s \in S$.

Then there exist isomorphisms

 $\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}\otimes\pi^*\mathcal{G}/S}(\eta\pi^*\theta)\simeq\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{G}/S}(\boldsymbol{c}^1(\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\eta))\theta)\quad and\quad \mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}\otimes\pi^*\mathcal{G}/S}(\eta'\pi^*\theta')\simeq\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{G}/S}(\theta')^{\otimes i_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\eta')}$ for $\eta\in G^{d+1}(X),\ \eta'\in G^d(X),\ \theta\in G^e(Y),\ and\ \theta'\in G^{e+1}(Y).$

Proof. Let U be an open subset of Y such that $\operatorname{codim}(Y \setminus U) \geq 2$ and that \mathcal{G} is locally free on U. Then, every irreducible component of $Y \setminus U$ belongs to $\mathcal{V}_{\psi}^{e+1}(Y)$, and

$$\pi_*(x\operatorname{cl}_{\bullet}(\mathcal{F}\otimes\pi^*\mathcal{G}))|_U=\pi_*(x\operatorname{cl}_{\bullet}(\mathcal{F}))|_U\operatorname{cl}^{\bullet}(\mathcal{G}|_U)$$

for any $x \in K^{\bullet}(X)$. If $x \in F^{d+1}(X)$ represents η , then, $c^{1}(\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\eta)) = \pi_{*}(x \operatorname{cl}_{\bullet}(\mathcal{F}))$ mod $F^{2}_{\operatorname{con}}(Y)$, since $\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\eta)$ is invertible by Theorem 3.11. If $x \in F^{d}(X)$ represents η' , then $i_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\eta') = \varepsilon(\pi_{*}(x \operatorname{cl}_{\bullet}(\mathcal{F})))$. Thus,

$$\psi_*\pi_*(\eta\pi^*\theta\operatorname{cl}_{\bullet}(\mathcal{F}\otimes\pi^*\mathcal{G})) = \psi_*(\boldsymbol{c}^1(\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\eta))\theta\operatorname{cl}_{\bullet}(\mathcal{G})) = \boldsymbol{c}^1(\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{G}/S}(\boldsymbol{c}^1(\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\eta)\theta))),$$
$$\psi_*\pi_*(\eta'\pi^*\theta'\operatorname{cl}_{\bullet}(\mathcal{F}\otimes\pi^*\mathcal{G})) = i_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\eta')\psi_*(\theta'\operatorname{cl}_{\bullet}(\mathcal{G})) = i_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\eta')\boldsymbol{c}^1(\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{G}/S}(\theta')).$$

These equalities induce the expected isomorphisms.

The following is a generalization of Theorem 3.11, (1). This is proved by an argument analogous to Propositions 2.7 and 2.15 in Section 2. In particular, the proof is independent of that of Theorem 3.11.

Proposition 3.17. Let \mathcal{G} be a locally free sheaf on Y of rank N + 1 and \mathcal{E} be a locally free sheaf on X of rank d + 1 admitting a surjection $\pi^*\mathcal{G} \to \mathcal{E}$. Let $q: \mathbb{P} = \mathbb{P}(\mathcal{G}^{\vee}) \to Y$ be the projective space bundle, $\mathcal{O}(1)$ the tautological invertible sheaf on \mathbb{P} with respect to \mathcal{G}^{\vee} , and let $p_1: \mathbb{P}_X \to X$ and $p_2: \mathbb{P}_X \to \mathbb{P}$ be the natural projections from $\mathbb{P}_X = X \times_Y \mathbb{P}$. Let \mathcal{F} be a coherent sheaf on X such that $\dim(\pi^{-1}(y) \cap \operatorname{Supp} \mathcal{F}) \leq d$ for any point $y \in Y$. Then $\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\mathbf{c}^{d+1}(\mathcal{E}))$ is invertible and $i_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\mathbf{c}^d(\mathcal{E})) \geq 0$. Moreover, there exist an effective relative Cartier divisor D on \mathbb{P} with respect to $q: \mathbb{P} \to Y$, an isomorphism

(III-1)
$$\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(D) \simeq q^*(\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\boldsymbol{c}^{d+1}(\mathcal{E}))) \otimes \mathcal{O}(1)^{i_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\boldsymbol{c}^d(\mathcal{E}))}$$

and a surjection

$$\Phi\colon \operatorname{Sym}^{i_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\boldsymbol{c}^{d}(\mathcal{E}))}\mathcal{G} \to \mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\boldsymbol{c}^{d+1}(\mathcal{E})).$$

Proof. By replacing X with a closed subscheme, we may assume that $\operatorname{Supp} \mathcal{F} = X$. Thus, $\dim \pi^{-1}(y) \leq d$ for any $y \in Y$. From a natural injection $\mathcal{O}(-1) \to q^*\mathcal{G}$, considering the composition

$$p_2^*\mathcal{O}(-1) \to p_2^*q^*\mathcal{G} = p_1^*\pi^*\mathcal{G} \to p_1^*\mathcal{E},$$

we have a global section σ of $p_1^* \mathcal{E} \otimes p_2^* \mathcal{O}(1)$. Then $V(\sigma)$ is isomorphic to $V = \mathbb{P}_X(\mathcal{K}^{\vee})$ for the kernel \mathcal{K} of $\pi^* \mathcal{G} \to \mathcal{E}$. Since $V \to X$ is smooth, the closed immersion $V \subset \mathbb{P}_X$ is locally of complete intersection. Thus, the section σ is $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}_X}$ -regular, and furthermore it is $p_1^* \mathcal{F}$ -regular, since V is flat over X. Thus, we have

$$\boldsymbol{c}^{d+1}(p_1^*\mathcal{E}\otimes p_2^*\mathcal{O}(1)) \equiv \mathrm{cl}^{\bullet}(\mathcal{O}_V) \mod F^{d+2}(\mathbb{P}_X),$$
$$\boldsymbol{c}^{d+1}(p_1^*\mathcal{E}\otimes p_2^*\mathcal{O}(1)) \operatorname{cl}_{\bullet}(p_1^*\mathcal{F}) \equiv \mathrm{cl}_{\bullet}(p_1^*\mathcal{F}\otimes \mathcal{O}_V) \mod F^{d+2}_{\mathrm{con}}(\mathbb{P}_X)$$

by Lemma 1.6. Taking p_{2*} , we have the following equality in $G^1(\mathbb{P})$:

$$p_{2*}(\mathrm{cl}_{\bullet}(p_1^*\mathcal{F}\otimes\mathcal{O}_V)) = p_{2*}\left(\boldsymbol{c}^{d+1}(p_1^*\mathcal{E}\otimes p_2^*\mathcal{O}(1))\cdot\mathrm{cl}_{\bullet}(p_1^*\mathcal{F})\right)$$
$$= p_{2*}p_1^*(\boldsymbol{c}^{d+1}(\mathcal{E})\operatorname{cl}_{\bullet}(\mathcal{F})) + p_{2*}p_1^*(\boldsymbol{c}^d(\mathcal{E})\operatorname{cl}_{\bullet}(\mathcal{F}))\cdot\boldsymbol{c}^1(\mathcal{O}(1))$$
$$= q^*\pi_*(\boldsymbol{c}^{d+1}(\mathcal{E})\operatorname{cl}_{\bullet}(\mathcal{F})) + q^*\pi_*(\boldsymbol{c}^d(\mathcal{E})\operatorname{cl}_{\bullet}(\mathcal{F}))\cdot\boldsymbol{c}^1(\mathcal{O}(1)).$$

Since q is flat, we have

$$\widehat{\det}(q^*\pi_*(\boldsymbol{c}^{d+1}(\mathcal{E})\operatorname{cl}_{\bullet}(\mathcal{F}))) \simeq q^* \widehat{\det}(\pi_*(\boldsymbol{c}^{d+1}(\mathcal{E})\operatorname{cl}_{\bullet}(\mathcal{F}))) \simeq q^* \mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\boldsymbol{c}^{d+1}(\mathcal{E})),$$
$$q^*(\pi_*(\boldsymbol{c}^d(\mathcal{E})\operatorname{cl}_{\bullet}(\mathcal{F}))) \equiv i_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\boldsymbol{c}^d(\mathcal{E}))\operatorname{cl}_{\bullet}(\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}) \mod F^1_{\operatorname{con}}(\mathbb{P}).$$

Here, we use the fact that the pullback of a reflexive sheaf by a flat morphism is also reflexive. Therefore,

$$\widehat{\det}\left(p_{2*}(\operatorname{cl}_{\bullet}(p_{1}^{*}\mathcal{F}\otimes\mathcal{O}_{V}))\right)\simeq q^{*}\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\boldsymbol{c}^{d+1}(\mathcal{F}))\otimes\mathcal{O}(1)^{i_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\boldsymbol{c}^{d}(\mathcal{E}))}$$

Let D be the codimension one part of $p_{2*} \operatorname{cyc}(p_1^* \mathcal{F} \otimes \mathcal{O}_V)$. Then $\operatorname{Supp} D = p_2(V)$ and

$$\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(D) \simeq \widehat{\det} \left(p_{2*}(\mathrm{cl}_{\bullet}(p_1^*\mathcal{F} \otimes \mathcal{O}_V)) \right).$$

In particular, the isomorphism (III–1) is derived. For an arbitrary point $y \in Y$, Supp $D = p_2(V)$ does not contain the fiber $q^{-1}(y)$, since

$$\dim p_2(V) \cap q^{-1}(y) \le \dim(V \cap p_1^{-1}\pi^{-1}(y)) \le N - 1.$$

Hence, $q^* \mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\mathbf{c}^{d+1}(\mathcal{E}))$ is invertible at a point of $q^{-1}(y) \setminus \text{Supp } D$ by (III–1) and Remark 3.13. Thus, $\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\mathbf{c}^{d+1}(\mathcal{E}))$ is invertible at y and D is a relative Cartier divisor with respect to q. Moreover,

$$i_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\boldsymbol{c}^d(\mathcal{E})) = \deg \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(D)|_{q^{-1}(y)} \ge 0.$$

The effective divisor D defines a global section of

$$q_*\left(q^*\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\boldsymbol{c}^{d+1}(\mathcal{E}))\otimes\mathcal{O}(1)^{i_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\boldsymbol{c}^d(\mathcal{E}))}\right)=\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\boldsymbol{c}^{d+1}(\mathcal{E}))\otimes\operatorname{Sym}^{i_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\boldsymbol{c}^d(\mathcal{E}))}\mathcal{G}^{\vee}$$

and the expected homomorphism Φ by the natural pairing $\operatorname{Sym}^{l}(\mathcal{G}) \otimes \operatorname{Sym}^{l}(\mathcal{G}^{\vee}) \to \mathcal{O}_{Y}$. The surjectivity of Φ follows from the same argument as in the proof of Proposition 2.7.

Remark. If \mathcal{F} is flat over Y, then, by construction, the surjection Φ in Proposition 3.17 is isomorphic to the surjection Φ in Proposition 2.15.

By Proposition 3.17 and by the argument of Proposition 2.21, we have:

Corollary 3.18. Let \mathcal{F} be a coherent sheaf with dim $(\operatorname{Supp} \mathcal{F} \cap \pi^{-1}(y)) \leq d$ for any $y \in Y$, and let \mathcal{E} be a locally free sheaf on X of rank r generated by global sections. If r = d+1, then $\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\mathbf{c}^r(\mathcal{E}))$ is an invertible sheaf generated by global sections. Moreover, if $P(x_1, \ldots, x_r)$ is a numerically positive polynomial of degree d + 1 for ample vector bundles, then $\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(P(\mathbf{c}^1(\mathcal{E}), \ldots, \mathbf{c}^r(\mathcal{E})))$ is also an invertible sheaf generated by global sections.

Proposition 3.19 below gives a base change property related to the flattening of \mathcal{F} . In particular, we have another proof of Theorem 3.11, (2) and Proposition 3.17 in the case of projective morphisms π . The proof uses results in Section 2.

Proposition 3.19. Let \mathcal{F} be a coherent sheaf on X such that $\dim(\operatorname{Supp} \mathcal{F} \cap \pi^{-1}(y)) \leq d$ for any point $y \in Y$. Let $\tau: Y' \to Y$ be proper surjective morphism from a Noetherian integral scheme Y', X' the fiber product $X \times_Y Y'$, and let $p_1: X' \to X$ and $p_2: X' \to Y'$ be the natural projections. Assume that

- $\pi: X \to Y$ is a projective morphism,
- $\mathcal{F}' := (p_1^* \mathcal{F})_{\mathrm{t.f.}/Y}$ is flat over Y',
- Y and Y' admit ample invertible sheaves when π is not flat.

Then, the following assertions hold for any $\eta \in G^{d+1}(X)$:

(1) For any closed irreducible curve C contained in a fiber of τ ,

$$\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}'/Y'}(p_1^*\eta)|_C \simeq \mathcal{O}_C.$$

(2) Assume that $\eta = \mathbf{c}^{d+1}(\mathcal{E})$ for a locally free sheaf \mathcal{E} of rank d + 1 on X with a surjection $\pi^*\mathcal{G} \to \mathcal{E}$ for a locally free sheaf \mathcal{G} of finite rank on Y. Then $\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\eta)$ is invertible and the surjection

$$\Phi' \colon \operatorname{Sym}^{i_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\boldsymbol{c}^{d}(\mathcal{E}))}(\tau^{*}\mathcal{G}) \to \mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}'/Y'}(p_{1}^{*}\boldsymbol{c}^{d+1}(\mathcal{E}))$$

on Y' appearing in Proposition 2.15 descends to a surjection

$$\Phi\colon \operatorname{Sym}^{i_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\boldsymbol{c}^{d}(\mathcal{E}))}(\mathcal{G}) \to \mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\boldsymbol{c}^{d+1}(\mathcal{E})).$$

(3) $\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\eta)$ is an invertible sheaf with an isomorphism

$$\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}'/Y'}(p_1^*\eta) \simeq \tau^* \mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\eta)$$

Proof. (1): Let W be the scheme theoretic inverse image $p_2^{-1}(C) = X' \times_{Y'} C$. Then,

$$\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}' \otimes \mathcal{O}_W/C}(p_1^*\eta|_W) \simeq \mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}'/Y'}(p_1^*\eta) \otimes \mathcal{O}_C$$

by Lemma 2.12. Here, $p_1^*\eta|_W = 0 \in G^{d+1}(W)$ by $p_1(W) \subset \pi^{-1}(y)$ and $\dim(\pi^{-1}(y) \cap \operatorname{Supp} \mathcal{F}) \leq d$ for $\{y\} = \tau(C)$. Thus, the intersection sheaf on C is trivial by Proposition 2.11.

(2) The surjection Φ' defines a morphism

$$\varphi \colon Y' \to \mathbb{P}_Y(\operatorname{Sym}^{i_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(c^{d+1}(\mathcal{E}))}\mathcal{G})$$

over Y so that $\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}'/Y'}(\mathbf{c}^{d+1}(\mathcal{E})) \simeq \varphi^* \mathcal{O}(1)$ for the tautological invertible sheaf $\mathcal{O}(1)$. Then $\varphi(Y') \to Y$ is a finite morphism by (1). By Remark 3.7, we may assume that \mathcal{F} is flat over an open subset $U \subset Y$ with $\operatorname{codim}(Y \setminus U) \ge 2$. Then $\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\mathbf{c}^{d+1}(\mathcal{E}))$ is invertible on U and there is a surjection

$$\Phi_U: \operatorname{Sym}^{i_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(c^d(\mathcal{E}))}(\mathcal{G})|_U \to \mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(c^{d+1}(\mathcal{E}))|_U$$

We infer that $\tau^*(\Phi_U)$ and $\Phi'|_{\tau^{-1}(U)}$ are isomorphic to each other by the proof of Proposition 2.15 and Remark 2.17. Therefore, $\varphi(Y') \to Y$ is an isomorphism over U. Since Yis normal and $\varphi(Y')$ is integral, we have $\varphi(Y') \simeq Y$. Hence, Φ' descends to a surjection

$$\Phi \colon \operatorname{Sym}^{i_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(c^d(\mathcal{E}))}(\mathcal{G}) \to \mathcal{M}$$

to an invertible sheaf \mathcal{M} with $\mathcal{M}|_U \simeq \mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\boldsymbol{c}^{d+1}(\mathcal{E}))$. Thus, $\mathcal{M} \simeq \mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\boldsymbol{c}^{d+1}(\mathcal{E}))$.

(3): As in an argument in Proposition 2.11 or Theorem 3.11, (2), we may assume that $\eta = \mathbf{c}^1(\mathcal{L}_1) \cdots \mathbf{c}^1(\mathcal{L}_{d+1})$ for π -ample invertible sheaves \mathcal{L}_i such that $\pi^* \pi_* \mathcal{L}_i \to \mathcal{L}_i$ is surjective and $\mathbb{R}^p \pi_* \mathcal{L}_i = 0$ for any p > 0. If π is flat, then $\pi_* \mathcal{L}_i$ are locally free. If not, then Y admits an ample invertible sheaf, hence there exist surjections $\mathcal{G}_i \to \pi_* \mathcal{L}_i$ from locally free sheaves \mathcal{G}_i of finite rank. Therefore, the assertion follows from (2) above. \Box

The base change properties in Lemma 3.9 and Proposition 3.19 are generalized to:

Theorem 3.20. Let $\pi: X \to Y$ be a locally projective surjective morphism over a normal separated Noetherian integral scheme Y, and \mathcal{F} a coherent sheaf on X with dim(Supp $\mathcal{F} \cap \pi^{-1}(y)$) $\leq d$ for any point $y \in Y$. Let $\tau: Y' \to Y$ be a dominant morphism of finite type from another separated Noetherian integral scheme Y'. Let X' be the fiber product $X \times_Y Y', p_1 \colon X' \to X, p_2 \colon X' \to Y'$ be the natural projections, and let \mathcal{F}' be the sheaf $(p_1^* \mathcal{F})_{\mathrm{t.f./Y'}}$. Then

$$\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}'/Y'}(p_1^*\eta) \simeq \tau^* \mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\eta)$$

for any for any $\eta \in G^{d+1}(X)$ provided that one of the following conditions is satisfied:

- (1) \mathcal{F}' is flat over Y', τ is proper surjective with $\mathcal{O}_Y \simeq \tau_* \mathcal{O}_{Y'}$, and p_2 satisfies Assumption 2.1.
- (2) Y' is normal.

Proof. First, we treat the case (1). We may assume that \mathcal{F} is flat over an open subset $U \subset Y$ with $\operatorname{codim}(Y \setminus U) \geq 2$. Then

$$\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}'/Y'}(p_1^*\eta)|_{\tau^{-1}(U)} \simeq \tau^*(\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\eta)|_U)$$

by Lemma 2.3 and Remark 3.8; in other words, the invertible sheaf

$$\mathcal{N} := \mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}'/Y'}(p_1^*\eta) \otimes \tau^* \mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\eta)^{-1}$$

is trivial on $\tau^{-1}(U)$. By Proposition 3.19 and by $\mathcal{O}_Y \simeq \tau_* \mathcal{O}_{Y'}$, we infer that $\mathcal{M} := \tau_* \mathcal{N}$ is an invertible sheaf on Y and $\mathcal{N} \simeq \tau^* \mathcal{M}$. Here, \mathcal{M} is trivial on U. Hence, $\mathcal{M} \simeq \mathcal{O}_Y$ since Y is normal and $\operatorname{codim}(Y \setminus U) \ge 2$. Therefore, $\mathcal{N} \simeq \mathcal{O}_{Y'}$, and the expected base change formula is obtained.

Second, we consider the case (2). We may replace Y' with an open subset whose complement has codimension greater than one. Hence, we may assume that \mathcal{F}' is flat over Y' also in case (2). By Nagata's completion theorem, Y' is realized as an open subset of an integral scheme $\overline{Y'}$ proper over Y. Let $Y'' \to \overline{Y'}$ be a flattening over $\overline{Y'}$ of the pullback of \mathcal{F} in $X \times_Y \overline{Y'}$. Then, it is enough to show the same base change formula for $X \times_Y Y'' \to Y''$. Precisely speaking, we are reduced to prove Lemma 3.21 below. In fact, the sheaf $\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}'/Y'}(p_1^*x)$ is isomorphic to $\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}'/Y'}(p_1^*\eta)$ if Y' is normal (cf. Remark 3.8).

Lemma 3.21. Under the same situation of Theorem 3.20, instead of the conditions (1), (2), assume that

(3) p_2 is locally projective, τ is proper surjective, and \mathcal{F}' is flat over Y'. Let $x \in F^{d+1}(X)$ be an element representing η and set

$$\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}'/Y'}(p_1^*x) := \det p_{2*}^{\mathcal{F}'}(p_1^*x)$$

for the homomorphisms $p_{2*}^{\mathcal{F}'} \colon K^{\bullet}(X') \to K^{\bullet}(Y')_{\text{perf}}$ and det: $K^{\bullet}(Y')_{\text{perf}} \to \text{Pic}(Y')$. Then, there is a finite birational morphism $\nu \colon Y'_1 \to Y'$ from a separated Noetherian integral scheme Y'_1 such that

$$\nu^*\left(\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}'/Y'}(p_1^*x)\right) \simeq \nu^*\tau^*\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\eta).$$

Proof. Let $U \subset Y$ be an open subset $U \subset Y$ such that $\mathcal{F}_{t.f./Y}$ is flat over U and $\operatorname{codim}(Y \setminus U) \geq 2$. Then,

$$\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}'/Y'}(p_1^*x)|_{\tau^{-1}(U)} \simeq \tau^*(\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\eta)|_U)$$

by Lemma 2.3 (cf. Remark 3.8). We set

$$\mathcal{N} := \mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}'/Y'}(p_1^*x) \otimes \tau^* \mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\eta)^{-1}$$

Then \mathcal{N} has a rational section s which is nowhere vanishing on $\tau^{-1}(U)$. By Proposition 3.19, there is an open covering $\{Y_{\alpha}\}$ of Y such that \mathcal{N} is trivial over $\tau^{-1}(Y_{\alpha})$. Let $Y' \to Y_0 \to Y$ be the Stein factorization of τ . Then, for the morphism $\tau_0: Y' \to Y_0$, $\mathcal{M} := \tau_{0*}\mathcal{N}$ is invertible and $\mathcal{N} \simeq \tau_0^*\mathcal{M}$. Thus, s descends to a rational section s_0 of \mathcal{M} which is nowhere vanishing on $h^{-1}(U)$ for the finite morphism $h: Y_0 \to Y$. Let $\mu: Y_1 \to Y_0$ be the normalization. Then μ is a finite morphism since $h_*\mu_*\mathcal{O}_{Y_1}$ is the double-dual of $h_*\mathcal{O}_{Y_0}$. Hence, $\mu^*(s_0)$ is a nowhere vanishing section of $\mu^*\mathcal{M}$, since Y_1 is normal and $\operatorname{codim}(Y_1 \setminus \mu^{-1}h^{-1}(U)) \geq 2$. Let Y'_1 be the unique integral closed subscheme of $Y_1 \times_{Y_0} Y'$ which dominates Y'. Then $\nu^*\mathcal{N}$ is trivial for the finite birational morphism $\nu: Y'_1 \to Y'_2$.

The following gives a base change property by not necessarily dominant morphisms from normal schemes.

Proposition 3.22. Let $\pi: X \to Y$ be a projective surjective morphism over a normal separated Noetherian integral scheme Y, and \mathcal{F} a coherent sheaf on X with dim(Supp $\mathcal{F} \cap \pi^{-1}(y)$) = d for any point $y \in Y$. Let $\nu: B \to Y$ be a morphism from a normal separated Noetherian integral scheme B and $\mu: X \times_Y B \to X$ the induced morphism. Then there exist a coherent sheaf $\widehat{\mathcal{F}}_B$ on $X \times_Y B$ and a positive integer e such that Supp $\widehat{\mathcal{F}}_B \subset \mu^{-1}(\text{Supp }\mathcal{F})$, dim(Supp $\widehat{\mathcal{F}}_B \cap (X \times_Y \{b\})) = d$ for any $b \in B$, and

$$\nu^* \mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\eta)^{\otimes e} \simeq \mathcal{I}_{\widehat{\mathcal{F}}_P/B}(\mu^* \eta)$$

for any $\eta \in G^{d+1}(X)$.

Remark. If \mathcal{F} is flat over Y, then one can take e = 1 and $\widehat{\mathcal{F}}_B = \nu^* \mathcal{F}$, by Lemma 2.12.

Proof of Proposition 3.22. Let $\tau: Y' \to Y$ be a projective birational morphism from an integral scheme Y' which gives a flattening of \mathcal{F}/Y . For the fiber product $X' = X \times_Y Y'$, let $p_1: X' \to X$ and $p_2: X' \to Y'$ be the natural projections. Here, $\mathcal{F}' = (p_1^*\mathcal{F})_{\mathrm{t.f.}/Y'}$ is flat over Y'. There is a closed integral subscheme $B' \subset Y' \times_Y B$ such that $\tau_B :=$ $\tau \times_Y \mathrm{id}_B: B' \to B$ is surjective and generically finite. We set ν' to be the morphism $B' \subset Y' \times_Y B \to Y'$. Let W and W' be the fiber products $X \times_Y B$ and $X' \times_{Y'} B'$, respectively. Let $\pi_B = \pi \times_Y \mathrm{id}_B: W \to B, q_1: W' \to W, q_2: W' \to B'$, and $\mu': W' \to X'$ be the induced morphisms. Note that the induced morphism $W \to X$ is μ . For the sheaf $\mathcal{F}'_{W'} := \mu'^* \mathcal{F}'$, we have

$$\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}'_{W'}/B'}(\mu'^*p_1^*\eta) \simeq \nu'^* \mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}'/Y'}(p_1^*\eta) \simeq \tau_B^*\nu^* \mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\eta)$$

for any $\eta \in G^{d+1}(X)$ by Lemma 2.12 and Theorem 3.20. On the other hand,

$$\boldsymbol{c}^{1}(\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}'_{W'}/B'}(\mu'^{*}p_{1}^{*}\eta)) = q_{2*}^{\mathcal{F}'_{W'}}(\mu'^{*}p_{1}^{*}\eta) \in G^{1}(B').$$

Since B is normal, τ_B is a finite morphism over an open subset of B whose complement has codimension greater than one. Hence, $\tau_{B*}F_{\rm con}^2(B') \subset F_{\rm con}^2(B)$ for the homomorphism $\tau_{B*}: K_{\bullet}(B') \to K_{\bullet}(B)$. Therefore, the natural homomorphism $\nu'_*: G^1(B') \to G_{\rm con}^1(B)$ is induced and the following equalities in $G_{\rm con}^1(B)$ make sense:

$$\tau_{B*} q_{2*}^{\mathcal{F}'_{W'}}(\mu'^* p_1^* \eta) = \pi_{B*} q_{1*}((\mu'^* p_1^* \eta) \operatorname{cl}_{\bullet}(\mathcal{F}'_{W'})) = \pi_{B*}((\mu^* \eta) \operatorname{cl}_{\bullet}(\mathbf{R} q_{1*} \operatorname{cl}_{\bullet}(\mathcal{F}'_{W'})).$$

Now, $\operatorname{Supp}(\operatorname{R}^{i} q_{1*}(\mathcal{F}' \otimes \mathcal{O}_{W'}))$ does not dominate *B* for any i > 0. Hence, for the sheaf $\widehat{\mathcal{F}}_{B} := q_{1*}\mathcal{F}'_{W'}$ on *W*, we have

$$c^{1}(\nu^{*}\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\eta))\tau_{B*}(\mathrm{cl}_{\bullet}(\mathcal{O}_{B'})) = \tau_{B*}c^{1}(\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}'_{W'}/B'}(\mu'^{*}p_{1}^{*}\eta)) = \pi_{B*}((\mu^{*}\eta)\operatorname{cl}_{\bullet}(\widehat{\mathcal{F}}_{B})) = \pi_{B*}^{\widehat{\mathcal{F}}_{B}}(\mu^{*}\eta)$$

in $G^{1}_{\mathrm{con}}(B)$. Therefore,

$$u^* \mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}/Y}(\eta)^{\otimes e} \simeq \mathcal{I}_{\widehat{\mathcal{F}}_B/B}(\mu^*\eta)$$

by $\tau_{B*}(\mathrm{cl}_{\bullet}(\mathcal{O}_{B'})) = e \operatorname{cl}_{\bullet}(\mathcal{O}_{B}) \in G^{0}_{\mathrm{con}}(B)$ for the rank e of $\tau_{B*}\mathcal{O}_{B'}$. The remaining assertions follow from $\operatorname{Supp} \mathcal{F}'_{W'} \subset \mu'^{-1}p_{1}^{-1}(\operatorname{Supp} \mathcal{F})$ and $\dim(\operatorname{Supp} \mathcal{F}'_{W'})/B' = d$. \Box

The following is an application of Theorem 3.20:

Proposition 3.23. Let $\pi: X \to Y$ be a locally projective surjective morphism of kschemes for a field k such that Y is a normal separated Noetherian integral scheme, and let \mathcal{F} be a coherent sheaf on X with dim $(\operatorname{Supp} \mathcal{F} \cap \pi^{-1}(y)) \leq d$ for any point $y \in Y$. Let T be a normal separated Noetherian integral k-scheme, \mathcal{F}_T the sheaf $p_1^*\mathcal{F}$ for the first projection $p_1: X \times_k T \to X$, and $\tilde{\eta}$ an element of $G^{d+1}(X \times_k T)$. For a k-valued point $t \in T(k)$, put $X_t := X \times_k \{t\}, Y_t := Y \times_k \{t\}, \mathcal{F}_t := \mathcal{F}_T \otimes \mathcal{O}_{X_t}$, and $\eta_t := \tilde{\eta}|_{X_t} \in G^{d+1}(X_t)$. Then,

$$\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}_T/Y \times_{\Bbbk} T}(\tilde{\eta})|_{Y_t} \simeq \mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{F}_t/Y_t}(\eta_t).$$

Proof. By taking a flattening of \mathcal{F}/Y , and by Theorem 3.20, we may assume that \mathcal{F} is flat over Y. Then the assertion follows from Lemma 2.3.

4. Intersection sheaves for varieties over a field

In what follows, we shall work in the category of k-schemes for a fixed field k. A variety (over k) is by definition an integral separated scheme of finite type over Spec k. We shall study the intersections sheaves for morphisms $X \to Y$ of normal projective varieties. In Section 4.1, we study some numerical properties of $\mathcal{I}_{X/Y}$. In Section 4.2, for a family Z of effective algebraic cycles of pure dimension of X parametrized by Y (hence, Z is a cycle of $X \times Y$) and for an ample invertible sheaf \mathcal{A} of X, we show that the intersection sheaf $\mathcal{I}_{Z/Y}(p_1^*\mathcal{A}, \ldots, p_1^*\mathcal{A})$ is just the pullback of an ample invertible sheaf by the morphism to the Chow variety of X determined by Z/Y. An application to the study of endomorphisms of complex projective normal varieties is given in Section 4.3.

4.1. Numerical properties of intersection sheaves. Let $\pi: X \to Y$ be a proper surjective equi-dimensional morphism from a projective variety X to a normal variety Y. Note that Y is proper over Spec k. We set $d = \dim X/Y$ and $m = \dim Y$. Then the intersection sheaf $\mathcal{I}_{X/Y}(\eta)$ for $\eta \in G^{d+1}(X)$ is also defined as $\pi_* \phi(\eta) \mod F^2_{\mathrm{con}}(Y) =$ $F_{m-2}(Y)$ for $\phi: G^{d+1}(X) \to G^{d+1}_{\mathrm{con}}(X) = G_{m-1}(X)$ and $\pi_*: G_{m-1}(X) \to G_{m-1}(Y)$.

The base space Y is projective by the following, which is an analogue of [22], Théorème 2 on Kähler spaces:

Theorem 4.1. Let $\pi: X \to Y$ be a proper surjective morphism from a projective scheme to a normal algebraic variety defined over a field. Suppose that π is equi-dimensional. Then Y is projective.

Proof. Let \mathcal{A} be a very ample invertible of X. We set $\eta = \mathbf{c}^1(\mathcal{A})^{d+1} \in G^{d+1}(X)$ for $d = \dim X/Y$. Then $\mathcal{I}_{X/Y}(\eta) = \mathcal{I}_{X/Y}(\mathcal{A}, \ldots, \mathcal{A})$ is an invertible sheaf generated by global sections by Corollary 3.18 (cf. Lemma 2.18). We shall show that $\mathcal{I}_{X/Y}(\eta)$ is ample. For this, it is enough to prove that the intersection number $\mathcal{I}_{X/Y}(\eta)C$ is positive for any irreducible curve $C \subset Y$. Let $\nu \colon B \to C$ be the normalization and $\mu \colon X \times_Y B \to X$ the induced finite morphism. Then there exist a coherent sheaf $\widehat{\mathcal{F}}_B$ on $X \times_Y B$ and a positive integer e such that dim Supp $\widehat{\mathcal{F}}_B = d + 1$ and

$$\nu^* \mathcal{I}_{X/Y}(\eta)^{\otimes e} \simeq \mathcal{I}_{\widehat{\mathcal{F}}_B/B}(\mu^* \eta)$$

by Proposition 3.22. Hence,

$$e \mathcal{I}_{X/Y}(\eta)C = \deg \mathcal{I}_{\widehat{\mathcal{F}}_B/B}(\mu^*\eta) = i(\mu^*\eta; \widehat{\mathcal{F}}_B) = i(\mu^*\mathcal{A}, \dots, \mu^*\mathcal{A}; \widehat{\mathcal{F}}_B) > 0.$$

In order to calculate the intersection sheaves $\mathcal{I}_{X/Y}(\eta)$, we may replace X with the normalization. In fact, we have:

Lemma 4.2. Let $\nu \colon \widehat{X} \to X$ be a finite surjective morphism from another projective variety \widehat{X} . Then

$$\mathcal{I}_{\widehat{X}/Y}(\nu^*\eta) \simeq \mathcal{I}_{X/Y}(\eta)^{\otimes e}$$

for any $\eta \in G^{d+1}(X)$ and for the degree $e = \deg(f)$.

Proof. Since e is the rank of $\nu_* \mathcal{O}_{\widehat{X}}$, we have $\nu_* \operatorname{cl}_{\bullet}(\mathcal{O}_{\widehat{X}}) = e \operatorname{cl}_{\bullet}(\mathcal{O}_X)$ in $G^0_{\operatorname{con}}(X)$, which proves the formula.

In Lemma 4.3 and Theorem 4.4 below, we shall give sufficient conditions for an intersection sheaf $\mathcal{I}_{X/Y}(\eta)$ to be ample or nef.

Lemma 4.3. Let η be an element of $G^{d+1}(X)$ such that $i(\eta; W) \geq 0$ for any closed irreducible subset $W \subset \text{Supp } \mathcal{F}$ of dimension d + 1. Then $\mathcal{I}_{X/Y}(\eta)$ is nef.

Proof. For an irreducible curve C of Y, let $B \to C$ be the normalization. Then, by Proposition 3.22, there exist positive integer e and a coherent sheaf $\hat{\mathcal{F}}_B$ of $X \times_Y B$ such that

$$e \mathcal{I}_{X/Y}(\eta)C = i(\mu^*\eta; \widehat{\mathcal{F}}_B) = i(\eta; \mu_*\widehat{\mathcal{F}}_B) \ge 0$$

for the induced finite morphism $\mu: X \times_Y B \to X$.

Theorem 4.4. Let $\pi: X \to Y$ be an equi-dimensional proper surjective morphism of normal projective varieties defined over a field. Let θ be an element of $G^d(X)$ for $d = \dim X/Y$. For an invertible sheaf \mathcal{L} of X, the intersection sheaf $\mathcal{M} := \mathcal{I}_{X/Y}(\theta \mathbf{c}^1(\mathcal{L}))$ satisfies the following properties:

- (1) If \mathcal{L} is algebraically equivalent to zero, then so is \mathcal{M} .
- (2) If \mathcal{L} is numerically trivial, then so is \mathcal{M} .

Assume that $i(\theta; W) \ge 0$ for any closed subscheme $W \subset X$ with dim W = d. Then the following properties are also satisfied:

- (3) If \mathcal{L} is nef, then so is \mathcal{M} .
- (4) If \mathcal{L} is ample and if $i_{X/Y}(\theta) > 0$, then \mathcal{M} is ample.

Proof. Let $\overline{\Bbbk}$ be the algebraic closure of the base field \Bbbk . Let \overline{Y} be the normalization of a closed integral subscheme of $Y \otimes_{\Bbbk} \overline{\Bbbk}$ which dominates Y. Then, by Lemma 3.9, it suffices to show the assertion for the pullback $X \times_Y \overline{Y} \to \overline{Y}$ of π . Hence, we may assume from the beginning that \Bbbk is algebraically closed.

(1) follows from Proposition 3.23.

(2): $i(\theta c^1(\mathcal{L}); W') = 0$ for any closed subscheme $W' \subset X$ of dimension d + 1, since \mathcal{L} is numerically trivial. Hence, $\mathcal{M}C = 0$ for any irreducible curve $C \subset Y$ by the proof of Lemma 4.3.

(3): By Lemma 4.3, it suffices to show

(IV-1)
$$i(\theta c^1(\mathcal{L}); W') \ge 0$$

for any closed subvariety $W' \subset X$ of dimension d+1. If \mathcal{L} is very ample, then dim $W' \cap A = d$ for a general member $A \in |\mathcal{L}|$ (cf. Lemma 3.14). Hence,

$$i(\theta c^1(\mathcal{L}); W') = i(\theta; W' \cap A) \ge 0.$$

Thus, (IV-1) holds if \mathcal{L} is ample. Even if \mathcal{L} is only nef, $\mathcal{L}^{\otimes N} \otimes \mathcal{A}$ is ample for any ample invertible sheaf \mathcal{A} of X and for any N > 0. Thus

$$0 \le i(\theta \, \boldsymbol{c}^1(\mathcal{L}^{\otimes N} \otimes A); W') = Ni(\theta \, \boldsymbol{c}^1(\mathcal{L}); W') + i(\theta \, \boldsymbol{c}^1(\mathcal{A}); W')$$

for any N > 0. Hence, (IV-1) holds for any nef invertible sheaf \mathcal{L} .

(4): Let \mathcal{A} be an ample invertible sheaf on Y. Then $\mathcal{L}^{\otimes b} \otimes \pi^* \mathcal{A}^{-1}$ is ample for some b > 0. Thus,

$$\mathcal{I}_{X/Y}(\theta \, \boldsymbol{c}^1(\mathcal{L}^{\otimes b} \otimes \pi^* \mathcal{A}^{-1})) \simeq \mathcal{M}^{\otimes b} \otimes \mathcal{I}_{X/Y}(\theta \, \boldsymbol{c}^1(\pi^* \mathcal{A}))^{-1} \simeq \mathcal{M}^{\otimes b} \otimes \mathcal{A}^{\otimes (-i_{X/Y}(\theta))}$$

is nef by (3) (cf. Lemma 3.10). Hence, \mathcal{M} is ample.

In Lemma 4.5 and Theorem 4.7 below, we shall give sufficient conditions for an intersection sheaf $\mathcal{I}_{X/Y}(\eta)$ to be effective, big, or pseudo-effective.

Lemma 4.5. Let $B \subset Y$ be a closed subset of $\operatorname{codim}(B) \geq 2$ and Z an effective algebraic cycle of $X \setminus \pi^{-1}(B)$ of codimension d such that any irreducible component of Z dominates $Y \setminus B$. Let $\theta \in G^d(X)$ be an element such that

$$\phi(\theta|_{X\setminus \pi^{-1}(B)}) = \mathrm{cl}_{\bullet}(Z) \quad \in K_{\bullet}(X\setminus \pi^{-1}(B)).$$

If D is an effective Cartier divisor on X which does not contain any irreducible component of Z, then the intersection sheaf $\mathcal{I}_{X/Y}(\theta \, \mathbf{c}^1(\mathcal{O}_X(D)))$ has a non-zero global section.

Proof. Let $Z = \sum n_i Z_i$ be the irreducible decomposition. Then

$${\mathcal I}_{X/Y}(heta\,oldsymbol{c}^1({\mathcal L}))|_{Y\setminus B}\simeqigotimes{\mathcal I}_{Z_i/Y\setminus B}({\mathcal L}|_{Z_i})^{\otimes n_i}.$$

If \mathcal{M} is an invertible sheaf on Y, then $\mathrm{H}^{0}(Y, \mathcal{M}) \simeq \mathrm{H}^{0}(Y \setminus B', \mathcal{M})$ for a closed subset $B' \supset B$ with $\mathrm{codim}(B') \geq 2$. Thus, by replacing Y with $Y \setminus B'$ for certain closed subset $B' \supset B$ with $\mathrm{codim}(B') \geq 2$, and X with Z, we are reduced to prove the existence of a nonzero global section of $\mathcal{M} = \mathcal{I}_{X/Y}(\mathcal{O}_X(D))$ for a finite surjective morphism $\pi \colon X \to Y$ of not necessarily projective varieties, where Y is normal, and for an effective Cartier divisor D on X. We may also assume that X is normal by Lemma 4.2. Then, the assertion follows from the property that the push-forward π_*D is effective and from the isomorphism $\mathcal{O}_Y(\pi_*D) \simeq \mathcal{I}_{X/Y}(\mathcal{O}_X(D))$ (cf. Example 3.4). \Box

Definition 4.6 (cf. [23]). Let \mathcal{N} be an invertible sheaf on a normal projective variety X defined over an algebraically closed field, and $W \subset X$ a closed subset. If the following condition is satisfied, then \mathcal{N} is called *weakly positive outside* W:

• For an ample invertible sheaf \mathcal{A} on X, an arbitrary point $x \in X \setminus W$, and for any positive rational number ε , there exist a positive integer m with $m\varepsilon \in \mathbb{Z}$ and an effective divisor D such that $\mathcal{O}_X(D) \simeq \mathcal{N}^{\otimes m} \otimes \mathcal{A}^{\otimes m\varepsilon}$ and $x \notin \text{Supp } D$.

Theorem 4.7. Let $\pi: X \to Y$ be an equi-dimensional proper surjective morphism of normal projective varieties defined over an algebraically closed field with $d = \dim X/Y$. Let $\mathcal{N}_1, \ldots, \mathcal{N}_d$ be invertible sheaves on X which are weakly positive outside $\pi^{-1}(B)$ for a closed subset $B \subset Y$ of $\operatorname{codim}(B) \geq 2$. For an invertible sheaf \mathcal{L} of X, the intersection sheaf $\mathcal{M} := \mathcal{I}_{X/Y}(\mathcal{N}_1, \ldots, \mathcal{N}_d, \mathcal{L})$ satisfies the following properties:

- (1) If \mathcal{L} is pseudo-effective, then so is \mathcal{M} .
- (2) If \mathcal{L} is big and if $i_{X/Y}(\mathcal{N}_1, \ldots, \mathcal{N}_d) > 0$, then \mathcal{M} is big.
- (3) If all the \mathcal{N}_i and \mathcal{L} are nef and big, then \mathcal{M} is also nef and big.

Proof. (1): Let \mathcal{A} be an ample invertible sheaf on X and ε a positive rational number. Then there is an effective divisor Δ such that $\mathcal{O}_X(\Delta) \simeq \mathcal{L}^{\otimes l} \otimes \mathcal{A}^{\otimes l\varepsilon}$ for some l > 0 with $l\varepsilon \in \mathbb{Z}$. By the weak positivity, there exist also positive integers m_1, \ldots, m_d and effective divisors D_1, \ldots, D_d such that

- $m_i \varepsilon \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $\mathcal{O}_X(D_i) \simeq \mathcal{N}_i^{\otimes m_i} \otimes \mathcal{A}^{m_i \varepsilon}$ for any $1 \leq i \leq d$,
- $\operatorname{codim}(V \cap \Delta \cap \pi^{-1}(Y \setminus B)) = d + 1$ for the intersection $V = D_1 \cap \cdots \cap D_d$, and
- $V \cap \pi^{-1}(Y \setminus B') \to Y \setminus B'$ is a finite surjective morphism for a closed subset $B' \supset B$ with $\operatorname{codim}(B') \ge 2$.

Hence, $\mathcal{I}_{X/Y}(\mathcal{O}_X(D_1), \ldots, \mathcal{O}_X(D_d), \mathcal{O}_X(\Delta))$ has a non-zero global section by Lemma 4.5. Taking the limit $\varepsilon \to 0$, we infer that \mathcal{M} is pseudo-effective.

(2): $\mathcal{L}^{\otimes b} \otimes \pi^* \mathcal{A}^{-1}$ has a non-zero global section for an ample invertible sheaf \mathcal{A} and a positive integer b. Hence, by the same argument as in the proof of Theorem 4.4, (4), we infer that $\mathcal{M}^{\otimes b} \otimes \mathcal{A}^{\otimes (-k)}$ is pseudo-effective for $k = i_{X/Y}(\mathcal{N}_1, \ldots, \mathcal{N}_d)$ by (1). Thus, \mathcal{M} is big.

(3) is a consequence of (2) above and Theorem 4.4, (3). \Box

4.2. Morphisms into Chow varieties. Let X be a projective variety, Y a normal variety, and let $p_1: X \times Y \to X$ and $p_2: X \times Y \to Y$ be the natural projections. Let us fix a non-negative integer d.

Definition 4.8. Let $Z = \sum n_i Z_i$ be an effective algebraic cycle of $X \times Y$, where $n_i > 0$ and Z_i is a closed integral subscheme of $X \times Y$. The cycle Z is called a *family of* effective algebraic cycles of X of dimension d parametrized by Y if $p_2: Z_i \to Y$ is an equi-dimensional surjective morphism of relative dimension d for any i. We denote by Supp Z the reduced scheme $\bigcup_i Z_i$.

Let $Z = \sum n_i Z_i$ be a family of effective algebraic cycles of X of dimension d parametrized by Y. For a point $y \in Y$, $Z_i \times_Y y$ is a closed subscheme of $X \otimes_{\Bbbk} \Bbbk(y)$ of pure dimension d, where $\Bbbk(y)$ denotes the residue field of $\mathcal{O}_{Y,y}$. Thus, for the associated cycles $\operatorname{cyc}(Z_i \times_Y y)$, we can define the algebraic cycle Z(y) to be $\sum n_i \operatorname{cyc}(Z_i \times_Y y)$.

Let $\tau: Y' \to Y$ be a surjective morphism from a normal variety Y'. Then one can consider the pullback τ^*Z as follows: Let $\{Z'_{i,j}\}$ be the set of irreducible components of $Z_i \times_Y Y'$ such that $Z'_{i,j}$ dominates Y'. Let $l_{i,j}$ be the length of $Z_i \times_Y Y'$ along $Z'_{i,j}$, i.e.,

$$l_{i,j} = l_{Z'_{i,j}}(\mathcal{O}_{Z_i \times_Y Y'}).$$

We set τ^*Z to be the cycle $\sum_{i,j} n_i l_{i,j} Z'_{i,j}$. Then, τ^*Z is a family of effective algebraic cycles of X of dimension d parametrized by Y'. By Lemma 3.6 and Theorem 3.20, we have:

Lemma 4.9. For any $\eta \in G^{d+1}(X)$, there is an isomorphism

$$\mathcal{I}_{\tau^*Z/Y'}(p_1^*\eta) \simeq \tau^* \mathcal{I}_{Z/Y}(p_1^*\eta).$$

We shall show the following:

Theorem 4.10. Let X be a projective variety, Y a normal projective variety, and Z a family of algebraic cycles of X of dimension d parametrized by Y. Then, there exist a proper surjective morphism $\varphi: Y \to T$ into a normal projective variety T with connected fibers and a family Z_T of algebraic cycle of X of dimension d parametrized by T such that

(1)
$$Z = \varphi^* Z_T$$

- (2) $\varphi^* \mathcal{I}_{Z_T/T}(p_1^*\eta) \simeq \mathcal{I}_{Z/Y}(p_1^*\eta)$ for any $\eta \in G^{d+1}(X)$,
- (3) $\mathcal{I}_{Z_T/T}(p_1^*\mathcal{A}_1,\ldots,p_1^*\mathcal{A}_{d+1})$ is ample for any ample invertible sheaves \mathcal{A}_i on X,

where p_1 denotes the first projection $X \times Y \to X$ or $X \times T \to X$.

The proof is given after Lemmas 4.11 and 4.12.

Lemma 4.11. Let $B \subset Y$ be a connected closed algebraic subset and $F \subset X$ the image $p_1(\operatorname{Supp} Z \cap (X \times B))$. Suppose that dim F = d. Then $\operatorname{Supp} Z \cap (X \times B) = F \times B$ as an algebraic subset of $X \times Y$.

Proof. We write S = Supp Z. By construction, there is a natural inclusion $S \cap (X \times B) \subset F \times B$. In order to show the converse inclusion, we may assume B to be irreducible since B is connected. Furthermore, we can reduce to the case where $Z_i \to Y$ is flat for any i

as follows: We can find a birational morphism $Y' \to Y$ from a normal projective variety Y' which gives a flattening of $Z_i \to Y$ for any *i*. Let Z'_i be the irreducible component of $Z_i \times_Y Y'$ flat over Y'. Then $Z'_i \to Z_i$ is surjective since it is birational. Let S' be the union $\bigcup_i Z'_i$. Then $S' \cap (X \times B') \subset F' \times B'$ for $B' = B \times_Y Y'$ and for the image $F' \subset X$ of $S' \cap (X \times B')$ by the first projection $X \times Y' \to X$. Here, F = F' since $S' \to S$ is surjective. Thus, if $S' \cap (X \times B') = F \times B'$, then we have $S \cap (X \times B) = F \times B$ by considering the image by $X \times Y' \to X \times Y$.

Therefore, we may assume that B is irreducible and $Z_i \to Y$ is flat for any i. Let $\{V_{i,j}\}$ be the set of irreducible components of $Z_i \cap (X \times B)$. Then $p_2(V_{i,j}) = B$ and $\dim V_{i,j} = \dim B + d$, since $V_{i,j} \to B$ is flat at the generic point of $V_{i,j}$. Let $F_{i,j}$ be the image $p_1(V_{i,j})$. Then the natural inclusion $V_{i,j} \subset F_{i,j} \times B$ is just the equality, since the both sides are irreducible subvarieties of $X \times Y$ with the same dimension. Therefore, $Z_i \cap (X \times B) = F_i \times B$ for the union $F_i = \bigcup_j F_{i,j}$, and finally, $S \cap (X \times B) = F \times B$ by $F = \bigcup F_i$.

Let $\mathcal{A}_1, \ldots, \mathcal{A}_d$ be very ample invertible sheaves on X. Then we can consider the intersection sheaf $\mathcal{M} := \mathcal{I}_{Z/Y}(p_1^*\mathcal{A}_1, \ldots, p_1^*\mathcal{A}_d)$. Here, \mathcal{M} is generated by global sections by Corollary 3.18. Let $\varphi \colon Y \to T$ be the Stein factorization of the morphism

$$\Phi_{|\mathcal{M}|} \colon Y \to |\mathcal{M}|^{\vee} = \mathbb{P}(\mathrm{H}^{0}(Y, \mathcal{M})) = \operatorname{Proj}(\operatorname{Sym} \mathrm{H}^{0}(Y, \mathcal{M}))$$

associated with the linear system $|\mathcal{M}|$. In other words, φ is the canonical morphism

$$Y \to T = \operatorname{Proj} \bigoplus_{l \ge 0} \operatorname{H}^0(Y, \mathcal{M}^{\otimes l}).$$

Lemma 4.12. For an integral closed subscheme $B \subset Y$, $\varphi(B)$ is a point if and only if Supp $Z \cap (X \times B) = F \times B$ for a closed subset $F \subset X$. In particular, the morphism φ does not depend on the choices of very ample invertible sheaves \mathcal{A}_i .

Proof. By Lemma 4.11, the latter condition is equivalent to dim $p_1(\operatorname{Supp} Z \cap (X \times B)) = d$. Let $\tau \colon Y' \to Y$ be a projective birational morphism from a normal projective variety Y'which gives a flattening of $Z_i \to Y$ for any i. Then $\tau^* \mathcal{M} \simeq \mathcal{I}_{\tau^* Z/Y'}(p_1^* \eta)$ by Lemma 4.9. Thus $\varphi \circ \tau$ is associated with the family $\tau^* Z$ of algebraic cycles parametrized by Y'. Hence, we can replace Y with Y' in order to show the assertion. Therefore, we assume from the beginning that $Z_i \to Y$ is flat for any i. Then,

$$\mathcal{M}|_B \simeq \mathcal{I}_{Z \times_Y B/B}(p_1^* \eta)$$

by Lemma 2.12.

If dim $p_1(\operatorname{Supp} Z \cap (X \times B)) = d$, then $p_1^* \eta \operatorname{cl}_{\bullet}(Z) = 0 \in G_{\operatorname{con}}^{d+1}(Z \times_Y B)$; hence, $\mathcal{M}|_B$ is numerically equivalent to zero, and $\varphi(B)$ is a point.

If dim $p_1(\operatorname{Supp} Z \cap (X \times B)) \ge d + 1$, then there is an irreducible curve $C \subset B$ such that dim $(\operatorname{Supp} Z \cap (X \times C)) = \dim p_{1*}(\operatorname{Supp} Z \cap (X \times C)) = d + 1$ by Lemma 4.11; hence

$$\deg \mathcal{M}|_C = i(p_1^*\eta; Z \times_Y C) > 0,$$

which implies that $\varphi(B)$ is not a point.

We are ready to prove Theorem 4.10:

Proof of Theorem 4.10. Let $Z_{T,i} \subset X \times T$ be the image of Z_i by $\mathrm{id}_X \times \varphi \colon X \times Y \to X \times T$, and let Z_T be the cycle $\sum n_i Z_{T,i}$. Then the natural inclusion $Z_i \subset Z_{T,i} \times_T Y$ is an equality of algebraic sets by Lemma 4.11. Hence the second projection $p_2 \colon Z_{T,i} \to T$ is a surjective equi-dimensional morphism of relative dimension d; thus Z_T is a family of algebraic cycles of X of dimension d parametrized by T. Let $U \subset Y$ be an open dense subset such that $\varphi \colon Y \to T$ is flat along U. Then $Z_{T,i} \times_T U$ is reduced. Hence, the inclusion $Z_i \subset Z_{T,i} \times_T Y$ is an isomorphism over U. Thus, the equality $\varphi^* Z_T = Z$ in (1) follows. The isomorphism (2) follows from (1) and Lemma 4.9. The condition (3) follows from (2) and Lemma 4.12.

Remark 4.13. We fix a closed immersion $X \hookrightarrow \mathbb{P}^n$ into an *n*-dimensional projective space \mathbb{P}^n and set $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{O}(1)|_X$. Let R_n be the vector space $\mathrm{H}^0(\mathbb{P}^n, \mathcal{O}(1))$. We set $\theta = \mathbf{c}^1(\mathcal{A})^d \in G^d(X)$ and $\eta = \mathbf{c}^1(\mathcal{A})^{d+1} \in G^{d+1}(X)$. Furthermore, we set

$$e := i_{Z/Y}(p_1^*\theta) = i_{Z/Y}(p_1^*\mathcal{A}, \dots, p_1^*\mathcal{A}) = i_{Z/Y}(p_1^*\mathcal{O}(1), \dots, p_1^*\mathcal{O}(1)),$$
$$\mathcal{M} := \mathcal{I}_{Z/Y}(p_1^*\eta) = \mathcal{I}_{Z/Y}(p_1^*\mathcal{A}, \dots, p_1^*\mathcal{A}) = \mathcal{I}_{Z/Y}(p_1^*\mathcal{O}(1), \dots, p_1^*\mathcal{O}(1))$$

Then by Propositions 2.7 and 3.17 (cf. Lemma 2.18), we have a natural surjection

$$\bigotimes^{d+1} \operatorname{Sym}^{e}(R_n) \otimes_{\Bbbk} \mathcal{O}_Y \to \mathcal{M}.$$

By construction, the associated morphism

$$\psi \colon Y \to \mathbb{P}\left(\bigotimes^{d+1} \operatorname{Sym}^{e}(R_n)\right)$$

is just the morphism to the Chow variety $\operatorname{Chow}_{d,e}(X) \subset \operatorname{Chow}_{d,e}(\mathbb{P}^n)$ of d-dimensional algebraic cycles of degree e corresponding to $y \mapsto Z(y)$. Therefore, $\varphi \colon Y \to T$ is just the Stein factorization of ψ .

Proposition 4.14. Let $\pi: X \dots \to Y$ be a dominant rational map from a projective variety X to a normal projective variety Y. Then there exist a normal projective variety T and a birational map $\mu: Y \dots \to T$ satisfying the following conditions:

(1) Let $\Gamma_T \subset X \times T$ be the graph of the composite $\mu \circ \pi \colon X \cdots \to Y \cdots \to T$. Then $\Gamma_T \to T$ is equi-dimensional.

(2) Let μ': Y ··· → T' be a birational map to another normal projective variety T' such that Γ_{T'} → T' is equi-dimensional. Then there exists a birational morphism ν: T' → T with μ = ν ∘ μ'.

Proof. There exist many birational maps $\mu': Y \cdots \to T'$ to normal projective varieties T' such that the graph $\Gamma_{T'} \subset X \times T'$ of $\mu' \circ \pi: X \cdots \to T'$ induces an equi-dimensional morphism $\Gamma_{T'} \to T'$. For example, a flattening of π creates such a rational map. For the rational map $\mu': Y \cdots \to T'$, let us consider the intersection sheaf

$$\mathcal{M}' = \mathcal{I}_{\Gamma_{T'}/T'}(p_1^*\eta)$$

for $\eta = c^1(\mathcal{A})^{d+1} \in G^{d+1}(X)$ for an ample invertible sheaf \mathcal{A} on X. Then \mathcal{M}' is nef and big by Theorem 4.4, since $p_1 \colon \Gamma_{T'} \to X$ is birational. By Theorem 4.10, there is a birational morphism $\varphi \colon T' \to T$ to a normal projective variety T such that $\Gamma_T \to T$ is equi-dimensional for the graph $\Gamma_T \subset X \times T$ of $X \cdots \to T' \to T$, and $\mathcal{M}' \simeq \varphi^* \mathcal{M}$ for the ample invertible sheaf

$$\mathcal{M} := \mathcal{I}_{\Gamma_T/T}(p_1^*\eta).$$

We shall show that $X \cdots \to T$ and \mathcal{M} are independent for the choice of $X \cdots \to T'$. Let $\mu'': Y \cdots \to T''$ be another birational map such that $\Gamma_{T''} \to T''$ is equi-dimensional for the graph $\Gamma_{T''} \subset X \times T''$ of $\mu'' \circ \pi$. By replacing T'' by the normalization of the graph of the birational map $T' \cdots \to T''$, we may assume that there is a birational morphism $\tau: T'' \to T'$ with $\mu' = \tau \circ \mu''$. Then,

$$\mathcal{M}'' := \mathcal{I}_{\Gamma_{T''}/T''}(p_1^*\eta) \simeq \tau^* \mathcal{M}'$$

by Lemma 4.9. Thus, the composite $\varphi \circ \tau \colon T'' \to T' \to T$ is defined only by the invertible sheaf \mathcal{M}'' . Therefore, T and the birational map $Y \cdots \to T$ are uniquely determined up to isomorphism.

Definition 4.15. The rational map $X \cdots \to T$ in Proposition 4.14 is called the Chow reduction of $X \cdots \to Y$.

4.3. Endomorphisms of complex normal projective varieties. In this section, we assume k to be the complex number field \mathbb{C} . We shall study surjective endomorphisms $f: X \to X$ of a normal projective variety X.

Lemma 4.16. Let $\pi: X \to Y$, $\pi': X' \to Y'$, $\tau: Y' \to Y$, and $\tau': X' \to X$ be surjective morphisms for projective varieties X, X', Y, and Y' such that

- (1) $\pi \circ \tau' = \tau \circ \pi'$,
- (2) Y and Y' are normal,
- (3) π is equi-dimensional of relative dimension d,

(4) for an open dense subset $U' \subset Y'$, the induced morphism $\pi'^{-1}(U') \to X \times_Y U'$ is a finite surjective morphism of degree e.

Then for any $\eta \in G^{d+1}(X)$, one has an isomorphism

$$\mathcal{I}_{X'/Y'}(\tau'^*\eta) \simeq \tau^* \mathcal{I}_{X/Y}(\eta)^{\otimes e}.$$

Proof. Let $f: X' \to X \times_Y Y'$ be the induced morphism, and let $p_1: X \times_Y Y' \to X$ and $p_2: X \times_Y Y' \to Y'$ be the natural projections. Then

$$f_* \operatorname{cl}_{\bullet}(\mathcal{O}_{X'}) - e \operatorname{cl}_{\bullet}(\mathcal{O}_{X \times_Y Y'}) \in \operatorname{Image}(K_{\bullet}(W) \to K_{\bullet}(X \times_Y Y'))$$

for a closed subscheme W with $p_2(W) \cap U = \emptyset$. By the proof of Lemma 3.6 and by Theorem 3.20, we have

$$\mathcal{I}_{X'/Y'}(\tau'^*\eta) \simeq \mathcal{I}_{X \times_Y Y'/Y'}(p_1^*\eta)^{\otimes e} \simeq \tau^* \mathcal{I}_{X/Y}(\eta)^{\otimes e}.$$

Proposition 4.17. Let $f: X \to X$ be a surjective endomorphism of a normal projective variety X. Let $\pi: X \to Y$ be an equi-dimensional surjective morphism of relative dimension d to a normal projective variety Y such that π has connected fibers and that $\pi \circ f = h \circ \pi$ for a surjective endomorphism $h: Y \to Y$. Let \mathcal{A} be a nef and big invertible sheaf on X and let \mathcal{M} be the intersection sheaf $\mathcal{I}_{X/Y}(\mathbf{c}^1(\mathcal{A})^{d+1}) = \mathcal{I}_{X/Y}(\mathcal{A}, \ldots, \mathcal{A})$.

- (1) If $f^*\mathcal{A} \simeq \mathcal{A}^{\otimes q}$ for an integer q, then $h^*\mathcal{M}$ is \mathbb{Q} -linearly equivalent to $\mathcal{M}^{\otimes q}$.
- (2) If $f^*\mathcal{A}$ is numerically equivalent to $\mathcal{A}^{\otimes q}$ for an integer q, then $h^*\mathcal{M}$ is numerically equivalent to $\mathcal{M}^{\otimes q}$.

Proof. Note that f and h are finite morphisms. In fact, f^* induces an automorphism of $NS(X) \otimes \mathbb{Q}$ for the Néron–Severi group NS(X); thus an ample divisor of X is \mathbb{Q} -linearly equivalent to f^* of a Cartier divisor. The induced morphism $(f,\pi): X \to X \times_{Y,h} Y$ is a finite surjective morphism, since π has connected fibers. Thus, deg $f = e \deg h$ for the mapping degree e of (f,π) . Therefore, we can apply Lemma 4.16, and obtain an isomorphism

(IV-2)
$$\mathcal{I}_{X/Y}(f^*\eta) \simeq h^* \mathcal{I}_{X/Y}(\eta)^{\otimes e}$$

for any $\eta \in G^{d+1}(X)$. Let us consider the case where $\eta = c^1(\mathcal{A})^{d+1}$. Then $\mathcal{M} = \mathcal{I}_{X/Y}(\eta)$ is nef and big by Theorem 4.4. In both cases (1) and (2), $f^*\mathcal{A}$ is numerically equivalent to $\mathcal{A}^{\otimes q}$. Thus, $\mathcal{I}_{X/Y}(f^*\eta)$ is numerically equivalent to $\mathcal{M}^{\otimes q^{d+1}}$ by Theorem 4.4, and deg $f = q^{d+m}$ for $m = \dim Y$. Hence, $\mathcal{M}^{\otimes q^{d+1}}$ is numerically equivalent to $h^*\mathcal{M}^{\otimes e}$ by (IV-2), which implies that deg $h = q_1^m$ for $q_1 = q^{d+1}e^{-1}$. Furthermore, $e = q^d$ and deg $h = q^m$ by deg $f = e \deg h$. In particular, $h^*\mathcal{M}$ is numerically equivalent to $\mathcal{M}^{\otimes q}$. In case (1), from (IV-2), we have

$$(h^*\mathcal{M}\otimes\mathcal{M}^{\otimes(-q)})^{\otimes e}\simeq\mathcal{O}_Y.$$

Theorem 4.18. Let X be a complex projective variety. Then there exists a rational map $\pi: X \cdots \to Y$ into a normal projective variety Y such that

- (1) Y is not uniruled,
- (2) The second projection $p_2: \Gamma_Y \to Y$ for the graph $\Gamma_Y \subset X \times Y$ of π is equidimensional,
- (3) a general fiber of $\Gamma_Y \to Y$ is rationally connected,
- (4) π is a Chow reduction.

Moreover, $\pi: X \cdots \to Y$ is uniquely determined up to isomorphism.

We call the rational map $\pi: X \dots \to Y$ the special MRC fibration.

Proof. Let $M \to X$ be a resolution of singularities. Then we have a rational map $f: M \dots \to S$ called a maximal rationally connected fibration (MRC fibration, for short) satisfying the following conditions (cf. [3], [16], [10]):

- S is a non-singular non-uniruled variety
- f is holomorphic along $f^{-1}(U)$ for an open dense subset $U \subset S$,
- a general fiber of f is a maximal rationally connected submanifold of M.

Moreover, the maximal rationally connected fibration is unique up to birational equivalence, i.e., if $\mu: M' \dots \to M$ is a birational map from a non-singular projective variety M'and $f': M' \dots \to S'$ is a maximal rationally connected fibration of M', then $f \circ \mu = \nu \circ f'$ for a birational map $\nu: S' \dots \to S$. Let $\pi: X \dots \to Y$ be the Chow reduction of the rational map $X \dots \to M \dots \to S$. Then π is uniquely determined up to isomorphism and satisfies the required conditions.

Theorem 4.19. Let $f: X \to X$ be a surjective endomorphism of a normal complex projective variety X. Let $\pi: X \dots \to Y$ be the special MRC fibration. Then there is an endomorphism $h: Y \to Y$ such that $\pi \circ f = h \circ \pi$.

Proof. Let $X \cdots \to Y_1 \to Y$ be the Stein factorization of the composite $\pi \circ f : X \cdots \to Y$; we set $\pi_1 : X \cdots \to Y_1$ and $\tau : Y_1 \to Y$. Then a general fiber of π_1 is rationally connected, and the graph $\Gamma_{Y_1} \subset X \times Y_1$ induces an equi-dimensional morphism $p_2 : \Gamma_{Y_1} \to Y_1$. Thus, there is a birational morphism $\varphi : Y_1 \to Y$ such that $\pi = \varphi \circ \pi_1$ by Proposition 4.14 and by Theorem 4.18. Let $\eta = \mathbf{c}^1(\mathcal{A})^{d+1} \in G^{d+1}(X)$ for an ample invertible sheaf \mathcal{A} of X and for $d = \dim X/Y$. Since $\Gamma_{Y_1} \to \Gamma_Y \times_Y Y_1$ is a finite surjective morphism over an open dense subset of Y_1 , by applying Lemma 4.16, we have

$$\mathcal{I}_{\Gamma_{Y_1}/Y_1}(p_1^*\eta) \simeq \tau^* \mathcal{I}_{\Gamma_Y/Y}(p_1^*\eta)^{\otimes b}$$

49

for some b > 0, where p_1 denotes the first projection $\Gamma_{Y_1} \to X$ or $\Gamma_Y \to X$. On the other hand, by a property of the Chow reduction (cf. Theorem 4.10), we have

$$\mathcal{I}_{\Gamma_{Y_1}/Y_1}(p_1^*\eta) \simeq \varphi^* \mathcal{I}_{\Gamma_Y/Y}(p_1^*\eta).$$

Hence, φ is a finite morphism, since $\mathcal{I}_{\Gamma_Y/Y}(p_1^*\eta)$ is ample on Y and τ is finite. Therefore, $\varphi: Y_1 \simeq Y$, and the endomorphism $h = \tau \circ \varphi^{-1}: Y \to Y$ satisfies $\pi \circ f = h \circ \pi$. \Box

Remark. In Theorem 4.19, if f is étale, then h is induced from the push-forward morphism $\operatorname{Chow}(X) \to \operatorname{Chow}(X)$ given by $Z \mapsto f_*Z$. However, if f is not étale, h is not necessarily induced from the push-forward morphism.

Corollary 4.20. Let X be a normal complex projective variety admitting a surjective endomorphism $f: X \to X$ such that $f^*\mathcal{H} \simeq \mathcal{H}^{\otimes q}$ for a nef and big invertible sheaf \mathcal{H} and a positive integer q. Let $\pi: X \cdots \to Y$ be the special MRC fibration. Then there exist an endomorphism $h: Y \to Y$ and a nef and big invertible sheaf \mathcal{M} on Y such that $\pi \circ f = h \circ \pi$ and $h^*\mathcal{M} \simeq \mathcal{M}^{\otimes q}$. Here, if \mathcal{H} is ample, then one can take \mathcal{M} to be ample.

Proof. We have h by Theorem 4.19. The intersection sheaf $\mathcal{M}' = \mathcal{I}_{\Gamma_Y/Y}(p_1^* \mathbf{c}^1(\mathcal{H})^{d+1})$ is nef and big by Theorem 4.4. If \mathcal{H} is ample, then so is \mathcal{M}' , since π is a Chow reduction (cf. Theorem 4.10). Then a suitable power \mathcal{M} of \mathcal{M}' satisfies the required condition by Proposition 4.17.

Remark. An assertion similar to Corollary 4.20 is proved in [25], Proposition 2.2.4. However, the proof there is sketchy. For example, it uses the intersection sheaves, which are defined only for flat morphisms in [25], but there are no explanation how to reduce to flat morphisms.

References

- [1] D. Barlet and M. Kaddar, Incidence divisor, Intern. J. Math. 14 (2003), 339–359.
- [2] A. Borel and J.-P. Serre, Le théorème de Riemann-Roch, Bull. Soc. Math. France 86 (1958), 97–136.
- [3] F. Campana, Connexité rationnelle des variétés de Fano, Ann. Sci. École Norm. Sup. (4) 25 (1992), 539–545.
- [4] P. Deligne, Le déterminant de la cohomologie, Current trends in arithmetical algebraic geometry (Arcata, Calif., 1985), pp. 93–177, Contemp. Math., 67, Amer. Math. Soc. 1987.
- [5] F. Ducrot, Cube structured and intersection bundles, J. Pure and Appl. Algebra 195 (2005), 33-73.
- [6] R. Elkik, Fibrés d'intersections et intégrales de classes de Chern, Ann. Sci. Éc. Norm. Supér. 22 (1989), 195–226.
- [7] J. Fogarty, Truncated Hilbert functors, J. Reine und Angew. Math. 234 (1969), 65–88.
- [8] J. Franke, Chow categories, Algebraic Geometry, Berlin 1988, Compo. Math. 76 (1990), 101–162.
- [9] W. Fulton and R. Lazarsfeld, Positive polynomials for ample vector bundles, Ann. Math. 118 (1983), 35–60.

- [10] T. Graber, J. Harris and J. Starr, Families of rationally connected varieties, J. Amer. Math. Soc. 16 (2003), 57–67.
- [11] A. Grothendieck, La théorie des classes de Chern, Bull. Soc. Math. France 86 (1958), 137–154.
- [12] A. Grothendieck, Élements de géométrie algébrique: II. Étude globale élémentaire de quelques classes de morphismes, Publ. Math. I.H.É.S. 8 (1961), 5–222.
- [13] A. Grothendieck et al., Théorie des Intersections et Théorème de Riemann-Roch Séminaire de Géométrie Algébrique du Bois Marie 1966/66 (SGA 6), Dirigé par P. Berthelot, A. Grothendieck et L. Illusie, Avec la collaboration de D. Ferrand, J. P. Jouanolou, O. Jussilia, S. Kleiman, M. Raynaud et J. P. Serre, Lecture Notes in Math., 225, Springer 1971.
- [14] G. Kempf and D. Laksov, The determinantal formula of Schubert calculus, Acta. Math. 132 (1974), 153–162.
- [15] F. Knudsen and D. Mumford, The projectivity of the moduli space of stable curves (I): preliminary on "det" and "Div", Math. Scand. **39** (1976), 19–55.
- [16] J. Kollár, Y. Miyaoka and S. Mori, Rational connected varieties, J. Alg. Geom. 1 (1992), 429-448.
- [17] D. Mumford, J. Fogarty and F. Kirwan, *Geometric Invariant Theory*, Third ed. Ergeb. Math. Grenzgeb. (2) 34, Springer 1994.
- [18] E. Muñoz Garcia, Fibrés d'intersection, Compo. Math. 124 (2000), 219–252.
- [19] N. Nakayama and D.-Q. Zhang, Polarized endomorphisms of complex normal varieties, preprint 2007.
- [20] M. Raynaud, Flat modules in algebraic geometry, Compo. Math. 24 (1972), 11–31.
- [21] M. Raynaud and L. Gruson, Critrès de platitude et de projectivité, Techniques de « platification » d'un module, Invent. Math. 13 (1971), 1–89.
- [22] J. Varouchas, Stabilité de la classe des vartiétés Kählériennes par certains morphismes propres, Invent. Math. 77 (1984), 117–127.
- [23] E. Viehweg, Weak positivity and the additivity of the Kodaira dimension for certain fiber spaces, Algebraic Varieties and Analytic Varieties (S. Iitaka ed.), pp. 329–353, Adv. Stud. in Pure Math.,
 1, Kinokuniya and North-Holland 1983.
- [24] S.-W. Zhang, Heights and reductions of semi-stable varieties, Compo. Math. 104 (2006), 77–105.
- [25] S.-W. Zhang, Distributions in algebraic dynamics, Surveys in Differential Geometry X, A Tribute to Professor S.-S. Chern, pp. 381–430, International Press 2006.

Research Institute for Mathematical Sciences, Kyoto University, Kyoto 606-8502 Japan

E-mail address: nakayama@kurims.kyoto-u.ac.jp